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PART I

 
Forward-Looking Statements
 
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements as that term is defined in the federal securities laws. The events described in forward-looking statements

contained in this Annual Report may not occur. Generally these statements relate to business plans or strategies, projected or anticipated benefits or other consequences of our
plans or strategies, projected or anticipated benefits from acquisitions to be made by us, or projections involving anticipated revenues, earnings or other aspects of our operating
results. The words “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,” “estimate,” and “continue,” and their opposites and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. We caution you that these statements are not guarantees of future performance or events and are subject to a number of
uncertainties, risks and other influences, many of which are beyond our control, that may influence the accuracy of the statements and the projections upon which the
statements are based. Factors which may affect our results include, but are not limited to, the risks and uncertainties discussed in Item 7 of this Annual Report under “Factors
That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition”.

 
Any one or more of these uncertainties, risks and other influences could materially affect our results of operations and whether forward-looking statements made by us

ultimately prove to be accurate. Our actual results, performance and achievements could differ materially from those expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements.
We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether from new information, future events or otherwise.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
 
(a) Business Development

 
As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”), references to the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our” refer to BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and its

subsidiaries.
 
We were incorporated in Nevada on June 13, 1997. On August 15, 2011, we changed our name from “Stem Cell Assurance, Inc.” to “BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.”

Effective January 1, 2015, we reincorporated in Delaware.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we raised an aggregate of $2,718,000 in connection with sales of common stock and warrants and from the exercise of

warrants, and an aggregate of $795,000 in debt financing. As of December 31, 2014, our outstanding debt of $5,851,496, together with interest at rates ranging between 8% and
15% per annum, was due through October 2015. Subsequent to December 31, 2014 and through March 31, 2015, we have received aggregate equity financing and debt
financing of $801,000 and $30,000, respectively, we have received research and development fees of $227,234, and $50,000 and $5,984 of debt and accrued interest,
respectively, has been converted into common stock. Giving effect to the above actions, we currently have notes payable aggregating $5,000 which are either past due or
payable on demand. We are currently in the process of negotiating extensions or discussing conversions to equity with respect to our outstanding indebtedness.

 
In March 2014, we entered into a Research and Development Agreement with Rohto Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a Japanese pharmaceutical company (the “Rohto

Agreement”). Pursuant to the Rohto Agreement, we have been engaged to provide research and development services with regard to stem cells. The Rohto Agreement provided
for an initial payment to us of $150,000 (which we received in March 2014) and provides for the payment of up to an additional $100,000 subject to the satisfaction of certain
milestones, of which $50,000 has been received through March 31, 2015. The term of the Rohto Agreement ends on June 19, 2015.
 

In March 2014, we entered into a Research Agreement with Pfizer, Inc. (the “Pfizer Agreement”). Pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement, we have been engaged to provide
research and development services with regard to brown fat. The Pfizer Agreement provides for an initial payment to us of $250,000 (which we received) and the payment of
up to an additional $525,000 during the two year term of the Pfizer Agreement, of which $355,359 has been received.
 

In May 2014, Stem Cell Cayman Ltd, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, borrowed $500,000 from Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd. (“Westbury”), one of our principal
shareholders. The promissory note evidencing the loan (the “Note”) provides for the payment of the principal amount, together with interest at the rate of 15% per annum, on
May 7, 2015. The Note also provides for the mandatory prepayment of the principal amount to the extent of any monies received by us pursuant to the Rohto Agreement and/or
the Pfizer Agreement. Pursuant to such provision, as of March 31, 2015, $89,063 in principal has been prepaid and $316,297 of mandatory prepayments were unpaid. Interest
on the entire principal amount of the Note is payable until such time as the principal amount is paid in full.
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In August 2014, we entered into a lease for 6,800 square feet of space located at 40 Marcus Drive, Melville, Long Island, New York. We have relocated our corporate

and laboratory operations from Jupiter, Florida to such location. The lease provides for a five year, three month term from the commencement date (as defined in the lease)
(subject to extension at our option for a period of five years) and an annual base rental during the initial term ranging between $132,600 and $149,260. Our Jupiter, Florida
lease expired in December 2014.

 
In December 2014, we met with representatives of the Food and Drug Administration’s Center for Biologics, Evaluation and Research’s Office of Cellular, Tissue and

Gene Therapies to discuss our plans for an Investigational New Drug submission and clinical trial with respect to our brtxDISC™ product. See “Business – General.”
 

In February 2015, we hired Edward L. Field to serve as President of our Disc/Spine Division.
 

In March 2015, we and Mark Weinreb, our Chief Executive Officer, agreed to extend the term of his employment agreement to December 31, 2017. See Item 11
(“Executive Compensation – Employment Agreements”).

 
(b) Business
 
General
 

We develop products and medical therapies using cell and tissue protocols, primarily involving adult (non-embryonic) stem cells, including pursuant to the following
programs:
 

· Disc/Spine Program. Our lead cell therapy candidate, brtxDISC™ (Disc Implanted Stem Cells), is a product formulated from autologous (or person’s own) cultured
mesenchymal stem cells (“MSCs”) collected from the patient’s bone marrow. We intend that the product will be used for the non-surgical treatment of protruding and
bulging lumbar discs in patients suffering from chronic lumbar disc disease. The treatment involves collecting a patient’s own stem cells, culturing and cryopreserving
the cells, and then having a physician inject brtxDISC™ into the patient’s damaged disc in an outpatient procedure. The treatment is intended for patients whose pain
has not been alleviated by non-invasive procedures and potentially face the prospect of surgery. We intend to commence clinical trials using brtxDISC™ and its related
collection and delivery procedure by early 2016. See “Disc/Spine Program” below.
 

· ThermoStem® Program We are developing an allogeneic cell-based therapy to target obesity and metabolic disorders using brown adipose (fat) derived stem cells to
generate brown adipose tissue (“BAT”). BAT is intended to mimic naturally occurring brown adipose depots that regulate metabolic homeostasis in humans. Initial
preclinical research indicates that increased amounts of brown fat in the body may be responsible for additional caloric burning as well as reduced glucose and lipid
levels. Researchers have found that people with higher levels of brown fat may have a reduced risk for obesity and diabetes. See “Brown Adipose (Fat) Program”
below.
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We have also licensed and developed other products that are in various stages of research and commercialization, including a curved needle device designed to deliver

cells and/or other therapeutic products or material to the spine and discs. See “Curved Needle Device” below.
 
In addition, we have developed a human cellular extract that has been demonstrated in in vitro  skin studies to increase the production of collagen and fibronectin,

which are proteins that are essential to combating the aging of skin.  We also offer plant stem cell-based facial creams and beauty products under the Stem Pearls® brand. See
“Cosmetic Products” below.
 
Overview
 

Every human being has stem cells in his or her body. These cells exist from the early stages of human development until the end of a person’s life. Throughout our
lives, our body continues to produce stem cells that regenerate to produce differentiated cells that make up various aspects of the body such as skin, blood, muscle and nerves.
These are generally referred to as adult (non-embryonic) stem cells. These cells are important for the purpose of medical therapies aiming to replace lost or damaged cells or
tissues or to otherwise treat disorders.

 
Regenerative cell therapy relies on replacing diseased, damaged or dysfunctional cells with healthy, functioning ones or repairing damaged or diseased tissue. A great

range of cells can serve in cell therapy, including cells found in peripheral and umbilical cord blood, bone marrow and adipose (fat) tissue. Physicians have been using adult
stem cells from bone marrow to treat various blood cancers for almost 60 years (the first successful bone marrow transplant was performed in 1956). Recently, physicians have
begun to use stem cells to treat various other diseases. We intend to develop cell and tissue products and regenerative therapy protocols, primarily involving adult stem cells, to
allow patients to undergo cellular-based treatments.
 

We intend to concentrate initially on therapeutic areas in which risk to the patient is low, recovery is relatively easy, results can be demonstrated through sufficient
clinical data, and patients and physicians will be comfortable with the procedure. We believe that there will be readily identifiable groups of patients who will benefit from
these procedures.

 
Accordingly, we plan to focus our initial efforts in offering cellular-based products and treatment programs in selective areas of medicine for which the treatment

protocol is minimally invasive. Such areas include the treatment of the disc and spine and metabolic-related disorders. We will seek to obtain third party reimbursement for our
products and procedures; however; patients may be required to pay for our products and procedures out of pocket in full and without the ability to be reimbursed by any
governmental and other third party payers.

 
We have obtained patent pending licenses and have undertaken research and development efforts in connection with the development of products and medical

therapies using cell and tissue protocols, primarily involving adult stem cells. See “Disc/Spine Program”, “Brown Adipose (Fat) Program” and “Curved Needle Device” below.
 
We also offer human and plant stem cell derived cosmetic and skin care products. See “Cosmetic Products” below.
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We have established a laboratory facility and will seek to further develop cellular-based treatments, products and protocols, stem cell-related intellectual property

(“IP”) and translational research applications. See “Laboratory” below.
 
We have not generated any significant revenues from our operations. The implementation of our business plan, as discussed below, will require the receipt of sufficient

equity and/or debt financing to purchase necessary equipment, technology and materials, fund our research and development efforts, retire our outstanding debt (see Item 7 –
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources – Availability of Additional Funds”) and otherwise
fund our operations. We intend to seek such financing from current shareholders and debtholders as well as from other accredited investors. We also intend to seek to raise
capital through investment bankers and from biotech funds, strategic partners and other financial institutions. We anticipate that we will require an aggregate of between
approximately $25,000,000 and $50,000,000 in funding to implement our business plan with regard to our Disc/Spine Program, as further discussed in this Item 1 (assuming
the receipt of no revenues from operations) and repay our outstanding debt ($5,851,496 as of December 31, 2014) (assuming that no debt is converted into equity). We will also
require a substantial amount of additional funding to implement our other programs discussed in this Item 1. No assurance can be given that the anticipated amounts of required
funding are correct or that we will be able to accomplish our goals within the timeframes projected. In addition, no assurance can be given that we will be able to obtain any
required financing on commercially reasonable terms or otherwise. We may also seek to have our debtholders convert all or a portion of their debt into equity. No assurance can
be given that we will be able to convert such debt into equity on commercially reasonable terms or otherwise. If we are unable to obtain adequate funding, we may be required
to significantly curtail or discontinue our proposed operations. See Item 7 (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Factors
That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition - We will need to obtain additional financing to satisfy debt obligations and continue our operations.”).
 
Disc/Spine Program

 
General

 
Among the initiatives that we are currently pursuing is our Disc/Spine Program, with our initial product being called brtxDISC™. We have obtained a license (see

“License” below) that permits us to use technology for adult stem cell treatment of disc and spine conditions, including protruding and bulging discs. The technology is an
advanced stem cell culture and injection procedure into the intervertebral disc (“IVD”) that may offer relief from lower back pain, buttock and leg pain, and numbness and
tingling in the legs and feet.
 

Lower back pain is the most common, most disabling, and most costly musculoskeletal ailment faced worldwide. It is estimated that 84% of the global populace will
have an occurrence of lower back pain during their lifetime and that 11% will have chronic lower back pain. Annual direct healthcare costs relating to lower back pain in the
United States are estimated to be in excess of $90 billion. Clinical studies have documented that the source of the pain is most frequently damage to the IVD. This can occur
when forces, whether a single load or repetitive microtrauma, exceed the IVD’s inherent capacity to resist those loads. Aging, obesity, smoking, lifestyle, and certain genetic
factors may predispose one to an IVD injury.
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While once thought to be benign, the natural history of lower back pain is often one of chronic recurrent episodes of pain leading to progressive disability. This is

believed to be a direct result of the IVD’s poor healing capacity after injury. The IVD is the largest avascular (having few or no blood vessels) structure in the body and is
relatively acellular (containing no cells). Therefore, its inherent capacity to heal after injury is poor. The clinical rationale of brtxDISCÔ  is to deliver a high concentration of the
patient’s own MSCs into the site of pathology to promote healing and relieve pain.
 

We are concentrating on the development of a mesenchymal stem cell product derived from autologous (or a person’s own) human bone marrow, cultured and
formulated to be delivered into a protruding or bulging disc. We intend to commence clinical trials using brtxDISC™ and its related collection and delivery procedure by early
2016.

 
In addition to developing brtxDISC™, we may also seek to sublicense the technology to third parties for use in connection with cellular-based treatment programs with

regard to disc and spine related conditions.
 
We have established a laboratory to perform cellular characterization and culturing for the production of cell products for use in our clinical trials. This capability may

also enable us to develop our pipeline of future products and expand our stem cell-related IP. See “Laboratory” and “Technology; Research and Development” below.
 
brtxDISC™
 
Our lead therapeutic product, brtxDISC™, is an autologous hypoxic (low oxygen) cultured mesenchymal stem cell product derived from an adult patient’s bone

marrow and formulated with a proprietary carrier. The cryopreserved sterile cellular product will be provided to the clinician in vials for injection into damaged lumbar discs.
The therapeutic application of brtxDISC™, in treatment of chronic lumbar disc disease, is performed using a standard 20 gauge 3.5 inch introducer needle and a 25 gauge 6
inch needle that extends into the disc region where the product is delivered. Specific medical practitioners will be provided training using the product with regard to the
injection procedure. It is anticipated that the treatment and delivery of the product will be a 30 minute outpatient procedure.

 
MSCs used in brtxDISC™ are similar to other MSCs under development by others; however, in order to enhance the survivability of our bone marrow-derived MSCs

in the avascular environment of the damaged disc, brtxDISC™ is expanded under hypoxic conditions for a period of three weeks. This process results in a cell population with
enhanced viability and therapeutic potential following injection locally into injured spinal discs. A study has demonstrated that MSCs preconditioned in hypoxic environment
show enhanced skeletal muscle regeneration, improved blood flow and vascular formation compared to MSCs cultured under normoxic (normal oxygen) conditions.
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Production and Delivery

 
The production of brtxDISC™ begins with the physician collecting bone marrow from the patient under a local anesthesia. Peripheral blood is also collected from the

patient. The physician will then send the patient’s bone marrow and blood samples to our laboratory for culturing and proprietary carrier preparation. The hypoxic culturing
process applied is intended to result in the selection of a cell population that is suitable for an improved possibility of survival in the internal disc environment. The cell
culturing process and product formulation will take approximately three weeks. We will then send the therapeutic cryopreserved stem cells (brtxDISC™) in a sterile vial back to
the physician’s offices where it will be thawed prior to the procedure. The following chart illustrates the process.
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License

 
Pursuant to a license agreement between Regenerative Sciences, LLC (“Regenerative”) and us that became effective in April 2012, we have obtained, among other

things, a worldwide (excluding Asia and Argentina), exclusive, royalty-bearing license from Regenerative to utilize or sublicense a certain method for culturing cells for use in
treating, among other things, disc and spine conditions, including protruding and bulging discs. The technology that has been licensed is an advanced stem cell culture and
injection procedure that may offer relief from lower back pain, buttock and leg pain, and numbness and tingling in the legs and feet. Pursuant to the license agreement, we have
also obtained a worldwide, exclusive, royalty-bearing license from Regenerative to utilize or sublicense a certain medical device for the administration of specific cells and/or
cell products to the disc and/or spine (and other parts of the body). We intend to advance the design of this curved needle device to facilitate the delivery of substances,
including living cells, to specific locations within the body and minimize the potential for damage to nearby structures.
 

The license agreement provides for the requirement that we achieve certain milestones or pay certain minimum royalty amounts in order to maintain the exclusive
nature of the licenses. The license agreement also provides for a royalty-bearing sublicense of certain of the technology to Regenerative for use for certain purposes, including
in the Cayman Islands. Further, the license agreement requires that Regenerative furnish certain training, assistance and consultation services with regard to the licensed
technology.
 

Clinical Trial
 
In December 2014, we held a pre-investigational new drug (“IND”) meeting with the Food and Drug Administration’s (“FDA”) Office of Cellular Tissue and Gene

Therapies within the FDA’s Center for Biologics, Evaluation and Research. At the meeting, representatives of the FDA commented on our plans for an IND submission and a
clinical trial with regard to brtxDISC™. No obstacles were identified at the meeting by the FDA representatives that we believe would materially impact the IND plans for a
clinical trial with regard to brtxDISC™ in patients with chronic lumbar disc disease. We intend to file an IND application with the FDA with respect to our proposed treatment
protocol and initiate a clinical trial. We anticipate that we will begin a Phase I clinical trial by early 2016. The principal investigator for our clinical trial is intended to be Dr.
Gregory E. Lutz, our Chief Medical Advisor for Spine Medicine. See Item 10 (“Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance-Scientific Advisors”).

 
The FDA approval process can be lengthy, expensive and uncertain and there is no guarantee that the clinical trial(s) will be commenced or completed or that the

product will ultimately receive approval or clearance. See “Government Regulation” below and Item 7 (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations – Factors That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition – Risks Related to Our Cell Therapy Product Development Efforts; and – Risks
Related to Government Regulation”).
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Brown Adipose (Fat) Program
 

We are engaging in research efforts with respect to a platform technology utilizing brown adipose (fat) for therapeutic purposes. We have labeled this initiative our
ThermoStem® Program. Recent studies have demonstrated that brown fat is present in the adult human body and may be correlated with the maintenance and regulation of
healthy metabolism, thus potentially being involved in caloric regulation. This pre-clinical program involves the use of a cell-based (brown adipose tissue) treatment for
metabolic disease, such as type 2 diabetes, obesity, hypertension and other metabolic disorders and cardiac deficiencies. Although we have had initial success in transplanting
the tissue in animals, we are currently exploring ways to deliver the brown fat tissue into humans. We may also identify other naturally occurring and chemically engineered
molecules that may enhance brown adipose tissue performance.

 
Brown fat is a specialized adipose (fat) tissue found in the human body that plays a key role in the evolutionarily conserved mechanisms underlying thermogenesis

(generation of non-shivering body heat) and energy homeostasis in mammals - long known to be present at high levels in hibernating mammals and human newborns. Recent
studies have demonstrated that brown fat is present in the adult human body and may be correlated with the maintenance and regulation of healthy metabolism, thus potentially
being involved in caloric regulation.

 
Obesity, the abnormal accumulation of white fat tissue, leads to a number of metabolic disorders and is the driving force behind the rise of type 2 diabetes and

cardiovascular diseases worldwide. Pharmacological efforts to alter metabolic homeostasis through modulating central control of appetite and satiety have had limited market
penetration due to significant psychological and physiological safety concerns directly attributed to modulating these brain centers. Adipose tissue is one of the largest organs in
the human body and plays a key role in central energy balance and lipid homeostasis. Two types of adipose tissues are found in mammals, white and brown adipose tissues.
White adipose tissue function is to store energy, whereas brown adipose tissue (“BAT”) specializes in energy expenditure. Recent advancements in unraveling the mechanisms
that control the induction, differentiation, proliferation, and thermogenic activity of BAT, along with the application of imaging technologies for human BAT visualization, have
generated optimism that these advances may provide novel strategies for targeting BAT activation/thermogenesis, leading to efficacious and safe obesity targeted therapies. It is
estimated that by 2030 one billion persons worldwide will suffer from obesity and twice that number will be overweight.

 
In June 2011, we launched the initial research phase of what we believe will develop into a platform technology that involves the use of brown fat in a cell-based

therapeutic program referred to as the ThermoStem® Program. The ThermoStem® Program will focus on treatments for metabolic disorders such as type 2 diabetes, obesity,
hypertension, and cardiac deficiencies, and will involve the study of brown adipose derived stem cells (“BADSC”), brown adipose tissue, a therapeutic delivery system, and
potentially molecules that would regulate brown adipose tissue function.

 
We are developing an allogeneic cell-based therapy to target obesity and metabolic disorders using BADSC. Our goal is to develop implantable brown adipose tissue

intended to mimic ones naturally occurring in the human body. We have isolated and characterized a human multipotent stem cell population that resides within BAT depots.
We have expanded these stem cells to clinically relevant numbers and successfully differentiated them into functional brown adipocytes. We intend to use adult stem cells that
may be differentiated into progenitor or fully differentiated brown adipocytes, or a related cell type, which can be used therapeutically in patients. We are focusing on the
development of treatment protocols that utilize allogeneic cells (i.e., stem cells from a genetically similar but not identical donor).
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In order to deliver these differentiated cells into target locations in vivo, we seeded BADSC onto 3-dimensional biological scaffolds. Pre-clinical animal models, with

diet-induced obesity that were transplanted with differentiated BADSC, supported by a biological scaffold, presented significant reductions in weight and blood glucose levels
compared to saline injected controls. Our allogeneic brown adipose derived stem cell platform potentially provides a therapeutic and commercial model for the cell-based
treatment of obesity and related metabolic disorders.
 

Our ThermoStem® Program is in the pre-clinical research stage. We have developed our first generation of brown adipose tissue construct and we are currently in
development of the next generation of BAT. We are exploring potential delivery systems for the therapy.

 
In June 2012, we entered into an Assignment Agreement with the University of Utah Research Foundation (the “Foundation”) and a Research Agreement with the

University of Utah (the “University”) (the “Utah Research Agreement”). Pursuant to the Assignment Agreement, we acquired the rights to two patent applications that relate to
human brown fat cell lines. In consideration for the assignment, we paid the Foundation $15,000 and agreed to pay a royalty on the Patent Revenue (as defined in the
Assignment Agreement). Pursuant to the Utah Research Agreement, the University has agreed to provide research services relating to the identification of brown fat tissue and
the development and characterization of brown fat cell lines. Pursuant to the Utah Research Agreement, all inventions, discoveries, patent rights, information, data, methods and
techniques, including all cell lines, cell culture media and derivatives thereof, shall be owned by us and we initially agreed to pay the University a fee at the rate of $500,000
per annum and a royalty on Net Sales (as defined in the Utah Research Agreement). In May 2014, we entered into an amendment to the Utah Research Agreement. Pursuant to
the amendment, the parties agreed that (i) no fees were payable by us to the University for the five month period ending May 15, 2014, (ii) effective with the payment due on
June 15, 2014, the monthly fee payable by us to the University was reduced from $41,667 to $20,000 and (iii) the scope of the work to be performed by the University was
reduced. The Utah Research Agreement is scheduled to expire on June 14, 2015.

 
In March 2014, we entered into a Research Agreement with Pfizer Inc. (the “Pfizer Research Agreement”), a global pharmaceutical company. Pursuant to the Pfizer

Research Agreement, we have been engaged to provide research and development services with regard to brown fat. The Pfizer Research Agreement provides for an initial
payment to us of $250,000 and the payment of up to an additional $525,000 during the two-year term of the Agreement.

 
Following our research activities, we intend to undertake preclinical studies in order to determine whether our proposed treatment protocol is safe. Such studies are

expected to begin by the third quarter of 2015. Following the completion of such studies, if required, we intend to file an IND application with the FDA and initiate Phase I
clinical trials, expected to commence in 2017. See “Government Regulation” below and Item 7 (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations – Factors That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition – Risks Related to Our Cell Therapy Product Development Efforts; and – Risks Related to
Government Regulation”). The FDA approval process can be lengthy, expensive and uncertain and there is no guarantee of ultimate approval or clearance.
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We anticipate that much of our development work in this area will take place at our new laboratory facility, the University’s research laboratory (until the expiration

date or any extension), other outside core facilities at academic, research or medical institutions, or other contractors. See “Laboratory” below.
 
Curved Needle Device
 

Pursuant to the Regenerative license agreement discussed under “Disc/Spine Program License” above, we have licensed and further developed a curved needle device
(“CND”) that is a needle system with a curved inner cannula to allow access to difficult-to-locate regions for the delivery or removal of fluids and other substances. The CND is
intended to deliver stem cells and/or other therapeutic products or material to the interior of a human intervertebral disc, the spine region, or potentially other areas of the body.
The device relies on the use of pre-curved nested cannulae that allow the cells or material to be deposited in the posterior and lateral aspects of the disc to which direct access is
not possible due to outlying structures such as vertebra, spinal cord and spinal nerves. We anticipate that the use of the CND will facilitate the delivery of substances, including
living cells, to specific locations within the body and minimize the potential for damage to nearby structures. The device may also have more general use applications. We
anticipate that FDA approval or clearance will be necessary for the CND prior to commercialization. See “Government Regulation” below and Item 7 (“Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Factors That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition – Risks Related to Our Cell
Therapy Product Development Efforts; and – Risks Related to Government Regulation”). The FDA review and approval process can be lengthy, expensive and uncertain and
there is no guarantee of ultimate approval or clearance.
 
Laboratory
 

We have established a new laboratory in Melville, New York to be used for research purposes and the possible development of cellular-based treatment protocols. We
are also currently utilizing existing laboratories at the University of Utah, as discussed above under “Brown Adipose (Fat) Program.”

 
As operations grow, our plans include the expansion of our laboratory to perform cellular characterization and culturing, product, protocol and stem cell-related IP

development, translational research and therapeutic outcome analysis. In addition, we expect to expand our laboratory capabilities to include a cGMP (current good
manufacturing practices) facility providing the regulatory standard to culture cells and prepare the formulation used in our brtxDISC™ product. As we develop our business and
additional stem cell treatments are approved, we will seek to establish ourselves as a key provider of adult stem cells for therapies and expand to provide cells in other market
areas for stem cell therapy. We may also use outside laboratories specializing in cell therapy services and manufacturing of cell products.
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Technology; Research and Development
 

We intend to utilize our laboratory or a third party laboratory, such as the one we utilize at the University of Utah (see “Brown Adipose (Fat) Program” above), in
connection with cellular research activities. We also intend to seek to obtain cellular-based therapeutic technology licenses and increase our IP portfolio. We intend to seek to
develop potential stem cell delivery systems or devices. The goal of these specialized delivery systems or devices is to deliver cells into specific areas of the body, control the
rate, amount and types of cells used in a treatment, and populate these areas of the body with sufficient stem cells so that there is a successful therapeutic result.
 

We also intend to perform research to develop certain stem cell optimization compounds, media or “recipes” to enhance cellular growth and regeneration for the
purpose of improving pre-treatment and post-treatment outcomes.

 

We have filed six United States patent applications with regard to three patent families.   Patent applications with regard to one such family have been filed in five
foreign jurisdictions. In addition, a PCT application has been filed with regard to a second patent family. Regenerative has filed two patent applications with regard to the
technology that is the subject of the license agreement between us (see “Disc/Spine Program” above).   Our patent applications and those of Regenerative are currently in
prosecution.

 
In March 2014, we entered into a Research and Development Agreement with Rohto Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (the “Rohto Research Agreement”), a Japanese

pharmaceutical company. Pursuant to the Rohto Research Agreement, we have been engaged to provide research and development services with regard to stem cells. The Rohto
Research Agreement provides for an initial payment to us of $150,000 and the payment of up to an additional $100,000 subject to the satisfaction of certain milestones. The
Rohto Research Agreement is scheduled to expire in June 2015.
 

In March 2014, we entered into the Pfizer Research Agreement, as discussed above under “Brown Adipose (Fat) Program”.
 

We have trademark rights with respect to the design mark BioRestorative Therapies® and the names BioRestorative Therapies™, brtxDISC™, ThermoStem®, Stem
Pearls® and Stem The Tides of Time®.

 
Our success will depend in large part on our ability to develop and protect our proprietary technology. We intend to rely on a combination of patent, trade secret and

know-how, copyright and trademark laws, as well as confidentiality agreements, licensing agreements and other agreements, to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Our
success will also depend upon our ability to avoid infringing upon the proprietary rights of others, for if we are judicially determined to have infringed such rights, we may be
required to pay damages, alter our services, products or processes, obtain licenses or cease certain activities.
 

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we incurred $1,430,614 and $1,594,054, respectively, in research and development expenses.
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Cosmetic Products
 

brtx-C Cosmetic Program
 
Pursuant to our brtx-C Cosmetic Program, we have developed a human adult stem cell-derived extract that, when applied to human skin cells, significantly increases

the production of collagen and fibronectin, which are proteins that are essential to combating the aging of skin. We may enter into arrangements with third party cosmetic
companies or business partners with regard to the commercial distribution of anti-aging skin care products that utilize our extract as a potential principal cosmetic ingredient.
No such arrangements are currently in place or under consideration.
 

Stem Pearls®

 
Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Stem Pearls, LLC, offers plant derived stem cell cosmetic products. Stem Pearls, LLC has developed an initial product formulation

derived from the stem cells of a rare-variety 18th century Swiss apple. Stem Pearls® currently offers its products via the Internet (www.stempearls.com and
www.biorestorative.com). Stem Pearls, LLC has not yet commenced widespread marketing efforts or generated any significant revenue.

 

Scientific Advisors
 

We have established a Scientific Advisory Board whose purpose is to provide advice and guidance in connection with scientific matters relating to our business. Our
five Scientific Advisory Board members are Dr. Wayne Marasco, Chairman, Dr. Amit Patel, Dr. Naiyer Imam, and Dr. Wayne Olan and Dr. Joy Cavagnaro. In addition, Dr.
Gregory Lutz has been retained as our Chief Medical Advisor for Spine Medicine. See Item 10 (“Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance – Scientific
Advisors”) for a listing of the principal positions for Drs. Marasco, Patel, Imam, Olan, Cavagnaro and Lutz.

 
Competition
 

We will compete with many pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical device companies, as well as other private and public stem cell companies involved in the
development and commercialization of cell-based medical technologies and therapies.
 

Regenerative medicine is rapidly progressing, in large part through the development of cell-based therapies or devices designed to isolate cells from human tissues.
Most efforts involve cell sources, such as bone marrow, adipose tissue, embryonic and fetal tissue, umbilical cord and peripheral blood and skeletal muscle. 

 
Companies working in the area of regenerative medicine include, among others, Cytori Therapeutics, Osiris, Vericel Corporation, BioTime, Celgene, Harvest

Technologies, Arteriocyte, Celling Biosciences, Mesoblast, NeoStem, Athersys, Tissue Genesis, Ember Therapeutics (recently merged with Mariel Therapeutics) and
Discgenics. Many of our competitors and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, research and development, marketing and personnel
resources than we do.  We cannot, with any accuracy, forecast when or if these companies are likely to bring cell therapies to market for procedures that we are also pursuing. 
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Our cosmetic operations will compete with other companies that offer a plant derived stem cell skin care line or stem-cell derived extracts, as well as generally with

cosmetic companies, many of whom have substantially greater financial, technological, research and development, marketing and personnel resources than we do. 
 
Customers
 

Our cell and tissue therapeutic products are intended to be marketed to physicians, other health care professionals, hospitals, research institutions, pharmaceutical
companies and the military. It is anticipated that physicians who are trained and skilled in performing spinal injections will be the physicians most likely to treat discs with
injections of brtxDISC™. These physicians would include interventional physiatrists (physical medicine physicians), pain management-anesthesiologists, interventional
radiologists and neurosurgeons.
 

Our cosmetic ingredients are available to cosmetic manufacturers and distributors, and our Stem Pearls® cosmetic products are available via the Internet; however, we
have not yet developed marketing plans for either product line.
 
Governmental Regulation
 
U.S. Government Regulation
 

The health care industry is highly regulated in the United States. The federal government, through various departments and agencies, state and local governments, and
private third-party accreditation organizations regulate and monitor the health care industry, associated products, and operations. The following is a general overview of the
laws and regulations pertaining to our business.
 

FDA Regulation of Stem Cell Treatment and Products
 

The FDA regulates the manufacture of human stem cell treatments and associated products under the authority of the Public Health Safety Act (“PHSA”) and the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”). Stem cells can be regulated under FDA’s Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products Regulations
(“HCT/Ps”), or may also be subject to FDA’s drug, biological product, or medical device regulations.

 
Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (“HCT/Ps”) Regulation
 
Under Section 361 of the PHSA, the FDA issued specific regulations governing the use of HCT/Ps in humans. Pursuant to Part 1271 of Title 21 of the Code of Federal

Regulations (“CFR”), the FDA established a unified registration and listing system for establishments that manufacture and process HCT/Ps. The regulations also include
provisions pertaining to donor eligibility determinations; current good tissue practices covering all stages of production, including harvesting, processing, manufacture, storage,
labeling, packaging, and distribution; and other procedures to prevent the introduction, transmission, and spread of communicable diseases.
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The HCT/P regulations strictly constrain the types of products that may be regulated solely under these regulations. Factors considered include the degree of

manipulation, whether the product is intended for a homologous function, whether the product has been combined with noncellular or non-tissue components, and the product’s
effect or dependence on the body’s metabolic function. In those instances where cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products have been only minimally manipulated, are
intended strictly for homologous use, have not been combined with noncellular or nontissue substances, and do not depend on or have any effect on the body’s metabolism, the
manufacturer is only required to register with the FDA, submit a list of manufactured products, and adopt and implement procedures for the control of communicable diseases.
If one or more of the above factors has been exceeded, the product would be regulated as a drug, biological product, or medical device rather than an HCT/P.

 
Because we are a development stage enterprise and have not generated significant revenues from operations, it is difficult to anticipate the likely regulatory status of

the array of products and services that we may offer.     We believe that some of the adult autologous (self-derived) stem cells that will be used in our cellular therapy and
biobanking products and services, including the brown adipose (fat) tissue that we intend to use in our ThermoStem® Program, may be regulated by the FDA as HCT/Ps under
21 C.F.R. Part 1271. This regulation defines HCT/Ps as articles “containing or consisting of human cells or tissues that are intended for implantation, transplantation, infusion
or transfer into a human recipient.” However, the FDA may disagree with this position or conclude that some or all of our stem cell therapy products or services do not meet the
applicable definitions and exemptions to the regulation. If we are not regulated solely under the HCT/P provisions, we would need to expend significant resources to comply
with the FDA’s broad regulatory authority under the FDCA. Recent third party litigation concerning the autologous use of a stem cell mixture to treat musculoskeletal and
spinal injuries has increased the likelihood that some of our products and services are likely to be regulated as a drug or biological product and require FDA approval.  In the
litigation, the FDA asserted that the defendants’ use of cultured stem cells without FDA approval is in violation of the FDCA, claiming that the defendants’ product is a drug. 
The defendants asserted that their procedure is part of the practice of medicine and therefore beyond the FDA’s regulatory authority.  The District Court ruled in favor of FDA,
and in February 2014 the Circuit Court affirmed the District Court’s holding.

 
If regulated solely under the FDA’s HCT/P statutory and regulatory provisions, once our laboratory in the United States becomes operational, it will need to satisfy the

following requirements, among others, to process and store stem cells:
 
· registration and listing of HCT/Ps with the FDA;

 
· donor eligibility determinations, including donor screening and donor testing requirements;
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· current good tissue practices, specifically including requirements for the facilities, environmental controls, equipment, supplies and reagents, recovery of

HCT/Ps from the patient, processing, storage, labeling and document controls, and distribution and shipment of the HCT/Ps to the laboratory, storage, or other
facility;

 
· tracking and traceability of HCT/Ps and equipment, supplies, and reagents used in the manufacture of HCT/Ps;
 
· adverse event reporting;
 
· FDA inspection;
 
· importation of HCT/Ps; and
 
· abiding by any FDA order of retention, recall, destruction, and cessation of manufacturing of HCT/Ps.
 
Non-reproductive HCT/Ps and non-peripheral blood stem/progenitor cells that are offered for import into the United States and regulated solely under Section 361 of

the PHSA must also satisfy the requirements under 21 C.F.R. § 1271.420. Section 1271.420 requires that the importer of record of HCT/Ps offered for import must notify the
appropriate FDA official prior to, or at the time of, importation and provide sufficient information for the FDA to make an admissibility decision. In addition, the importer must
hold the HCT/P intact and under conditions necessary to prevent transmission of communicable disease until an admissibility decision is made by the FDA.

 
If the FDA determines that we have failed to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, it can impose a variety of enforcement actions including public warning

letters, fines, consent decrees, orders of retention, recall or destruction of product, orders to cease manufacturing, and criminal prosecution. If any of these events were to occur,
it could materially adversely affect us.

 
To the extent that our cellular therapy activities are limited to developing products and services outside the United States, as described in detail below, the products and

services would not be subject to FDA regulation, but will be subject to the applicable requirements of the foreign jurisdiction. We intend to comply with all applicable foreign
governmental requirements.

 
Drug and Biological Product Regulation
 
An HCT/P product that does not meet the criteria for being solely regulated under Section 361 of the PHSA will be regulated as a drug, device or biological product

under the FDCA and/or Section 351 of the PHSA, and applicable FDA regulations. The FDA has broad regulatory authority over drugs and biologics marketed for sale in the
United States. The FDA regulates the research, clinical testing, manufacturing, safety, effectiveness, labeling, storage, recordkeeping, promotion, distribution, and production of
drugs and biological products. The FDA also regulates the export of drugs and biological products manufactured in the United States to international markets.
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For products that are regulated as drugs, an investigational new drug application (“IND”) and an approved new drug application (“NDA”) are required before

marketing and sale in the United States pursuant to the requirements of 21 C.F.R. Parts 312 and 314, respectively. An IND application notifies the FDA of prospective clinical
testing and allows the test product to be shipped in interstate commerce. Approval of a NDA requires a showing that the drug is safe and effective for its intended use and that
the methods, facilities, and controls used for the manufacturing, processing, and packaging of the drug are adequate to preserve its identity, strength, quality, and purity. If
regulated as a biologic, the product must be subject to an IND to conduct clinical trials and a manufacturer must obtain an approved Biologics License Application (“BLA”)
before introducing a product into interstate commerce. To obtain a BLA, a manufacturer must show that the proposed product is safe, pure, and potent and that the facility in
which the product is manufactured, processed, packed, or held meets established quality control standards.

 
Drug and biological products must also comply with applicable registration, product listing, and adverse event reporting requirements as well as FDA’s general

prohibition against misbranding and adulteration.   Additionally, the FDA actively enforces regulations prohibiting marketing and promotion of drugs and biologics for
indications or uses that have not been approved by the FDA (i.e., “off label” promotion).

 

We are a development stage enterprise and have not generated significant revenues from operations.   In the event that the FDA does not regulate our services in the
United States solely under the HCT/P regulation, our products and activities could be regulated as drug or biological products under the FDCA. If regulated as drug or
biological products, we will need to expend significant resources to ensure regulatory compliance.  If an IND and NDA or BLA are required for any of our products, there is no
assurance as to whether or when we will receive FDA approval of the product. The process of designing, conducting, compiling and submitting the non-clinical and clinical
studies required for NDA or BLA approval is time-consuming, expensive and unpredictable. The process can take many years, depending on the product and the FDA’s
requirements.

 
If the FDA determines that we have failed to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, it can impose a variety of enforcement actions from public warning

letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties to suspension or delayed issuance of approvals, seizure of our products, total or partial shutdown of our
production, withdrawal of approvals, and criminal prosecutions. If any of these events were to occur, it could materially adversely affect us.

 
Medical Device Regulation

 
The FDA also has broad authority over the regulation of medical devices marketed for sale in the United States. The FDA regulates the research, clinical testing,

manufacturing, safety, labeling, storage, recordkeeping, premarket clearance or approval, promotion, distribution, and production of medical devices. The FDA also regulates
the export of medical devices manufactured in the United States to international markets.
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Under the FDCA, medical devices are classified into one of three classes- Class I, Class II, or Class III, depending upon the degree of risk associated with the medical

device and the extent of control needed to ensure safety and effectiveness. Class I devices are subject to the lowest degree of regulatory scrutiny because they are considered
low risk devices and need only comply with the FDA’s General Controls. The General Controls include compliance with the registration, listing, adverse event reporting
requirements, and applicable portions of the Quality System Regulation as well as the general misbranding and adulteration prohibitions.

 
Class II devices are subject to the General Controls as well as certain Special Controls such as 510(k) premarket notification. Class III devices are subject to the

highest degree of regulatory scrutiny and typically include life supporting and life sustaining devices and implants. They are subject to the General Controls and Special
Controls that include a premarket approval application (“PMA”). “New” devices are automatically regulated as Class III devices unless they are shown to be low risk, in which
case they may be subject to de novo review to be moved to Class I or Class II. Clinical research of an investigational device is regulated under the IDE regulations of 21 C.F.R.
Part 812. Nonsignificant risk devices are subject to abbreviated requirements that do not require a submission to FDA but must have Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval
and comply with other requirements pertaining to informed consent, labeling, recordkeeping, reporting, and monitoring. Significant risk devices require the submission of an
IDE application to FDA and FDA’s approval of the IDE application.

 
The FDA premarket clearance and approval process can be lengthy, expensive and uncertain.     It generally takes three to twelve months from submission to obtain

510(k) premarket clearance, although it may take longer.  Approval of a PMA could take one to four years, or more, from the time the application is submitted and there is no
guarantee of ultimate clearance or approval.  Securing FDA clearances and approvals may require the submission of extensive clinical data and supporting information to the
FDA.   Additionally, the FDA actively enforces regulations prohibiting marketing and promotion of devices for indications or uses that have not been cleared or approved by
the FDA. In addition, modifications or enhancements of products that could affect the safety or effectiveness or effect a major change in the intended use of a device that was
either cleared through the 510(k) process or approved through the PMA process may require further FDA review through new 510(k) or PMA submissions.
 

In the event we develop processes, products or services which qualify as medical devices subject to FDA regulation, we intend to comply with such regulations. If the
FDA determines that our products are regulated as medical devices and we have failed to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, it can impose a variety of
enforcement actions from public warning letters, application integrity proceedings, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties to suspension or delayed issuance of
approvals, seizure of our products, total or partial shutdown of our production, withdrawal of approvals, and criminal prosecutions. If any of these events were to occur, it could
materially adversely affect us.
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Current Good Manufacturing Practices and other FDA Regulations of Cellular Therapy Products

 
Products that fall outside of the HCT/P regulations and are regulated as drugs, biological products, or devices must comply with applicable good manufacturing

practice regulations. The current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMPs”) regulations for drug products are found in 21 C.F.R. Parts 210 and 211; the General Biological
Product Standards for biological products are found in 21 C.F.R. Part 610; and the Quality System Regulation for medical devices are found in 21 C.F.R. Part 820. These
cGMPs and quality standards are designed to ensure the products that are processed at a facility meet the FDA’s applicable requirements for identity, strength, quality, sterility,
purity, and safety.    In the event that our domestic U.S. operations are subject to the FDA’s drug, biological product, or device regulations, we intend to comply with the
applicable cGMPs and quality regulations.

 
If the FDA determines that we have failed to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, it can impose a variety of enforcement actions from public warning

letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties to suspension or delayed issuance of approvals, seizure of our products, total or partial shutdown of our
production, withdrawal of approvals, and criminal prosecutions. If any of these events were to occur, it could materially adversely affect us.

 
Good Laboratory Practices

 
The FDA prescribes good laboratory practices (“GLPs”) for conducting nonclinical laboratory studies that support applications for research or marketing permits for

products regulated by the FDA. These regulations are published in Part 58 of Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations. GLPs are intended to assure the quality and integrity
of the safety data filed in research and marketing permits. GLPs provide requirements for organization, personnel, facilities, equipment, testing facilities operation, test and
control articles, protocol for nonclinical laboratory study, records, reports, and disqualification by the FDA.   To the extent that we are required to, or the above regulation
applies, we intend that our domestic laboratory activities will comply with GLPs.

 
Promotion of Foreign-Based Cellular Therapy Treatment—“Medical Tourism”

 
We may establish, or license technology to third parties in connection with their establishment of, adult stem cell therapy facilities outside the United States.  We also

intend to work with hospitals and physicians to make the stem cell-based therapies available for patients who travel outside the United States for treatment. “Medical tourism”
is defined as the practice of traveling across international borders to obtain health care. We intend to market our treatment services on the Internet and at trade shows to
physicians and other health care professionals, skin care professionals, and beauty product distributors.

 
The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) has the authority to regulate and police advertising of medical treatments, procedures, and regimens in the United States

under the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTCA”). Under Sections 5(a) and 12 of the FTCA (15 U.S.C. §§45(a) and 52), the FTC has regulatory authority to prevent unfair
and deceptive practices and false advertising. Specifically, the FTC requires advertisers and promoters to have a reasonable basis to substantiate and support claims. The FTC
has many enforcement powers, one of which is the power to order disgorgement by promoters deemed in violation of the FTCA of any profits made from the promoted
business and can order injunctions from further violative promotion.  Advertising that we may utilize in connection with our medical tourism operations will be subject to FTC
regulatory authority, and we intend to comply with such regulatory régime. Similar laws and requirements are likely to exist in other countries and we intend to comply with
such requirements.
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Cosmetic and Skin Care Regulation

 
We may seek to continue our development of a human adult stem cell-derived extract for use in anti-aging skin care products and offer skin care cosmetic products

derived from plant stem cells. We have established Stem Pearls, LLC to develop and market plant-derived stem cell cosmetic products in the United States and abroad.
 
Depending upon product claims and formulation, skin care products may be regulated as cosmetics, drugs, devices, or combination cosmetics and drugs. We intend to

only market cosmetic skin care products. The FDA has authority to regulate cosmetics marketed in the United States under the FDCA and the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act
(“FPLA”) and its implementing regulations. The FTC regulates the advertising of cosmetics under the FTCA.

 
The FDCA prohibits the marketing of adulterated and misbranded cosmetics. Cosmetic ingredients must also comply with the FDA’s ingredient, quality and labeling

requirements and the FTC’s requirements pertaining to truthful and non-misleading advertising. Cosmetic products and ingredients, with the exception of color additives, are
not required to have FDA premarket approval. Manufacturers of cosmetics are also not required to register their establishments, file data on ingredients, or report cosmetic-
related injuries to the FDA.

 
Stem Pearls, LLC, our cosmetics subsidiary, will be responsible for substantiating the safety and product claims of the cosmetic products and ingredients before

marketing. Separately, we may enter into arrangements with third party cosmetic companies or business partners with regard to the commercial development and distribution of
anti-aging skin care products that use our human adult stem cell-derived extract as a potential principal cosmetic ingredient.

 
The FDA or FTC may disagree with our characterization of one or more of the skin care products as a cosmetic or the product claims. This could result in a variety of

enforcement actions which could require the reformulation or relabeling of our products, the submission of information in support of the product claims or the safety and
effectiveness of our products, or more punitive action, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. If the FDA determines we have failed to comply with
applicable requirements under the FDCA or FPLA, it can impose a variety of enforcement actions from public warning letters, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties
to seizure of our products, total or partial shutdown of our production, and criminal prosecutions. If any of these events were to occur, it could materially adversely affect us. If
the FTC determines we have failed to substantiate our claims, it can pursue a variety of actions including disgorgement of profits, injunction from further violative conduct, and
consent decrees.
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Some types of skin-care products are regulated as both cosmetics and drugs under the FDCA. Examples of drug-cosmetic combination products are facial moisturizers

that contain sunscreen and skin protectant hand lotions. Products that are both cosmetics and drugs because of ingredients or intended use must satisfy the regulatory
requirements for both cosmetics and drugs. The drug requirements typically include FDA premarket approval under an NDA or an abbreviated new drug application
(“ANDA”), or, for over-the-counter products, implicit approval through conformance with the applicable FDA final regulation (also known as an over-the-counter drug
monograph) that specifies the conditions that must be met for the drug to be generally recognized as safe and effective.  Over-the-counter drug products that do not meet the
applicable FDA regulation require FDA approval under an NDA or ANDA prior to over-the-counter sale.  

 
At present, we do not anticipate any of the products marketed as Stem Pearls® will be regulated as a combination cosmetic and drug or solely as a drug or device.

However, the FDA may disagree with such a determination which could result in a variety of enforcement actions and significant additional expenditure to comply with all
FDA regulations applicable to such products.

 
With regard to the human adult stem cell-derived extract, at present we envision our role as being limited to that of an ingredient supplier and having no role in the

development of the final consumer products.
 

Domestic State and Local Government Regulation
 

Some states and local governments in the United States regulate stem cell collection, processing, and administration facilities and require these facilities to obtain
specific licenses. Florida law requires that clinical laboratories obtain a license, and such laboratories are subject to inspection. Some states, such as New York and Maryland,
require licensure of out-of-state facilities that process cell, tissue and/or blood samples of residents of those states. To the extent we are required to seek other state licensure, we
will obtain the applicable state licensures for our laboratory and treatment centers and comply with the current and any new licensing laws that become applicable in the future.
There may also be applicable state and local requirements that apply to the labeling, operation, sale, and distribution of our skin care products, our stem cell therapy products,
or any related services we may provide. To the extent additional state or local laws apply, we intend to comply with them.

 
Federal Regulation of Clinical Laboratories
 

Congress passed the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (“CLIA”) in 1988, which provided the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”)
authority over all laboratory testing, except research, that are performed on humans in the United States. The Division of Laboratory Services, within the Survey and
Certification Group, under the Center for Medicaid and State Operations (“CMSO”) has the responsibility for implementing the CLIA program.
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The CLIA program is designed to establish quality laboratory testing by ensuring the accuracy, reliability, and timeliness of patient test results. Under CLIA, a

laboratory is a facility that does laboratory testing on specimens derived from humans and used to provide information for the diagnosis, prevention, treatment of disease, or
impairment of, or assessment of health. Laboratories that handle stem cells and other biologic matter are, therefore, included under the CLIA program. Under the CLIA
program, laboratories must be certified by the government, satisfy governmental quality and personnel standards, undergo proficiency testing, be subject to inspections, and pay
fees. The failure to comply with CLIA standards could result in suspension, revocation, or limitation of a laboratory’s CLIA certificate. In addition, fines or criminal penalties
could also be levied. To the extent that our business activities require CLIA certification, we intend to obtain and maintain such certification.

 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act—Protection of Patient Health Information
 

 The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) included the Administrative Simplification provisions that required the Secretary of the
Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) to adopt regulations  for the electronic exchange, privacy, and security of  individually identifiable health information that
HIPAA protects (called "protected health information").  HHS published the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information (the “Privacy Rule”) and the
Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected Health Information (the “Security Rule”) to protect the privacy and security of protected health information. The
Privacy Rule specifies the required, permitted and prohibited uses and disclosures of an individual’s protected health information by health plans, health care clearinghouses,
and any health care provider that  transmits health information in electronic format (collectively called "covered entities").   The Security Rule establishes a national security
standard for safeguarding protected health information that is held or transferred in electronic form (called "electronic protected health information"). The Security Rule
addresses the technical and non-technical safeguards that covered entities must implement to secure individuals’ electronic protected health information.

 
 In addition to covered entities, the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (the "HITECH Act") made certain provisions of the Security

Rule, as well as the additional requirements the HITECH Act imposed that relate to security or privacy and that are imposed on covered entities, directly applicable as a matter
of law to individuals and entities that perform permitted functions on behalf of covered entities when those functions involve the use or disclosure of protected health
information.  These individuals and entities are called "business associates."  Covered entities are required to enter into a contract with business associates, called a "business
associate agreement," that also imposes many of the Privacy Rule requirements on business associates as a matter of contract. 

  
Regulations implementing the majority of the requirements created by the HITECH Act were issued in January 2013 (the “Final Rule”). Among other things, the Final

Rule broadened the definition of “business associate” to include subcontractors. As a result, a subcontractor who performs tasks involving the use or disclosure of protected
health information on behalf of a business associate must likewise comply with the same obligations as the business associate.
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The HITECH Act also established notification requirements in the event that a breach of the protected health information occurs at a covered entity or business

associate. These notification obligations mandate that each affected individual whose protected health information was impermissibly accessed receive written notification
mailed to his residence of record and that the Secretary of HHS and potentially the media also be notified. HHS, through its Office for Civil Rights, investigates breach reports
and determines whether administrative or technical modifications are required and whether civil or criminal sanctions should be imposed. Companies failing to comply with
HIPAA and the implementing regulations may also be subject to civil money penalties or in the case of knowing violations, potential criminal penalties, including monetary
fines, imprisonment, or both. In some cases, the State Attorneys General may seek enforcement and appropriate sanctions in federal court.

 
To the extent that we are a covered entity or a business associate of a covered entity, we must comply with HIPAA and the implementing regulations.  We must also

comply with other additional federal or state privacy laws and regulations that may apply to certain diagnoses, such as HIV/AIDS, to the extent that they apply to us.    
 
Other Applicable U.S. Laws
 

In addition to the above-described regulation by United States federal and state government, the following are other federal and state laws and regulations that could
directly or indirectly affect our ability to operate the business:

 
· state and local licensure, registration, and regulation of the development of pharmaceuticals and biologics;

 
· state and local licensure of medical professionals;
 
· state statutes and regulations related to the corporate practice of medicine;
 
· laws and regulations administered by U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) related to the importation of biological material into the United States;
 
· other laws and regulations administered by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration;
 
· other laws and regulations administered by the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services;
 
· state and local laws and regulations governing human subject research and clinical trials;
 
· the federal physician self-referral prohibition, also known as Stark Law, and any state equivalents to Stark Law;
 
· the federal Anti-Kickback Law and any state equivalent statutes and regulations;
 
· Federal and state coverage and reimbursement laws and regulations;
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· state and local laws and regulations for the disposal and handling of medical waste and biohazardous material;
 
· Occupational Safety and Health (“OSHA”) regulations and requirements;
 
· the Intermediate Sanctions rules of the IRS providing for potential financial sanctions with respect to “Excess Benefit Transactions” with HUMC or other tax-

exempt organizations;
 
· the Physician Payments Sunshine Act (in the event that our products are classified as drugs, biologics, devices or medical supplies and are reimbursed by

Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program); and
 
· state and other Federal laws addressing the privacy of health information.
 

Foreign Government Regulation
 

In general, we will need to comply with the government regulations of each individual country in which our therapy centers are located and products are to be
distributed and sold. These regulations vary in complexity and can be as stringent, and on occasion even more stringent, than FDA regulations in the United States. Due to the
fact that there are new and emerging cell therapy and cell banking regulations that have recently been drafted and/or implemented in various countries around the world, the
application and subsequent implementation of these new and emerging regulations have little to no precedence. Therefore, the level of complexity and stringency is not always
precisely understood today for each country, creating greater uncertainty for the international regulatory process. Furthermore, government regulations can change with little to
no notice and may result in up-regulation of our product(s), thereby creating a greater regulatory burden for our cell processing and cell banking technology products. We have
not yet thoroughly explored the applicable laws and regulations that we will need to comply with in foreign jurisdictions. It is possible that we may not be permitted to expand
our business into one or more foreign jurisdictions.

 
We do not have any definitive plans or arrangements with respect to the establishment by us of stem cell therapy clinics in any country. We intend to explore any such

opportunities as they arise.
 

Offices
 
Our principal executive offices are located at 40 Marcus Drive, Melville, New York, and our telephone number is (631) 760-8100. Our website is

www.biorestorative.com. Our internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report.
 
Employees

 
We currently have seven employees all of whom are full-time employees. We believe that our employee relations are good.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
 

Not applicable. See, however, Item 7 (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Factors That May Affect Future
Results and Financial Condition”).
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
 

Not applicable.
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
 

Our principal executive offices and laboratory are located at 40 Marcus Drive, Melville, New York. We occupy 6,800 square feet of space at the premises pursuant to a
lease that was entered into in August 2014 and provides for a term of 63 months from the commencement date (as defined in the lease); we have an option to extend the term of
the lease for five years. The lease provides for an annual base rental during the initial term ranging between $132,600 and $149,260.

 
Our premises are suitable and adequate for our current operations.
 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
 

In November 2013, an action was commenced against us in the Circuit Court of Palm Beach County, Florida by an alleged former consultant. The action is associated
with an alleged $5,000 loan made in 2009 and an alleged consulting/employment agreement entered into with us effective in 2009. Pursuant to the action, the plaintiff is
seeking to recover an unspecified amount of damages but at least approximately $193,000 of cash (or alternatively $52,000 per year from September 2009) as well as the
repayment of the alleged loan with interest, reimbursement for certain out-of-pocket fees and expenses, two weeks vacation pay per year, and the issuance of 80,000 shares of
our common stock or warrants for the purchase of 80,000 shares of our common stock (or alternatively the market value of such securities). A trial of the action is scheduled to
commence in June 2015. On March 13, 2015, we filed with the court a settlement offer.

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
 

Not applicable.
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PART II

 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY

SECURITIES.
 
Market Information
 

Transactions in our common stock are currently reported under the symbol “BRTX” on the OTC Bulletin Board.  The following table sets forth the range of high and
low bids reported in the over-the-counter market for our common stock.  On April 15, 2013, we effected a 1 for 50 reverse split of our common stock. The prices shown below
have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the reverse split and represent prices in the market between dealers in securities; they do not include retail markup, markdown
or commissions, and do not necessarily represent actual transactions.  

 
    High     Low  
2013 Calendar Year             

First Quarter   $ 1.95    $ 1.15 
Second Quarter   $ 1.65    $ 0.70 
Third Quarter   $ 0.99    $ 0.33 
Fourth Quarter   $ 0.70    $ 0.40 

 

    High     Low  
            

2014 Calendar Year             

First Quarter   $ 0.90    $ 0.28 
Second Quarter   $ 0.60    $ 0.24 
Third Quarter   $ 0.40    $ 0.25 
Fourth Quarter   $ 0.52    $ 0.26 
 

Holders
 

As of March 30, 2015, there were 258 record holders of our shares of common stock.
 

Dividends
 

Holders of our shares of common stock are entitled to dividends when, as and if declared by our Board of Directors out of funds legally available.
 
We have not declared or paid any dividends in the past to the holders of our common stock and do not currently anticipate declaring or paying any dividends in the

foreseeable future. We intend to retain earnings, if any, to finance the development and expansion of our business. Future dividend policy will be subject to the discretion of our
Board of Directors and will be contingent upon future earnings, if any, our financial condition, capital requirements, general business conditions, and other factors. Therefore,
we can give no assurance that any dividends of any kind will ever be paid to holders of our common shares.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 

During the three months ended December 31, 2014, we issued the following securities in transactions not involving any public offering. For each of the following
transactions, we relied upon Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering. For each such transaction,
we did not use general solicitation or advertising to market the securities, the securities were offered to a limited number of persons, the investors had access to information
regarding us (including information contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods
ended March 31, 2014, June 30, 2014 and September 30, 2014 and Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and press releases made
by us), and we were available to answer questions by prospective investors. We reasonably believe that each of the investors is an accredited investor. The proceeds were used
to reduce our working capital deficiency and for other corporate purposes.
 
         Warrants             

Date Issued  
Common

Stock     Shares    
Exercise

Price    
Term

(Years)     Purchaser(s)     Consideration (1)  
10/3/14    8,819      -    $ -      -      (2)   $ 2,910(3)
10/7/14    48,388      -    $ -      -      (2)   $ 15,000(3)

10/8/14-12/22/14    1,000,000      250,000    $ 0.75      5      (4)   $ 300,000 
10/23/14-12/31/14    290,000      -    $ -      -      (2)   $ 63,800(3)

10/28/14    170,782      -    $ -      -      (4)   $ 31,765(5)
10/31/14    14,286      -    $ -      -      (2)   $ 5,000(3)
11/20/14    110,000      110,000    $ 0.75      2      (2)   $ 33,000(6)

11/24/14-12/8/14    800,000      400,000    $ 0.45(7)    5      (4)   $ 200,000 
11/30/14    12,500      -    $ -      -      (2)   $ 5,000(3)
12/31/14    450,000      -    $ -      -      (4)   $ 99,000(8)
12/31/14    29,476      -    $ -      -      (2)   $ 14,738(3)

 
(1) The value of the non-cash consideration was estimated to be the fair value of our restricted common stock. Since our shares are thinly traded in the open market, the

fair value of our equity instruments was estimated by management based on observations of the cash sales prices of both restricted shares and freely tradable shares.
 
(2) Consultant.
 
(3) Issued in consideration of consulting services
 
(4) Accredited investor.
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(5) Issued in connection with the conversion of convertible notes payable.
 
(6) Issued pursuant to the exercise of warrants.
 
(7) Warrants to purchase 200,000 and 200,000 shares of common stock have exercise prices per share of $0.40 and $0.50, respectively.
 
(8) Issued in connection with the extension of notes payable.
 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2014, there were no purchases of common stock made by us or any “affiliated purchaser”.
 
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
 

Not applicable.
 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
 

The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. (and including its subsidiaries, "BRT" or
the “Company”) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the
notes to those financial statements that are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K following Item 15. References in this Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations to “us,” “we,” “our,” and similar terms refer to BRT. This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements as
that term is defined in the federal securities laws. The events described in forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report may not occur. Generally these
statements relate to business plans or strategies, projected or anticipated benefits or other consequences of our plans or strategies, projected or anticipated benefits from
acquisitions to be made by us, or projections involving anticipated revenues, earnings or other aspects of our operating results. The words “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,”
“anticipate,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,” “estimate,” and “continue,” and their opposites and similar expressions, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We
caution you that these statements are not guarantees of future performance or events and are subject to a number of uncertainties, risks and other influences, many of which are
beyond our control, which may influence the accuracy of the statements and the projections upon which the statements are based. Reference is made to “Factors That May
Affect Future Results and Financial Condition” in this Item 7 for a discussion of some of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these statements.
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Overview

 

Our goal is to develop technology using cell and tissue regenerative therapy protocols, primarily involving adult stem cells, allowing patients to undergo cellular-based
treatments. Among the initiatives that we are currently pursuing is our Disc/Spine Program with our initial therapeutic product being called brtxDISC™ (Disc Implanted Stem
Cells). We have obtained a license that permits us to use technology for adult stem cell treatment of disc and spine conditions, including protruding and bulging lumbar discs.
The technology is an advanced stem cell injection procedure that may offer relief from lower back pain, buttock and leg pain, and numbness and tingling in the legs and feet.
Another technology we are developing is our ThermoStem® Program. This pre-clinical program involves the use of brown fat in connection with the cell-based treatment of
type 2 diabetes and obesity as well as hypertension, other metabolic disorders and cardiac deficiencies.

 
We are also developing a curved needle device (“CND”) that is a needle system to allow access to difficult to locate regions for the delivery or removal of fluids and

other substances. The CND is intended to deliver stem cells and/or other therapeutic products or material to the interior of a human intervertebral disc, the spine region, or
potentially other areas of the body.

 
We also offer stem cell derived cosmetic and skin care products. Pursuant to our brtx-C Cosmetic Program, we have developed an ingredient derived from human adult

stem cells which can be used by third party companies in the development of their own skin care products. Separately, through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Stem Pearls, LLC,
we offer facial creams and other skin care products with certain ingredients that may include plant stem cells and/or other plant derived stem cell optimization or regenerative
compounds.

 
We have relocated our offices to Melville, New York where we have established a new laboratory facility in order to increase our capabilities for the further

development of possible cellular-based treatments, products and protocols, stem cell-related intellectual property and translational research applications.
 
As of December 31, 2014, the deficit accumulated was $25,400,026, our stockholders’ deficiency was $6,888,393 and our working capital deficiency was $8,410,686.

While we have recently begun to generate a modest amount of revenue, our losses have principally been operating expenses incurred in research and development, marketing
and promotional activities in order to commercialize our products and services, plus costs associated with meeting the requirements of being a public company. We expect to
continue to incur substantial costs for these activities over at least the next year.

 
Based upon our working capital deficiency as of December 31, 2014 and our forecast for continued operating losses, we require equity and/or debt financing to

continue our operations. As of December 31, 2014, our outstanding debt of $5,851,496, together with interest at rates ranging between 8% and 15% per annum, was due on
various dates through October 2015. Subsequent to December 31, 2014 and through March 31, 2015, we have received aggregate equity financing and debt financing of
$801,000 and $30,000, respectively, we have received research and development fees of $227,234, and $50,000 and $5,984 of debt and accrued interest, respectively, has been
converted into common stock. Giving effect to the above actions, we currently have notes payable aggregating $5,000 which are either past due or payable on demand. Based
upon our working capital deficiency and outstanding debt, we expect to be able to fund our operations through April 2015. We are currently in the process of negotiating
extensions or discussing conversions to equity with respect to our outstanding indebtedness. We are currently considering several different financing alternatives to support our
operations thereafter. If we are unable to obtain such additional financing on a timely basis and, notwithstanding any request we may make, our debt holders do not agree to
convert their notes into equity or extend the maturity dates of their notes, we may have to curtail our development, marketing and promotional activities, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and ultimately we could be forced to discontinue our operations and liquidate. See
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” below.
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Recent Developments

 
Research and Development Agreements
 

On October 10, 2014, we entered into an agreement with a consultant for services regarding pre-investigational New Drug Application (“Pre-IND”) and investigational
New Drug (“IND”) regulatory support regarding our brtxDISC™ product. The consultant is entitled to milestone based payments up to a total cost of $225,000, payable upon
the completion of certain tasks. The agreement will continue until May 2015, the estimated date of the final milestone, and will automatically renew for successive one-year
periods. We can terminate the agreement at any time by providing thirty days prior written notice.

 
Operating Lease

 
On August 25, 2014, we entered into a lease for 6,800 square feet of space located in Melville, New York. We have relocated our corporate and laboratory operations

from Jupiter, Florida to such location. The lease provides for a five year, three month term from the commencement date (as defined in the lease) (subject to extension at our
option for a period of five years) and an annual base rental during the initial term ranging between $132,600 and $149,260. In consideration of certain lease concessions made
by the landlord valued at $71,050, concurrently with the lease execution, we issued to the principals of the landlord an aggregate of 284,200 shares of our common stock and
five year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 142,100 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.50 per share.

 
Consolidated Results of Operations
 
Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2013
 

The following table presents selected items in our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively:
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    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
          

Revenues   $ 415,996    $ 1,680 
            

Cost of sales     213,834      208 
            

Gross Profit     202,162      1,472 
            

Operating Expenses           

Marketing and promotion     125,626      114,951 
Consulting     1,310,121      779,462 
Research and development     1,430,614      1,594,054 
General and administrative     2,258,307      2,265,275 

            

Total Operating Expenses     5,124,668      4,753,742 
            

Loss From Operations     (4,922,506)     (4,752,270)
            

Other (Expense) Income           

Interest expense     (285,275)     (371,281)
Amortization of debt discount     (464,470)     (405,531)
Loss on extinguishment of note and payables, net     (49,094)     (7,200)
Warrant modification expense     (50,035)     (214,912)
Gain on settlement of notes and payables     183,768      - 

            

Total Other Expense     (665,106)     (998,924)
            

Net Loss   $ (5,587,612)   $ (5,751,194)
 
Revenues

 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, we generated $413,777 of revenues through the services provided pursuant to our research and development agreements and

$2,219 of sales of Stem Pearls® skincare products. For the year ended December 31, 2013, revenues consisted only of $1,680 of sales of Stem Pearls® skincare products.
 

Cost of sales
 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, cost of sales was $213,834 as compared to $208 for 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2014, cost of sales consisted
primarily of $198,162 of costs related to our research and development agreements. For the year ended December 31, 2013, cost of sales consisted of the costs of the underlying
Stem Pearls® skincare products.

 
Marketing and promotion

 
Marketing and promotion expenses include advertising and promotion, marketing and seminars, meals, entertainment and travel expenses. For the year ended

December 31, 2014, marketing and promotion expenses increased by $10,675, or 9%, from $114,951 to $125,626, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013.
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We expect that marketing and promotion expenses will continue to increase in the future as we increase our marketing activities following full commercialization of

our products and services. 
 
Consulting

 
Consulting expenses consist of consulting fees and stock-based compensation to consultants. For the year ended December 31, 2014, consulting expenses increased

$530,659, or 68%, from $779,462 to $1,310,121, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase is primarily due to an approximate $525,000 increase in non-
cash stock-based compensation to directors, consultants and advisors and an approximate $40,000 increase in directors fees related to the resignation of one the members of our
Board of Directors, whereby we agreed to pay the director for the remainder of his 2014 compensation, and the increase of our Board of Directors by one member, partially
offset by an approximate $34,000 reduction of cash consulting fees.

 

Research and development
 
Research and development expenses include cash and non-cash compensation of (a) our Chief Executive Officer (in part); (b) our Vice President of Research and

Development; and (c) our Scientific Advisory Board members, and costs related to our brown fat and disc/spine initiatives. Research and development expenses are expensed as
they are incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2014, research and development expenses decreased by $163,440 from $1,594,054 to $1,430,614, or 10%, as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease is primarily related to the amendment of our University of Utah Research Agreement resulting in a reduction of expense
related to our brown fat and disc/spine initiatives as compared to the prior period of approximately $135,000, the reclassification of a portion of our Vice President of Research
and Development’s salary of approximately $128,000 to cost of sales for services related to our research and development agreements and a reduction of our Chief Executive
Officer’s salary during 2014 which resulted in approximately $88,000 less expense in 2014 as compared to 2013, partially offset by an increase in non-cash stock-based
compensation to our Vice President of Research and Development of approximately $96,000, cash compensation to our Chief Medical Advisor for Spine Medicine of $95,000
and a one-time bonus of $25,000 earned by our Vice President of Research and Development.

 
We expect that our research and development expenses will increase with the continuation of the aforementioned initiatives.
 
General and administrative

 
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, bonuses, payroll taxes, severance costs and stock-based compensation to employees (excluding any

cash or non-cash compensation of (a) our Chief Executive Officer attributable to research and development and (b) our Vice President of Research and Development) as well as
corporate support expenses such as legal and professional fees, investor relations and occupancy related expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2014, general and
administrative expenses decreased by $6,968, or less than 1%, from $2,265,275 to $2,258,307, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013.
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We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase as we expand our staff, develop our infrastructure and incur additional costs to support the growth

of our business.
 
Interest expense
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, interest expense decreased $86,006, or 23%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease was due to a

reduction in interest-bearing short-term borrowings as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 including the restructuring of our largest note payable.
 
Amortization of debt discount
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, amortization of debt discount increased $58,939, or 15%, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase was

primarily due to the recognition of expense related to the beneficial conversion features of convertible notes and the timing of the recognition of the debt discount expense.
 

Loss on extinguishment of notes payable
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of notes payable of $49,094, which is associated with investors’ conversion of debt into

equity securities, as compared to a loss on extinguishment of notes payable of $7,200 for the year ended December 31, 2013.
 

Warrant modification expense
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded expense related to the modification of outstanding warrants of $50,035, as compared to expense related to the

modification of outstanding warrants of $214,912 for the year ended December 31, 2013.
 
Gain on settlement of note and payables, net
 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded a gain on settlement of note and payables, net, of $183,768 related to a $166,668 gain on the amendment of
our University of Utah Research Agreement regarding our brown fat and disc/spine initiatives whereby a portion of the fees payable to the University of Utah were cancelled, a
$9,600 gain on the settlement of accrued expenses to consultants and a $7,500 gain on the settlement of a convertible note. There were no gains on settlement of notes or
payables recorded during the year ended December 31, 2013.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources

 
Liquidity

 
We measure our liquidity in a number of ways, including the following:
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    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
            

Cash   $ 91,798    $ 201,098 
              

Working Capital Deficiency   $ (8,247,881)   $ (7,262,748)
              

Notes Payable (Gross - Current)   $ 5,851,496    $ 5,227,390 
 

Availability of Additional Funds
 
Based upon our working capital and stockholders’ deficiency of $8,410,686 and $6,888,393, respectively, as of December 31, 2014, we require additional equity

and/or debt financing to continue our operations. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
 
As of December 31, 2014, our outstanding debt of $5,851,496, together with interest at rates ranging between 8% and 15% per annum, was due on various dates

through October 2015. Subsequent to December 31, 2014 and through March 31, 2015, we have received aggregate equity and debt financing of $801,000 and $30,000,
respectively, we have received research and development fees of $227,234, plus $50,000 and $5,984 of debt and accrued interest, respectively, has been exchanged for common
stock. Giving effect to the above actions, we currently have notes payable aggregating $5,000 which are either past due or payable on demand. As of the date of filing, our
outstanding debt was as follows:

 

Maturity Date  
Principal
Amount  

      

Past Due/On Demand   $ 5,000 
QE 6/30/15     4,943,811 
QE 9/30/15     290,000 
QE 12/31/15     592,685 
       

    $ 5,831,496 
 
Based upon our working capital deficiency, outstanding debt and forecast for continued operating losses we expect that the cash we currently have available will fund

our operations through April 2015. Thereafter, we will need to raise further capital, through the sale of additional equity or debt securities, to support our future operations and
to repay our debt (unless, if requested, the debt holders agree to convert their notes into equity or extend the maturity dates of their notes). Our operating needs include the
planned costs to operate our business, including amounts required to fund working capital and capital expenditures. Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of our
available funds will depend on many factors, including our ability to successfully commercialize our products and services, competing technological and market developments,
and the need to enter into collaborations with other companies or acquire other companies or technologies to enhance or complement our product and service offerings.
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We may be unable to raise sufficient additional capital when we need it or raise capital on favorable terms. Debt financing may require us to pledge certain assets and

enter into covenants that could restrict certain business activities or our ability to incur further indebtedness, and may contain other terms that are not favorable to our
stockholders or us. If we are unable to obtain adequate funds on reasonable terms, we may be required to significantly curtail or discontinue operations or obtain funds by
entering into financing agreements on unattractive terms.

 
Our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America, which contemplate our continuation as a going concern and the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course
of business. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial statements do not necessarily purport to represent realizable or settlement values. The
financial statements do not include any adjustment that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, our sources and uses of cash were as follows:
 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
 
We experienced negative cash flow from operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 in the amounts of $3,227,851 and $2,672,404,

respectively. The net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily due to cash used to fund a net loss of $5,587,612, adjusted for non-
cash expenses in the aggregate amount of $1,878,162, partially offset by $481,599 of cash provided by changes in the levels of operating assets and liabilities, primarily as a
result of increases in accounts payable plus accrued expenses and other liabilities, due to cash constraints during the period. The net cash used in operating activities for the year
ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due to cash used to fund a net loss of $5,751,194, adjusted for non-cash expenses in the aggregate amount of $1,559,567, partially
offset by $1,519,223 of cash provided by changes in the levels of operating assets and liabilities, primarily as a result of increases in accounts payable plus accrued expenses
and other liabilities, due to cash constraints during the period.

 
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, net cash used in investing activities was $167,396, primarily due to cash used for the purchase of furniture, computer

equipment and medical equipment. During the year ended December 31, 2013, net cash used in investing activities was $11,160, primarily due to cash used for the purchase of
medical equipment.

 
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
 
Net cash provided by financing activities during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $3,285,947 and $2,884,299, respectively. During the year ended

December 31, 2014, $567,947 of net proceeds were from debt financings and $2,718,000 of proceeds were from equity financings (including proceeds received in connection
with the exercise of common stock purchase warrants). During the year ended December 31, 2013, $1,473,490 of net proceeds were from debt financings and $1,410,809 of
proceeds were from equity financings (including proceeds received in connection with the exercise of common stock purchase warrants).
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
Use of Estimates

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods. The Company’s
significant estimates and assumptions include the recoverability and useful lives of long-lived assets, the fair value of the Company’s equity securities and the valuation
allowance related to the Company’s deferred tax assets. Certain of the Company’s estimates, including the carrying amount of the intangible assets, could be affected by
external conditions, including those unique to the Company and general economic conditions. It is reasonably possible that these external factors could have an effect on the
Company’s estimates and could cause actual results to differ from those estimates.

 
Intangible Assets

 
Intangible assets are comprised of trademarks and licenses with original estimated useful lives of 10 and 17.7 years (20 year life of underlying patents being licensed,

less 2.3 years elapsed since the application date of the respective patents), respectively. Once placed into service, we amortize the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives on a straight line basis.
 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets
 

We review for the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying
amount.
 

Revenue Recognition
 

Research and Development Agreements
 
Our policy is to recognize research and development revenues on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement, regardless of the payment structure, subject to

potential acceleration upon achievement of contractually specified deliverables.
 
On March 19, 2014, we entered into a one-year agreement with a Japanese pharmaceutical company to perform specified research and development activities related

to stem cells. The agreement may be terminated earlier or extended, as provided for in the agreement. Payment terms are (1) $150,000 at commencement; (2) $50,000 upon
achievement of a specified deliverable; and (3) $50,000 upon achievement of the final specified deliverable. As of December 31, 2014, the initial $150,000 payment had been
received and $34,281 was recorded as deferred revenues on the consolidated balance sheet.
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On March 24, 2014, we entered into a two-year agreement with a U.S. pharmaceutical company to perform specified research and development activities related to

brown fat. The agreement may be terminated earlier or extended, as provided for in the agreement. Payment terms are (1) $250,000 at commencement; (2) $356,250 payable in
four equal quarterly installments, subject to acceleration upon achieving a specified deliverable; and (3) $168,750 payable in two equal bi-annual installments, subject to
acceleration upon achieving a specified deliverable. As of December 31, 2014, the initial $250,000 payment and the first two quarterly payments of $89,063 each related to (2)
above had been received and $130,068 was recorded as deferred revenues on the consolidated balance sheet.

 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recognized revenue related to research and development agreements of $413,776. We did not recognize any revenue

related to research and development agreements during the year ended December 31, 2013.
 
Other
 
Our policy is to recognize product sales when the risk of loss and title to the product transfers to the customer, after taking into account potential returns. We recognize

sublicensing and royalty revenue when all of the following have occurred: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) the service is completed without further
obligation, (iii) the sales price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, our recognized revenue related to sale of Stem Pearls® skincare products of $2,220 and $1,680,

respectively.
 
Income Taxes
 
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of items that have been included or excluded in our financial statements or tax

returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the difference between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their respective financial reporting
amounts (“temporary differences”) at enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

 
We adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740-10, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for

financial statements recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
 

Stock-Based Compensation
 

We measure the cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the award. For employees and directors, the fair
value of the award is measured on the grant date and for non-employees, the fair value of the award is generally re-measured on vesting dates and interim financial reporting
dates until the service period is complete. The fair value amount is then recognized over the period during which services are required to be provided in exchange for the award,
usually the vesting period. Since the shares underlying our 2010 Equity Participation Plan are not currently registered, the fair value of our restricted equity instruments was
estimated by us based on observations of the cash sales prices of both restricted shares and freely tradable shares.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers,” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605 - Revenue Recognition and
most industry-specific guidance throughout the ASC. The standard requires that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 is effective on January 1, 2017
and should be applied retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying ASU 2014-09 recognized at the
date of initial application. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on our consolidated financial statements.

 
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-10, “Development Stage Entities (Topic 915): Elimination of Certain Financial Reporting Requirements, Including an

Amendment to Variable Interest Entities Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidation,” (“ASU 2014-10”). ASU 2014-10 removes the definition of a development stage entity from the
ASC, thereby removing the financial reporting distinction between development stage entities and other reporting entities from GAAP. In addition, ASU 2014-10 eliminates the
requirements for development stage entities to (1) present inception-to-date information in the statements of operations, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity, (2) label the
financial statements as those of a development stage entity, (3) disclose a description of the development stage activities in which the entity is engaged, and (4) disclose in the
first year in which the entity is no longer a development stage entity that in prior years it had been in the development stage. ASU 2014-10 is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2014, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is permitted. We elected to adopt ASU 2014-10 effective with the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2014 and its adoption resulted in the removal of previously required development stage disclosures.

 
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an

Award Provide that a Performance Target Could be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period," ("ASU 2014-12"). The amendments in ASU 2014-12 require that a
performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. A reporting entity should apply
existing guidance in ASC Topic No. 718, "Compensation - Stock Compensation" as it relates to awards with performance conditions that affect vesting to account for such
awards. The amendments in ASU 2014-12 are effective for annual periods and interim periods within those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption
is permitted. Entities may apply the amendments in ASU 2014-12 either: (a) prospectively to all awards granted or modified after the effective date; or (b) retrospectively to all
awards with performance targets that are outstanding as of the beginning of the earliest annual period presented in the financial statements and to all new or modified awards
thereafter. We do not anticipate that the adoption of ASU 2014-12 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, “Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an

Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern” (“ASU 2014-15”). ASU 2014-15, which is effective for annual reporting periods ending after December 15, 2016, extends the
responsibility for performing the going-concern assessment to management and contains guidance on how to perform a going-concern assessment and when going-concern
disclosures would be required under U.S. GAAP. We elected to adopt ASU 2014-15 effective with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30,
2014. Management’s evaluations regarding the events and conditions that raise substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern have been discussed above
and also disclosed in the footnotes to the December 31, 2014 consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial

condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors.
 
Factors That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition

 
The risk factors listed in this section provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we

describe in our forward-looking statements. Readers should be aware that the occurrence of any of the events described in these risk factors could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition. We undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events, or otherwise.
 
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS GENERALLY
 
We have a very limited operating history; we have incurred substantial losses since inception; we expect to continue to incur losses for the near term; we have a substantial
working capital deficiency and a stockholders’ deficiency; the report of our independent registered public accounting firm contains an explanatory paragraph that
expresses substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
 

We have a very limited operating history. Since our inception, we have incurred net losses. As of December 31, 2014, we had a working capital deficiency of
$8,410,686 and stockholders’ deficiency of $6,888,393. The report of our independent registered public accounting firm with respect to our financial statements as of December
31, 2014 and 2013 and for the years then ended indicates that our financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern. The report states
that, since we have incurred net losses since inception and we need to raise additional funds to meet our obligations and sustain our operations, there is substantial doubt about
our ability to continue as a going concern. Our plans in regard to these matters are described in footnote 2 to our audited financial statements as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
and for the years then ended, which are included following Item 15 (“Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules”). Our financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
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We will need to obtain additional financing to satisfy debt obligations and continue our operations.
 

As described in Item 7 (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity and Capital Resources – Availability of
Additional Funds”), as of December 31, 2014, our outstanding debt of $5,851,496, together with interest at rates ranging between 8% and 15% per annum, are due on various
dates through October 2015. Subsequent to December 31, 2014 and through March 31, 2015, we have received aggregate equity and debt financing of $801,000 and $30,000,
respectively, we have received research and development fees of $227,234, and $50,000 and $5,984 of debt and accrued interest, respectively, has been converted into common
stock. Giving effect to the above actions, we currently have notes payable aggregating $5,000 which are either past due or payable on demand. We are currently in the process
of negotiating extensions or discussing conversions to equity with respect to our outstanding indebtedness. As of March 31, 2015, the outstanding balance of our debt of
$5,831,496, together with accrued interest, was due and payable between on demand and October 2015. Unless we obtain additional financing or, upon our request, the debt
holders agree to convert their debt into equity or extend the maturity dates of the debt, we will not be able to repay such debt. Based upon our working capital deficiency and
outstanding debt, we expect to be able to fund our operations through April 2015. Even if we are able to satisfy our debt obligations, our cash balance and the revenues for the
foreseeable future from our anticipated operations will not be sufficient to fund the development of our business plan, including in connection with the license obtained from
Regenerative. Accordingly, we will be required to raise capital from one or more sources.  There is no guarantee that adequate funds will be available when needed from
additional debt or equity financing, or from other sources, or on terms attractive to us.  Our inability to obtain sufficient funds in the future would, at a minimum, require us to
delay, scale back, or eliminate some or all of our contemplated activities, which could have a substantial negative effect on our results of operations and financial condition. See
Item I (“Business-Overview”) for a discussion of our financing requirements.

 
Our business strategy is high-risk.
 

We are focusing our resources and efforts primarily on the development of cellular-based products and services which will require extensive cash for research,
development and commercialization activities.  This is a high-risk strategy because there is no assurance that our products and services, including our Disc/Spine Program and
our ThermoStem® brown fat research initiative, will ever become commercially viable (commercial risk), that we will prevent other companies from depriving us of market
share and profit margins by offering services and products based on our inventions and developments (legal risk), that we will successfully manage a company in a new area of
business, regenerative medicine, and on a different scale than we have operated in the past (operational risk), that we will be able to achieve the desired therapeutic results using
stem and regenerative cells (scientific risk), or that our cash resources will be adequate to develop our products and services until we become profitable, if ever (financial
risk).  We are using our cash in one of the riskiest industries in the economy (strategic risk).  This may make our stock an unsuitable investment for many investors.
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We will need to enter into agreements in order to implement our business strategy.
 

Except for the Regenerative license agreement, the research agreement with the University of Utah and the research and development agreements with Rohto
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Pfizer, Inc., we do not have any material agreements or understandings in place with respect to the implementation of our business strategy. No
assurances can be given that we will be able to enter into any necessary agreements with respect to the development of our business. Our inability to enter into any such
agreements would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
 
We depend on our executive officers and on our ability to attract and retain additional qualified personnel. We do not currently have a Chief Financial Officer.
 

Our performance is substantially dependent on the performance of Mark Weinreb, our Chief Executive Officer. We rely upon him for strategic business decisions and
guidance. Mr. Weinreb is subject to an employment agreement with us that is scheduled to expire in December 2017. We are also dependent on the performance of Edward
Field, President of our Disc/Spine Division, and Francisco Silva, our Vice President of Research and Development, in establishing and developing our products and operations.
Mr. Field and Mr. Silva are also subject to employment agreements with us. We do not currently have a Chief Financial Officer. Pending the hiring of a Chief Financial Officer,
we are utilizing financial consultants with regard to the preparation of our financial statements. We believe that our future success in developing marketable services and
products and achieving a competitive position will depend in large part upon whether we can attract and retain additional qualified management and scientific personnel,
including a Chief Financial Officer.  Competition for such personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to attract and retain such personnel.  The loss
of the services of Mr. Weinreb, Mr. Field and/or Mr. Silva or the inability to attract and retain additional personnel, including a Chief Financial Officer, and develop expertise as
needed would have a substantial negative effect on our results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Continued turmoil in the economy could harm our business.

 
Negative trends in the general economy, including, but not limited to, trends resulting from an actual or perceived recession, tightening credit markets, increased cost

of commodities, actual or threatened military action by the United States and threats of terrorist attacks in the United States and abroad, could cause a reduction of investment
in and available funding for companies in certain industries, including ours.  Our ability to raise capital has been and may in the future be adversely affected by downturns in
current credit conditions, financial markets and the global economy.
 
RISKS RELATED TO OUR CELL THERAPY PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS
 
Our future success is significantly dependent on the timely and successful development and commercialization of brtxDISC™, our lead product candidate for the treatment
of chronic lumbar disc disease; if we encounter delays or difficulties in the development of this product candidate, as well as any other product candidates, our business
prospects would be significantly harmed.
 

41



 

 
We are dependent upon the successful development, approval and commercialization of our product candidates. Before we are able to seek regulatory approval of our

product candidates, we must conduct and complete extensive clinical trials to demonstrate their safety and efficacy in humans. Our lead product candidate, brtxDISC™, is in
early stages of development and we must first complete pre-clinical work to submit an IND for FDA approval to commence clinical trials.

 
Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, and can take many years to complete. Importantly, a failure of one or more of these or any other

clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to
complete our clinical studies, receive regulatory approval or commercialize our cell therapy product candidates, including the following:
 

·          suspensions, delays or changes in the design, initiation, enrollment, implementation or completion of required clinical trials; adverse changes in our financial
position or significant and unexpected increases in the cost of our clinical development program; changes or uncertainties in, or additions to, the regulatory approval process
that require us to alter our current development strategy; clinical trial results that are negative, inconclusive or less than desired as to safety and/or efficacy, which could result
in the need for additional clinical studies or the termination of the product's development; delays in our ability to manufacture the product in quantities or in a form that is
suitable for any required clinical trials;

 
·          intellectual property constraints that prevent us from making, using, or commercializing any of our cell therapy product candidates;
 
·                    the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of these product candidates may be insufficient or

inadequate: inability to generate sufficient pre-clinical, toxicology, or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation of clinical studies;
 
·          delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical study sites, the terms of which can be

subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and clinical study sites;
 
·          delays in obtaining required Institutional Review Board, or IRB, approval at each clinical study site;
 
·                    imposition of a temporary or permanent clinical hold by regulatory agencies for a number of reasons, including after review of an IND application or

amendment, or equivalent application or amendment; as a result of a new safety finding that presents unreasonable risk to clinical trial participants; a negative finding from an
inspection of our clinical study operations or study sites; developments on trials conducted by competitors or approved products post-market for related technology that raises
FDA concerns about risk to patients of the technology broadly; or if the FDA finds that the investigational protocol or plan is clearly deficient to meet its stated objectives;
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·          difficulty collaborating with patient groups and investigators;
 
·          failure by our CROs, other third parties, or us to adhere to clinical study requirements;
 
·          failure to perform in accordance with the FDA’s current good clinical practices, or cGCP requirements, or applicable regulatory guidelines in other countries;
 
·          delays in having patients qualify for or complete participation in a study or return for post-treatment follow-up;
 
·          patients dropping out of a study;
 
·          occurrence of adverse events associated with the product candidate that are viewed to outweigh its potential benefits;
 
·          changes in the standard of care on which a clinical development plan was based, which may require new or additional trials;
 
·          transfer of manufacturing processes from our academic collaborators to larger-scale facilities operated by either a contract manufacturing organization, or CMO,

or by us, and delays or failure by our CMOs or us to make any necessary changes to such manufacturing process;
 
·          delays in manufacturing, testing, releasing, validating, or importing/exporting sufficient stable quantities of our product candidates for use in clinical studies or

the inability to do any of the foregoing; and
 
·          the FDA may not accept clinical data from trials that are conducted at clinical sites in countries where the standard of care is potentially different from the

United States.
 

Any inability to successfully complete pre-clinical and clinical development could result in additional costs to us or impair our ability to generate revenue. In
addition, if we make manufacturing or formulation changes to our product candidates, we may be required to, or we may elect to, conduct additional studies to bridge our
modified product candidates to earlier versions. Clinical study delays could also shorten any periods during which our products have patent protection and may allow our
competitors to bring products to market before we do, which could impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and
results of operations.
 

Even if we are able to successfully complete our clinical development program for our product candidates, and ultimately receive regulatory approval to market one
or more of the products, we may, among other things:
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·          obtain approval for indications that are not as broad as the indications we sought;
 
·          have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval;
 
·          encounter issues with respect to the manufacturing of commercial supplies;
 
·          be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; and/or
 
·          be subject to restrictions on how the product is distributed or used.

 
We may experience delays in enrolling patients in our clinical trials which could delay or prevent the receipt of necessary regulatory approvals.
 

We may not be able to initiate or complete as planned any clinical trials if we are unable to identify and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in
the clinical trials required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. We also may be unable to engage a sufficient number of clinical trial sites to conduct our trials.

 
We may face challenges in enrolling patients to participate in our clinical trials due to the novelty of our cell-based therapies, the size of the patient populations and the

eligibility criteria for enrollment in the trial. In addition, some patients may have concerns regarding cell therapy that may negatively affect their perception of therapies under
development and their decision to enroll in the trials. Furthermore, patients suffering from diseases within target indications may enroll in competing clinical trials, which could
negatively affect our ability to complete enrollment of our trials. Enrollment challenges in clinical trials often result in increased development costs for a product candidate,
significant delays and potentially the abandonment of the clinical trial.
 
We may have other delays in completing our clinical trials and we may not complete them at all.
 

We have not commenced the clinical trials necessary to obtain FDA approval to market brtxDISC™ or any of our other products in development. Our management
lacks significant experience in completing clinical trials and bringing a drug through commercialization. Clinical trials for brtxDISC™ and other products in development may
be delayed or terminated as a result of many factors, including the following:

 
· patients failing to complete clinical trials due to dissatisfaction with the treatment, side effects or other reasons;
 
· failure by regulators to authorize us to commence a clinical trial;
 
· suspension or termination by regulators of clinical research for many reasons, including concerns about patient safety or our failure, or the failure of our

contract manufacturers, to comply with cGMP requirements;
 

44



 

 
· delays or failure to obtain clinical supply for our products necessary to conduct clinical trials from contract manufacturers;
 
· treatment candidates demonstrating a lack of efficacy during clinical trials;
 
· inability to continue to fund clinical trials or to find a partner to fund the clinical trials;
 
· competition with ongoing clinical trials and scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians; and
 
· delays in completing data collection and analysis for clinical trials.
 
Any delay or failure to complete clinical trials and obtain FDA approval for our product candidates could have a material adverse effect on our cost to develop and

commercialize, and our ability to generate revenue from, a particular product candidate.
 

The development of our cell therapy product candidates are subject to uncertainty because autologous cell therapy is inherently variable.
 

When manufacturing an autologous cell therapy, the number and the composition of the cell population varies from patient to patient. Such variability in the number
and composition of these cells could adversely affect our ability to manufacture autologous cell therapies in a cost-effective or profitable manner and meet acceptable product
release specifications for use in a clinical trial or, if approved, for commercial sale. As a consequence, the development and regulatory approval process for autologous cell
therapy products could be delayed or may never be completed.
 
Any disruption to our access to the media (including cell culture media) and reagents we are using in the clinical development of our cell therapy product candidates could
adversely affect our ability to perform clinical trials and seek future regulatory submissions.
 

Certain media (including cell culture media) and reagents, as well as devices, materials and systems, that we intend to use in our planned clinical trials, and that we
may need or use in commercial production, are provided by unaffiliated third parties. Any lack of continued availability of these media, reagents, devices, materials and systems
for any reason would have a material adverse effect on our ability to complete these studies and could adversely impact our ability to achieve commercial manufacture of our
planned therapeutic products.   Although other available sources for these media, reagents, devices, materials and systems may exist in the marketplace, we have not evaluated
their cost, effectiveness, or intellectual property foundation and therefore cannot guarantee the suitability or availability of such other potential sources. 

  
Products that appear promising in research and development may be delayed or may fail to reach later stages of clinical development.
 

The successful development of cellular based products is highly uncertain. Product candidates that appear promising in research and development may be delayed or
fail to reach later stages of development. Decisions regarding the further development of product candidates must be made with limited and incomplete data, which makes it
difficult to ensure or even accurately predict whether the allocation of limited resources and the expenditure of additional capital on specific product candidates will result in
desired outcomes. Pre-clinical and clinical data can be interpreted in different ways, and negative or inconclusive results or adverse events during a clinical trial could delay,
limit or prevent the development of a product candidate.
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Our clinical trials may fail to demonstrate adequately the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which would prevent or delay regulatory approval and
commercialization.

 
The clinical trials of our product candidates are, and the manufacturing and marketing of our products will be, subject to extensive and rigorous review and regulation

by numerous government authorities in the United States and in other countries where we intend to test and market our product candidates. Before obtaining regulatory
approvals for the commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive preclinical testing and clinical trials that our
product candidates are both safe and effective for use in each target indication. In particular, because our product candidates are subject to regulation as biological drug
products, we will need to demonstrate that they are safe, pure, and potent for use in their target indications. Each product candidate must demonstrate an adequate risk versus
benefit profile in its intended patient population and for its intended use. The risk/benefit profile required for product licensure will vary depending on these factors and may
include decrease or elimination of pain, adequate duration of response, a delay in the progression of the disease, an improvement in function and/or decrease in disability.

 
In addition, even if such trials are successfully completed, we cannot guarantee that the FDA will interpret the results as we do, and more trials could be required

before we submit our product candidates for approval. To the extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory to the FDA for support of a marketing application, we may
be required to expend significant resources, which may not be available to us, to conduct additional trials in support of potential approval of our product candidates.
 
We presently lack manufacturing capabilities to produce our product candidates at commercial scale quantities and do not have an alternate manufacturing supply, which
could negatively impact our ability to meet any future demand for the products.
 

Currently, we expect our laboratory to exclusively provide the cell processing services necessary for clinical production of brtxDISC™ for our disc clinical trial. To
date, we have not produced any products at our laboratory. We expect that we would need to significantly expand our manufacturing capabilities to meet potential commercial
demand for brtxDISC™ and any other of our product candidates, if approved, as well as any of our other product candidates that might attain regulatory approval. Such
expansion would require additional regulatory approvals. Even if we increase our manufacturing capabilities, it is possible that we may still lack sufficient capacity to meet
demand. Ultimately, if we are unable to supply our products to meet commercial demand, whether because of processing constraints or other disruptions, delays or difficulties
that we experience, sales of the products and their long term commercial prospects could be significantly damaged.
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We do not presently have a third-party manufacturer for brtxDISC™ or any of our other product candidates. If our facilities at which these product candidates would

be manufactured or our equipment were significantly damaged or destroyed, or if there were other disruptions, delays or difficulties affecting manufacturing capacity, our
planned and future clinical studies and commercial production for these product candidates would likely be significantly disrupted and delayed. It would be both time
consuming and expensive to replace this capacity with third parties, particularly since any new facility would need to comply with the regulatory requirements.
 

Ultimately, if we are unable to supply our cell therapy product candidates to meet commercial demand (assuming commercial approval is obtained), whether because
of processing constraints or other disruptions, delays or difficulties that we experience, our production costs could dramatically increase and sales of the product and its long-
term commercial prospects could be significantly damaged.
 
The commercial potential and profitability of our products are unknown and subject to significant risk and uncertainty.
 

Even if we successfully develop and obtain regulatory approval for our cell therapy product candidates, the market may not understand or accept the products, which
could adversely affect both the timing and level of future sales. Ultimately, the degree of market acceptance of our product candidates (or any of our future product candidates)
will depend on a number of factors, including:
 

· the clinical effectiveness, safety and convenience of the product particularly in relation to alternative treatments;
 
· our ability to distinguish our products (which involve adult cells) from any ethical and political controversies associated with stem cell products derived from

human embryonic or fetal tissue; and
 
· the cost of the product, the reimbursement policies of government and third-party payors and our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or

reimbursement.
 

Even if we are successful in achieving sales of our product candidates, it is not clear to what extent, if any, the products will be profitable. The costs of goods
associated with production of cell therapy products are significant. In addition, some changes in manufacturing processes or procedures generally require FDA or foreign
regulatory authority review and approval prior to implementation. We may need to conduct additional pre-clinical studies and clinical trials to support approval of any such
changes. Furthermore, this review process could be costly and time-consuming and could delay or prevent the commercialization of product candidates.
 
We may have difficulties in sourcing brown adipose (fat) tissue.
 

Our research agreement with the University of Utah (due to terminate in June 2015) has provided an opportunity for us to obtain brown adipose (fat) tissue that we use
to identify and characterize brown adipose derived stem cells for use in our pre-clinical ThermoStem® Program. There is no certainty that we will be able to continue to collect
brown adipose samples through our University of Utah tissue procurement program or establish relationships with other potential sources of brown adipose tissue. The loss of
brown tissue procurement would have a material adverse effect upon our ability to advance the ThermoStem® Program.
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We are required to pay certain minimum amounts to maintain our exclusive license rights with regard to the disc/spine technology. The loss of such exclusive rights would
have a material adverse effect upon us.
 

Pursuant to the license agreement with Regenerative, unless certain milestones are satisfied, we will be required to pay to Regenerative minimum amounts of between
$225,000 and $475,000 during the period from April 2017 to April 2019 in order to maintain our exclusive rights with regard to the disc/spine technology. No assurances can be
given that we will have sufficient funds to pay such minimum amounts (if the milestones are not satisfied). Any loss of such exclusive rights would have a material adverse
effect upon our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
If safety problems are encountered by us or others developing new stem cell-based therapies, our stem cell initiatives could be materially and adversely affected.

 
The use of stem cells for therapeutic indications is still in the very early stages of development. If an adverse event occurs during clinical trials related to one of our

proposed products and/or services or those of others, the FDA and other regulatory authorities may halt clinical trials or require additional studies. The occurrence of any of
these events would delay, and increase the cost of, our development efforts and may render the commercialization of our proposed products and/or services impractical or
impossible.

 
Ethical and other concerns surrounding the use of stem cell therapy may negatively impact the public perception of our stem cell products and/or services, thereby
suppressing demand for our products and/or services.

 
Although our contemplated stem cell business pertains to adult stem cells only, and does not involve the more controversial use of embryonic stem cells, the use of

adult human stem cells for therapy could give rise to similar ethical, legal and social issues as those associated with embryonic stem cells, which could adversely affect its
acceptance by consumers and medical practitioners. Additionally, it is possible that our business could be negatively impacted by any stigma associated with the use of
embryonic stem cells if the public fails to appreciate the distinction between adult and embryonic stem cells. Delays in achieving public acceptance may materially and
adversely affect the results of our operations and profitability.
 
We are vulnerable to competition and technological change, and also to physicians’ inertia.
 

We will compete with many domestic and foreign companies in developing our technology and products, including biotechnology, medical device and pharmaceutical
companies.  Many current and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, research and development, marketing, and personnel resources.  There is
no assurance that our competitors will not succeed in developing alternative products and/or services that are more effective, easier to use, or more economical than those which
we may develop, or that would render our products and/or services obsolete and non-competitive.    In general, we may not be able to prevent others from developing and
marketing competitive products and/or services similar to ours or which perform similar functions or which are marketed before ours.
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Competitors may have greater experience in developing therapies or devices, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory clearances or approvals, manufacturing

and commercialization.  It is possible that competitors may obtain patent protection, approval, or clearance from the FDA or achieve commercialization earlier than we can, any
of which could have a substantial negative effect on our business.  
 

We will compete against cell-based therapies derived from alternate sources, such as bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord blood and potentially
embryos.    Doctors historically are slow to adopt new technologies like ours, whatever the merits, when older technologies continue to be supported by established
providers.  Overcoming such inertia often requires very significant marketing expenditures or definitive product performance and/or pricing superiority.
 

We expect that physicians’ inertia and skepticism will also be a significant barrier as we attempt to gain market penetration with our future products and services. We
may need to finance lengthy time-consuming clinical studies (so as to provide convincing evidence of the medical benefit) in order to overcome this inertia and skepticism
particularly in reconstructive surgery, cell preservation, the cardiovascular area and many other indications.
 
We may form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances or enter into additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such
alliances or licensing arrangements.

 
We may form or seek strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations, or enter into additional licensing arrangements with third parties that we believe will

complement or augment our development and commercialization efforts with respect to our product candidates and any future product candidates that we may develop. Any of
these relationships may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near and long-term expenditures, issue securities that dilute the shares of our existing
stockholders, or disrupt our management and business. In addition, we face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process is time-
consuming and complex. Moreover, we may not be successful in our efforts to establish a strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements for our product candidates
because they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development for collaborative effort and third parties may not view our product candidates as having the requisite
potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy.

 
Further, collaborations involving our product candidates, such as our collaborations with third-party research institutions, are subject to numerous risks, which may

include the following:
 
·          collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to a collaboration;
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·                    collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or renew development or

commercialization programs based on clinical trial results, changes in their strategic focus due to the acquisition of competitive products, availability of funding, or other
external factors, such as a business combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

 
·          collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial, stop a clinical trial, abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new

clinical trials, or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;
 
·          collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our products or product candidates;
 
·          a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources to their marketing and distribution;
 
·          collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprietary information in a way that

gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential liability;
 
·                    disputes may arise between us and a collaborator that cause the delay or termination of the research, development or commercialization of our product

candidates, or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources;
 
·                   collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization of the

applicable product candidates; and
 
·          collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering our products that results from our collaborating with them, and in such cases, we would not

have the exclusive right to commercialize such intellectual property.
 
As a result, if we enter into collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license our products or businesses, we may not be able to realize the benefit of such

transactions if we are unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture, which could delay our timelines or otherwise adversely affect our
business. We also cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the revenue or specific net income that justifies such transaction. Any
delays in entering into new collaborations or strategic partnership agreements related to our product candidates could delay the development and commercialization of our
product candidates in certain geographies for certain indications, which would harm our business prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We have limited experience in the development and marketing of cell therapies and may be unsuccessful in our efforts to establish a profitable business.
 

Over the past four years, our business plan has been focused on capturing a piece of the burgeoning field of cell therapy. We have limited experience in the areas of
cell therapy product development and marketing, and in the related regulatory issues and processes. Although we have recruited a team that has experience with designing and
conducting clinical trials, as a company, we have limited experience in conducting clinical trials and no experience in conducting clinical trials through to regulatory approval
of any product candidate.  In part because of this lack of experience, we cannot be certain that planned clinical trials will begin or be completed on time, if at all. We cannot
assure that we will successfully achieve our clinical development goals or fulfill our plans to capture a piece of the cell therapy market.
 
Our cell therapy business is based on novel technologies that are inherently expensive, risky and may not be understood by or accepted in the marketplace, which could
adversely affect our future value.
 

The clinical development, commercialization and marketing of cell and tissue-based therapies are at an early-stage, substantially research-oriented, and financially
speculative. To date, very few companies have been successful in their efforts to develop and commercialize a cell therapy product. In general, cell-based or tissue-based
products may be susceptible to various risks, including undesirable and unintended side effects, unintended immune system responses, inadequate therapeutic efficacy, or other
characteristics that may prevent or limit their approval or commercial use. In addition, brtxDISC™ is a cell-based candidate that is produced by using a patient’s own stem cells
derived from bone marrow. Regulatory approval of novel product candidates such as brtxDISC™, which is manufactured using novel manufacturing processes, can be more
complex and expensive and take longer than other, more well-known or extensively studied pharmaceutical or biopharmaceutical products, due to the FDA’s lack of experience
with them. To our knowledge, the FDA has not yet approved a disc related stem cell therapy product. This lack of experience may lengthen the regulatory review process,
require us to conduct additional studies or clinical trials, which would increase our development costs, lead to changes in regulatory positions and interpretations, delay or
prevent approval and commercialization of these product candidates or lead to significant post-approval limitations or restrictions. Furthermore, the number of people who may
use cell or tissue-based therapies is difficult to forecast with accuracy. Our future success is dependent on the establishment of a large global market for cell- and tissue-based
therapies and our ability to capture a share of this market with our product candidates.
 
Our cell therapy product candidates for which we intend to seek approval as biologic products may face competition sooner than anticipated.
 

With the enactment of the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, an abbreviated pathway for the approval of biosimilar and
interchangeable biological products was created. The abbreviated regulatory pathway establishes legal authority for the FDA to review and approve biosimilar biologics,
including the possible designation of a biosimilar as “interchangeable” based on its similarity to an existing reference product. Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar
product cannot be approved by the FDA until 12 years after the original branded product is approved under a biologics license application, or BLA. The law is complex and is
still being interpreted and implemented by the FDA. As a result, its ultimate impact, implementation, and meaning are subject to uncertainty. While it is uncertain when such
processes intended to implement BPCIA may be fully adopted by the FDA, any such processes could have a material adverse effect on the future commercial prospects for our
biological products.
 

51



 

 
With the enactment of the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, an abbreviated pathway for the approval of biosimilar and

interchangeable biological products was created. The abbreviated regulatory pathway establishes legal authority for the FDA to review and approve biosimilar biologics,
including the possible designation of a biosimilar as “interchangeable” based on its similarity to an existing reference product. Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar
product cannot be approved by the FDA until 12 years after the original branded product is approved under a biologics license application, or BLA. The law is complex and is
still being interpreted and implemented by the FDA, although the agency has approved one biosimilar product. As a result, its ultimate impact, implementation, and meaning
are still subject to some uncertainty. While it is uncertain when such processes intended to implement BPCIA may be fully adopted by the FDA, any such processes could have
a material adverse effect on the future commercial prospects for our biological products.   Additionally, a U.S. Federal District Court recently interpreted the BPCIA patent
resolution process in a manner very favorable to biosimilar applicants.  Amgen, Inc. v. Sandoz, Inc., Case No. 14-cv-04741-RS (N.D. Cal. March 19, 2015).  If this decision is
upheld on appeal, it will limit our ability to prevent the market entry of competing biosimilar products.
 

We believe that, if any of our product candidates are approved as a biological product under a BLA, it should qualify for the 12-year period of exclusivity. However,
there is a risk that the FDA could permit biosimilar applicants to reference approved biologics other than our therapeutic candidates, thus circumventing our exclusivity and
potentially creating the opportunity for competition sooner than anticipated. Additionally, this period of regulatory exclusivity does not apply to companies pursuing regulatory
approval via their own traditional BLA, rather than via the abbreviated pathway. Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be substituted for any one of
our reference products in a way that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not yet clear, and will depend on a number of marketplace and
regulatory factors that are still developing.
 
We may be subject to significant product liability claims and litigation, including potential exposure from the use of our product candidates in human subjects, and our
insurance may be inadequate to cover claims that may arise.
 

Our business, once we commence human clinical trials, exposes us to potential product liability risks inherent in the testing, processing and marketing of cell therapy
products. Such liability claims may be expensive to defend and result in large judgments against us. We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing
of our current and any future product candidates in human clinical trials and will face an even greater risk with respect to any commercial sales of our products should they be
approved. No product candidate has been widely used over an extended period of time, and therefore safety data is limited. Cell therapy companies derive the raw materials for
manufacturing of product candidates from human cell sources, and therefore the manufacturing process and handling requirements are extensive, which increases the risk of
quality failures and subsequent product liability claims.
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We will need to increase our insurance coverage when we begin clinical trials and commercializing product candidates, if ever. At that time, we may not be able to

obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms with adequate coverage or at all, or if claims against us substantially exceed our coverage, then our financial
position could be significantly impaired.
 

Whether or not we are ultimately successful in any product liability litigation that may arise, such litigation could consume substantial amounts of our financial and
managerial resources, decreased demand for our products and injure our reputation.
 

We seek to maintain errors and omissions, directors and officers, workers' compensation and other insurance at levels we believe to be appropriate to our business
activities. If, however, we were subject to a claim in excess of this coverage or to a claim not covered by our insurance and the claim succeeded, we would be required to pay
the claim from our own limited resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and business. Additionally, liability or
alleged liability could harm our business by diverting the attention and resources of our management and damaging our reputation.
 
Our internal computer systems, or those that are expected to be used by our clinical investigators, clinical research organizations or other contractors or consultants, may
fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of development programs for our product candidates.
 

We rely on information technology systems to keep financial records, maintain laboratory and corporate records, communicate with staff and external parties and
operate other critical functions. Any significant degradation or failure of these computer systems could cause us to inaccurately calculate or lose data. Despite the
implementation of security measures, these internal computer systems and those used by our clinical investigators, clinical research organizations, and other contractors and
consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication and electrical failures. The
techniques that could be used by criminal elements or foreign governments to attack these computer systems are sophisticated, change frequently and may originate from less
regulated and remote areas of the world. While we have not experienced any such system failure, theft of information, accident or security breach to date, if such an event were
to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our clinical development activities. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from
historical or future clinical trials could result in delays in regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any
disruption, theft of information, or security breach were to result in a loss of or damage to data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary
information, we could incur liability and the clinical development and the future development of our product candidates could be delayed.
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To operate and sell in international markets carries great risk.
 

We intend to market our products and services both domestically and in foreign markets.   A number of risks are inherent in international transactions.  In order for us
to market our products and services in non-U.S. jurisdictions, we need to obtain and maintain required regulatory approvals or clearances in these countries and must comply
with the country specific regulations regarding safety, manufacturing processes and quality.   These regulations, including the requirements for approvals or clearances to
market, may differ from the FDA regulatory scheme.  International operations and sales also may be limited or disrupted by political instability, price controls, trade restrictions
and changes in tariffs.  Additionally, fluctuations in currency exchange rates may adversely affect demand for our services and products by increasing the price of our products
and services in the currency of the countries in which the products and services are offered.
 

There can be no assurance that we will obtain regulatory approvals or clearances in all of the countries where we intend to market our products and services, or that we
will not incur significant costs in obtaining or maintaining foreign regulatory approvals or clearances, or that we will be able to successfully commercialize our products and
services in various foreign markets.  Delays in receipt of approvals or clearances to market our products and services in foreign countries, failure to receive such approvals or
clearances or the future loss of previously received approvals or clearances could have a substantial negative effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

 
Our inability to obtain reimbursement for our products and services from private and governmental insurers could negatively impact demand for our products and
services.
 

Successful sales of health care products and services generally depends, in part, upon the availability and amounts of reimbursement from third party healthcare payor
organizations, including government agencies, private healthcare insurers and other healthcare payors, such as health maintenance organizations and self-insured employee
plans. Uncertainty exists as to the availability of reimbursement for such new therapies as stem cell-based therapies. There can be no assurance that such reimbursement will be
available in the future at all or without substantial delay or, if such reimbursement is provided, that the approved reimbursement amounts will be sufficient to support demand
for our products and services at a level that will be profitable.
 
RISKS RELATED TO OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
 
We may not be able to protect our proprietary rights.
 

Our commercial success will depend in large part upon our ability to protect our proprietary rights. There is no assurance, for example, that any patents will be issued
to us or, if issued, that such patent will not become the subject of a re-examination, will provide us with competitive advantages, will not be challenged by any third parties, or
that the patents of others will not prevent the commercialization of products and services incorporating our technology.  Furthermore, there can be no guarantee that others will
not independently develop similar products and services, duplicate any of our products and services, or design around any patents we obtain.
 

54



 

 
Our commercial success will also depend upon our ability to avoid infringing patents issued to others.  If we were judicially determined to be infringing on any third-

party patent, we could be required to pay damages, alter our products, services or processes, obtain licenses, or cease certain activities.  If we are required in the future to obtain
any licenses from third parties for some of our products and/or services, there can be no guarantee that we would be able to do so on commercially favorable terms, if at
all.  United States and foreign patent applications are not immediately made public, so we might be surprised by the grant to someone else of a patent on a technology we are
actively using.   Although we conducted a freedom to operate (“FTO”) search on the licensed technology associated with our Disc/Spine Program, modifications made, and/or
further developments that may be made, to that technology may not be covered by the initial FTO. No FTO has been undertaken with respect to our ThermoStem® brown fat
initiative.
 

Litigation, which would result in substantial costs to us and the diversion of effort on our part, may be necessary to enforce or confirm the ownership of any patents
issued or licensed to us, or to determine the scope and validity of third-party proprietary rights.  If our competitors claim technology also claimed by us and prepare and file
patent applications in the United States, we may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or a foreign patent office to
determine priority of invention, which could result in substantial costs and diversion of effort, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us.   Any such litigation or
interference proceeding, regardless of outcome, could be expensive and time-consuming.
 

Successful challenges to our patents through oppositions, re-examination proceedings or interference proceedings could result in a loss of patent rights in the relevant
jurisdiction. If we are unsuccessful in actions we bring against the patents of other parties, and it is determined that we infringe upon the patents of third-parties, we may be
subject to litigation, or otherwise prevented from commercializing potential products and/or services in the relevant jurisdiction, or may be required to obtain licenses to those
patents or develop or obtain alternative technologies, any of which could harm our business. Furthermore, if such challenges to our patent rights are not resolved in our favor,
we could be delayed or prevented from entering into new collaborations or from commercializing certain products and/or services, which could adversely affect our business
and results of operations. 

 
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential or

sensitive information could be compromised by disclosure in the event of litigation. In addition, during the course of litigation there could be public announcements of the
results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial
adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
 

In addition to patents, we intend to also rely on unpatented trade secrets and proprietary technological expertise.  Some of our intended future cell-related therapeutic
products and/or services may fit into this category.  We intend to rely, in part, on confidentiality agreements with our partners, employees, advisors, vendors, and consultants to
protect our trade secrets and proprietary technological expertise. There can be no guarantee that these agreements will not be breached, or that we will have adequate remedies
for any breach, or that our unpatented trade secrets and proprietary technological expertise will not otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors.
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Failure to obtain or maintain patent protection, failure to protect trade secrets, third-party claims against our patents, trade secrets, or proprietary rights or our

involvement in disputes over our patents, trade secrets, or proprietary rights, including involvement in litigation, could divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our
business and have a substantial negative effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
 
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property in countries outside of the United States.
 

Intellectual property law outside the United States is uncertain and, in many countries, is currently undergoing review and revisions.  The laws of some countries do
not protect our patent and other intellectual property rights to the same extent as United States laws.     Third parties may attempt to oppose the issuance of patents to us in
foreign countries by initiating opposition proceedings. Opposition proceedings against any of our patent filings in a foreign country could have an adverse effect on our
corresponding patents that are issued or pending in the United States. It may be necessary or useful for us to participate in proceedings to determine the validity of our patents
or our competitors’ patents that have been issued in countries other than the United States. This could result in substantial costs, divert our efforts and attention from other
aspects of our business, and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
 
Changes to United States patent law may have a material adverse effect on our intellectual property rights.
 

The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or AIA, which was signed into law in 2011, significantly changes United States patent law. It may take some time to establish
what the law means, since it is just being interpreted by the lower courts, and any lower court decisions have not been reviewed by either the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals
or the Supreme Court, a process that will take years. The first major change is that AIA switches the U.S. patent system from a “first to invent” system to a “first to file” system.
Now that the first to file system is in effect, there is a risk that another company may independently develop identical or similar patents at approximately the same time, and be
awarded the patents instead of us. Further, for the second major change, AIA abolished interference proceedings, and establishes derivation proceedings to replace interference
proceedings in all cases in which the time period for instituting an interference proceeding has not lapsed where an inventor named in an earlier application derived the claimed
invention from a named inventor. Now that the derivation proceedings are in effect, there is a risk that the inventorship of any pending patent application can be challenged for
reasons of derivation. The third major change is that AIA established post-grant opposition proceedings that will apply only to patent applications filed after “first to file”
became effective. Post-grant opposition will enable a person who is not the patent owner to initiate proceedings in the Patent Office within nine months after the grant of a
patent that can result in cancellation of a patent as invalid. In addition to AIA, recent court decisions have created uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain and maintain
patents. Therefore there is a risk that any of our patents once granted may be subject to post-grant opposition, which will increase uncertainty on the validity of any newly
granted patent or may ultimately result in cancellation of the patent.
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In certain countries, patent holders may be required to grant compulsory licenses, which would likely have a significant and detrimental effect on any future revenues in
such country.
 

Many countries, including some countries in Europe, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties.
In addition, most countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may be limited to
monetary relief and may be unable to enjoin infringement, which could materially diminish the value of the patent. Compulsory licensing of life-saving products is also
becoming increasingly common in developing countries, either through direct legislation or international initiatives. Such compulsory licenses could be extended to our product
candidates, which may limit our potential revenue opportunities, including with respect to any future revenues that may result from our product candidates.
 
RISKS RELATED TO GOVERNMENT REGULATION
 
We operate in a highly-regulated environment and may be unable to comply with applicable federal, state, local, and international requirements. Failure to comply with
applicable government regulation may result in a loss of licensure, registration, and approval or other government enforcement actions.
 

We intend to develop stem cell based therapeutic products and related device accessories. These products and operations are subject to regulation in the United States
by the FDA, FTC, CMS, state authorities and comparable authorities in foreign jurisdictions. Government regulation is a significant factor affecting the research, development,
formulation, manufacture, and marketing of our products. If we fail to comply with applicable regulations, we may be subject to, among other things, fines, suspension or
withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.
 

The FDA requires facilities that are engaged in the recovery, processing, storage, labeling, packaging, or distribution of human cells, tissues, cellular and tissue-based
products, or HCT/Ps, or in the screening or testing of donors of HCT/Ps to register and list the HCT/Ps that it manufactures, comply with current Good Tissue Practices, or
cGTPs, and other procedures to prevent the introduction, transmission, and spread of communicable diseases. Our Florida-based laboratory, biobanking facility, and any
treatment centers we open in the United States may be required to comply with the HCT/P regulations. In addition, any third party retained by us that engages in the
manufacture of an HCT/P on our behalf must also comply with the HCT/P regulations. If we or our third-party contractors fail to register, update registration information, or
comply with any HCT/P regulation, we will be out of compliance with FDA regulations, which could adversely affect our business. Furthermore, adverse events in the field of
stem cell therapy may result in greater governmental regulation, which could create increased expenses, potential delays, or otherwise affect our business.
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We believe that some of our products and services may be regulated solely as HCT/Ps; however, it is possible that some or all of our products may be regulated as

drugs, medical devices, and/or biological products and therefore will likely require FDA regulatory approval or clearance prior to being marketed in the United States. The FDA
approval process can be lengthy, expensive, and uncertain and there is no guarantee of ultimate approval or clearance. FDA decisions regarding labeling and other matters could
adversely affect the availability or commercial potential of our products. There are also many factors that can affect our ability to market a drug, biologic or medical device,
including regulatory delays, the inability to successfully complete clinical studies, concerns about safety or efficacy and claims about adverse side effects. These products must
also comply with the applicable current Good Manufacturing Practices (for drug products), Quality System Regulations (for medical devices), or General Biological Product
Standards (for biological products) as set forth in Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations. These regulations govern the manufacture, processing, packaging, and holding of
the products and include quality control, quality assurance, and maintenance of records and documentation. The FDA conducts inspections to enforce compliance with these
regulations. We and any third-party contractor that manufactures these products on our behalf must comply with the applicable regulations. If we or any third party retained by
us that engages in the manufacture of a drug, medical device, or biological product on our behalf fails to comply with the applicable regulations, we will be out of compliance
with FDA regulations, which could adversely affect our business.

 
In addition, the FDA regulates and prescribes good laboratory practices, or GLPs, for conducting nonclinical laboratory studies that support applications for research

or marketing permits for products regulated by the FDA. GLPs provide requirements for organization, personnel, facilities, equipment, testing, facilities operation, test and
control articles, protocol for nonclinical laboratory study, records, reports, and disqualification by the FDA to ensure the quality and integrity of the safety data filed in research
and marketing permits. Failure to comply with the GLPs could adversely affect our business.

 
Although cosmetic products are subject to fewer regulatory requirements than drugs or medical devices, in the United States cosmetic products are subject to FDA and

FTC requirements as well as applicable state and local requirements. It is also possible that some of the skin care products developed and marketed by our Stem Pearls®

cosmetic skincare company and pursuant to our brtx-C Cosmetic Program may be regulated as both cosmetics and drugs under the FDCA. If they are, these products must
satisfy the regulatory requirements of both drugs and cosmetics. Failure to comply with the appropriate regulations could result in a restraining order, seizure, or criminal
action, which could have an adverse effect on our business.

   
The FTC regulates and polices advertising in the United States of medical treatments, procedures, and regimens that take place inside and outside of the United States.

FTC regulations are designed to prevent unfair and deceptive practices and false advertising. The FTC requires advertisers and promoters to have a reasonable basis to
substantiate and support claims. Failure to sufficiently substantiate and support claims can lead to enforcement action by the FTC, such as a disgorgement order of any profits
made from the promoted business or an injunction from further violative promotion. Such enforcement actions could have an adverse effect on our business.

 
State and local governments impose additional licensing and other requirements for clinical laboratories and facilities that collect, process, and administer stem cells.

Our laboratory and any future treatment facilities that we operate in the United States must comply with these additional licensing and other requirements. The licensing
regulations require personnel with specific education, experience, training, and other credentials. There can be no assurance that these individuals can be retained or will remain
retained or that the cost of retaining such individuals will not materially and adversely affect our ability to operate our business profitably. There can be no assurance that we
can obtain the necessary licensure required to conduct business in any state or that the cost of compliance will not adversely affect our ability to operate our business profitably.
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The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) have authority to implement the Clinical Laboratories Improvement Amendments (“CLIA”) program.

When we begin operations in the United States, we will need to comply with the CLIA program standards. CLIA is designed to establish quality laboratory testing by ensuring
the accuracy, reliability, and timeliness of patient test results. Laboratories that handle stem cells and other biologic matter are included under the CLIA program. Under the
CLIA program, laboratories must be certified by the government, satisfy governmental quality and personnel standards, undergo proficiency testing, be subject to inspections,
and pay fees. The failure to comply with CLIA standards could result in suspension, revocation, or limitation of a laboratory’s CLIA certificate. In addition, fines or criminal
penalties could also be levied. To the extent that our business activities require CLIA certification, we intend to obtain and maintain such certification. There is no guarantee
that we will be able to gain CLIA certification. Failure to gain CLIA certification or comply with the CLIA requirements will adversely affect our business.

 
HHS published the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information (the “Privacy Rule”) and the Security Standards for the Protection of

Electronic Protected Health Information (the “Security Rule”) pursuant to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). The Privacy Rule specifies the
required, permitted and prohibited  uses  and disclosures  of an individual’s protected health information by  health plans, health care clearinghouses, and any health care
provider  that  transmits health information in electronic format  (collectively called "covered entities").    The Security Rule establishes a national security standard for
safeguarding protected health information that is held or transferred in electronic form (called "electronic protected health information"). The Security Rule addresses the
technical and non-technical safeguards that covered entities must implement to secure individuals’ electronic protected health information.

 
 In addition to covered entities, the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (the "HITECH Act") made certain provisions of the Security

Rule, as well as the additional requirements the HITECH Act imposed that relate to security and privacy and that are imposed on covered entities, directly applicable as a matter
of law to individuals and entities that perform permitted functions on behalf of covered entities when those functions involve the use or disclosure of protected health
information.  These individuals and entities are called "business associates."  Covered entities are required to enter into a contract with business associates, called a "business
associate agreement," that also imposes many of the Privacy Rule requirements on business associates as a matter of contract. 

 
Regulations implementing the majority of the requirements created by the HITECH Act were issued in January 2013 (the “Final Rule”). Among other things, the Final

Rule broadened the definition of “business associate” to include subcontractors. As a result, a subcontractor who performs tasks involving the use or disclosure of protected
health information on behalf of a business associate must likewise comply with the same obligations as the business associate.
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The HITECH Act also established notification requirements in the event that a breach of the protected health information occurs at a covered entity or business

associate. These notification obligations mandate that each affected individual whose protected health information was impermissibly accessed receive written notification
mailed to his residence of record and that the Secretary of HHS and potentially the media also be notified. HHS, through its Office for Civil Rights, investigates breach reports
and determines whether administrative or technical modifications are required and whether civil or criminal sanctions should be imposed. Companies failing to comply with
HIPAA and the implementing regulations may also be subject to civil money penalties or in the case of knowing violations, potential criminal penalties, including monetary
fines, imprisonment, or both. In some cases, the State Attorneys General may seek enforcement and appropriate sanctions in federal court.

 
To the extent that  our business requires compliance with HIPAA, we intend to fully comply with all requirements as well as to other  additional federal or

state privacy laws and regulations that may apply to us.       As HIPAA is amended and changed, we will incur additional compliance burdens. We may be required to spend
substantial time and money to ensure compliance with ever-changing federal and state standards as electronic and other means of transmitting protected health information
evolve

 
In addition to the above-described regulation by United States federal and state government, the following are other federal and state laws and regulations that could

directly or indirectly affect our ability to operate the business:
 
·          state and local licensure, registration, and regulation of the development of pharmaceuticals and biologics;
 
·          state and local licensure of medical professionals;
 
·          state statutes and regulations related to the corporate practice of medicine;
 
·          laws and regulations administered by U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) related to the importation of biological material into the United States;
 
·          other laws and regulations administered by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration;
 
·          other laws and regulations administered by the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services;
 
·          state and local laws and regulations governing human subject research and clinical trials;
 
·          the federal physician self-referral prohibition, also known as Stark Law, and any state equivalents to Stark Law;
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·          the federal Anti-Kickback Law and any state equivalent statutes and regulations;
 
·          Federal and state coverage and reimbursement laws and regulations;
 
·          state and local laws and regulations for the disposal and handling of medical waste and biohazardous material;
 
·          Occupational Safety and Health (“OSHA”) regulations and requirements;
 
·          the Intermediate Sanctions rules of the IRS providing for potential financial sanctions with respect to “Excess Benefit Transactions” with HUMC or other tax-

exempt organizations;
 
·                    the Physician Payments Sunshine Act (in the event that our products are classified as drugs, biologics, devices or medical supplies and are reimbursed by

Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program); and
 
·          state and other Federal laws governing the privacy of health information.

 
Any violation of these laws could result in a material adverse effect on our business.
 
In the event we determine to operate in foreign jurisdictions, we will need to comply with the government regulations of each individual country in which our therapy

centers are located and products are to be distributed and sold. These regulations vary in complexity and can be as stringent, and on occasion even more stringent, than FDA
regulations in the United States.  Due to the fact that there are new and emerging cell therapy and cell banking regulations that have recently been drafted and/or implemented
in various countries around the world, the application and subsequent implementation of these new and emerging regulations have little to no precedence. Therefore, the level
of complexity and stringency is not always precisely understood today for each country, creating greater uncertainty for the international regulatory process. Furthermore,
government regulations can change with little to no notice and may result in up-regulation of our product(s), thereby creating a greater regulatory burden for our cell processing
and cell banking technology products. We have not yet thoroughly explored the applicable laws and regulations that we will need to comply with in foreign jurisdictions. It is
possible that we may not be permitted to expand our business into one or more foreign jurisdictions.

  
We intend to conduct our business in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local, and foreign laws and regulations. However, the laws and regulations

affecting our business are complex and often are not contemplated by existing legal régimes. As a result, the laws and regulations affecting our business are uncertain and have
not been the subject of judicial or regulatory interpretation. Furthermore, stem cells and cell therapy are topics of interest in the government and public arenas. There can be no
guarantee that laws and regulations will not be implemented, amended and/or reinterpreted in a way that will negatively affect our business.
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Changing, new and/or emerging government regulations may adversely affect our business.
 

Government regulations can change without notice.  Due to the fact that there are new and emerging cell therapy and cell banking regulations that have recently been
drafted and/or implemented in various countries around the world, the application and subsequent implementation of these new and emerging regulations have little to no
precedence. Therefore, the level of complexity and stringency is not known and may vary from country to country, creating greater uncertainty for the international regulatory
process.

 
Anticipated or unanticipated changes in the way or manner in which the FDA and other similarly situated government authorities regulate services and products or

classes/groups of services and products can delay, further burden, or alleviate regulatory pathways that were once available to other services and products.   There are no
guarantees that such changes to the regulatory process will not deleteriously affect our contemplated operations.

 
The development and commercialization of our product candidates is subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and
abroad, and the failure to receive regulatory approvals for our cell therapy product candidates would likely have a material and adverse effect on our business and
prospects.
 

To date, we have not received regulatory approval to market any of our product candidates in any jurisdiction. If we seek approval of any of our cell therapy product
candidates, we will be required to submit to the FDA and potentially other regulatory authorities extensive pre-clinical and clinical data supporting its safety and efficacy, as
well as information about the manufacturing process and to undergo inspection of our manufacturing facility or other contract manufacturing facilities, among other things. The
process of obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals is expensive, generally takes many years and is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, particularly with complex
and/or novel product candidates such as our cell-based product candidates. Changes in regulatory approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment
of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application or
may make it easier for our competitors to gain regulatory approval to enter the marketplace. Ultimately, the FDA and other regulatory agencies have substantial discretion in the
approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our product candidate data are insufficient for approval without the submission of additional
preclinical, clinical or other studies. In addition, varying agency interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent regulatory
approval of a product candidate. Any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved
product not commercially viable.
 

Any of the following factors, among others, could cause regulatory approval for our product candidates to be delayed, limited or denied:
 

· the product candidates require significant clinical testing to demonstrate safety and effectiveness before applications for marketing approval can be submitted
to the FDA and other regulatory authorities;
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· data obtained from pre-clinical and nonclinical animal testing and clinical trials can be interpreted in different ways, and regulatory authorities may not agree

with our respective interpretations or may require us to conduct additional testing;
 
· negative or inconclusive results or the occurrence of serious or unexpected adverse events during a clinical trial could cause us to delay or terminate

development efforts for a product candidate; and/or
 
· FDA and other regulatory authorities may require expansion of the size and scope of the clinical trials.

 
Any difficulties or failures that we encounter in securing regulatory approval for our product candidates would likely have a substantial adverse impact on our ability to
generate product sales, and could make any search for a collaborative partner more difficult.
 
We may be unsuccessful in our efforts to comply with applicable federal, state and international laws and regulations, which could result in loss of licensure, certification
or accreditation or other government enforcement actions or impact our ability to secure regulatory approval of our product candidates.
 

Although we seek to conduct our business in compliance with applicable governmental healthcare laws and regulations, these laws and regulations are exceedingly
complex and often subject to varying interpretations. The cell therapy industry is the topic of significant government interest, and thus the laws and regulations applicable to our
business are subject to frequent change and/or reinterpretation. As such, there can be no assurance that we will be able, or will have the resources, to maintain compliance with
all such healthcare laws and regulations. Failure to comply with such healthcare laws and regulations, as well as the costs associated with such compliance or with enforcement
of such healthcare laws and regulations, may have a material adverse effect on our operations or may require restructuring of our operations or impair our ability to operate
profitably.
 

Facilities engaged in the recovery, processing, storage, labeling, packaging or distribution of any HCT/Ps, or the screening or testing of a donor, are required to register
with the FDA. Any third party retained by us to process our samples must be similarly registered with the FDA and comply with HCT/P regulations. We also are required to
comply with FDA's cGTP regulations. If we fail to register or update registration information in a timely way, or fail to comply with cGTP regulations, we will be out of
compliance with FDA regulations which could adversely affect our business. FDA's Quality System Regulation, or QSR, similarly governs the manufacture, processing,
packaging and holding of cell therapy products regulated as medical devices. We must comply with cGMP or QSR requirements including quality control, quality assurance
and the maintenance of records and documentation for certain products. We may be unable to comply with these cGMP or QSR requirements and with other FDA, state and
foreign regulatory requirements. These requirements may change over time and we or third-party manufacturers may be unable to comply with the revised requirements.
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If we are unable to conduct clinical studies in accordance with regulations and accepted standards, we may be delayed in receiving, or may never receive, regulatory
approvals of our product candidates from the FDA and other regulatory authorities.
 

To obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates in the United States and abroad, we must, among other requirements, complete adequate and well-controlled
clinical trials sufficient to demonstrate to the FDA and other regulatory bodies that the product candidate is safe and effective for each indication for which approval is sought.
If the FDA finds that patients enrolled in the trial are or would be exposed to an unreasonable and significant risk of illness or injury, due to, among other things, occurrence of
a serious adverse event in an ongoing clinical trial, the FDA can place one or more of our clinical trials on hold. If safety concerns develop, we may, or the FDA or an
institutional review board may require us to, stop the affected trials before completion.
 

The completion of our clinical trials also may be delayed or terminated for a number of other reasons, including if:
 

· third-party clinical investigators do not perform the clinical trials on the anticipated schedule or consistent with the clinical trial protocol, good clinical
practices required by the FDA and other regulatory requirements, or other third parties do not perform data collection and analysis in a timely or accurate
manner;

 
· inspections of clinical trial sites by the FDA or by institutional review boards of research institutions participating in the clinical trials, reveal regulatory

violations that require the sponsor of the trial to undertake corrective action, suspend or terminate one or more sites, or prohibit use of some or all of the data
in support of marketing applications; or

 
· the FDA or one or more institutional review boards suspends or terminates the trial at an investigational site, or precludes enrollment of additional subjects.

 
Our development costs will increase if there are material delays in our clinical trials, or if we are required to modify, suspend, terminate or repeat a clinical trial. If we

are unable to conduct our clinical trials properly, we may never receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates.
 
We will continue to be subject to extensive FDA regulation following any product approvals, and if we fail to comply with these regulations, we may suffer a significant
setback in our business.
 

Even if we are successful in obtaining regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will continue to be subject to the requirements of and review by, the FDA and
comparable regulatory authorities in the areas of manufacturing processes, post-approval clinical data, adverse event reporting, labeling, advertising and promotional activities,
among other things. In addition, any marketing approval we receive may be limited in terms of the approved product indication or require costly post-marketing testing and
surveillance. Discovery after approval of previously unknown problems with a product, manufacturer or manufacturing process, or a failure to comply with regulatory
requirements, may result in actions such as:
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· warning letters or untitled letters or other actions requiring changes in product manufacturing processes or restrictions on product marketing or distribution;
 
· product recalls or seizures or the temporary or permanent withdrawal of a product from the market; and
 
· fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenue, the imposition of civil penalties or criminal prosecution.

 
The occurrence of any of these actions would likely cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
Health care companies have been the subjects of federal and state investigations, and we could become subject to investigations in the future.
 

Both federal and state government agencies have heightened civil and criminal enforcement efforts. There are numerous ongoing investigations of health care
companies, as well as their executives and managers. In addition, amendments to the Federal False Claims Act, including under Healthcare Reform, have made it easier for
private parties to bring “ qui tam ” (whistleblower) lawsuits against companies under which the whistleblower may be entitled to receive a percentage of any money paid to the
government. The Federal False Claims Act provides, in part, that an action can be brought against any person or entity that has knowingly presented, or caused to be presented,
a false or fraudulent request for payment from the federal government, or who has made a false statement or used a false record to get a claim approved. The government has
taken the position that claims presented in violation of the federal anti-kickback law, Stark Law or other healthcare-related laws, including laws enforced by the FDA, may be
considered a violation of the Federal False Claims Act. Penalties include substantial fines for each false claim, plus three times the amount of damages that the federal
government sustained because of the act of that person or entity and/or exclusion from the Medicare program. In addition, a majority of states have adopted similar state
whistleblower and false claims provisions.
 

We are not aware of any government investigations involving any of our facilities or management. While we believe that we are in material compliance with
applicable governmental healthcare laws and regulations, any future investigations of our business or executives could cause us to incur substantial costs, and result in
significant liabilities or penalties, as well as damage to our reputation.
 
It is uncertain to what extent the government, private health insurers and third-party payors will approve coverage or provide reimbursement for the therapies and products
to which our services relate. Availability for such reimbursement may be further limited by an increasing uninsured population and reductions in Medicare and Medicaid
funding in the United States.
 

To the extent that health care providers cannot obtain coverage or reimbursement for our therapies and products, they may elect not to provide such therapies and
products to their patients and, thus, may not need our services. Further, as cost containment pressures are increasing in the health care industry, government and private payors
may adopt strategies designed to limit the amount of reimbursement paid to health care providers.
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Similarly, the trend toward managed health care and bundled pricing for health care services in the United States, could significantly influence the purchase of

healthcare services and products, resulting in lower prices and reduced demand for our therapeutic products under development.
 

We may receive a portion of our revenues from services rendered to patients enrolled in federal health care programs, such as Medicare, and we may also directly or
indirectly receive revenues from federal health care programs. Federal health care programs are subject to changes in coverage and reimbursement rules and procedures,
including retroactive rate adjustments. These contingencies could materially decrease the range of services covered by such programs or the reimbursement rates paid directly
or indirectly for our products and services. To the extent that any health care reform favors the reimbursement of other therapies over our therapeutic products under
development, such reform could affect our ability to sell our services, which may have a material adverse effect on our revenues.

 
The limitation on reimbursement available from private and government payors may reduce the demand for, or the price of, our services, which could have a material

adverse effect on our revenues. Additional legislation or regulation relating to the health care industry or third-party coverage and reimbursement may be enacted in the future
which could adversely affect the revenues generated from the sale of our products and services.

 
Furthermore, there has been a trend in recent years towards reductions in overall funding for Medicare and Medicaid. There has also been an increase in the number of

people who do not have any form of health care coverage in recent years and who are not eligible for or enrolled in Medicare, Medicaid or other governmental programs. The
extent to which the reforms brought about under Healthcare Reform may be successful in reducing the number of such uninsured is unclear, and the reduced funding of
governmental programs and increase in uninsured populations could have a negative impact on the demand for our services to the extent they relate to products and services
which are reimbursed by government and private payors.
 
Unintended consequences of healthcare reform legislation in the United States may adversely affect our business.
 

The healthcare industry is undergoing fundamental changes resulting from political, economic and regulatory influences. In the United States, comprehensive
programs are under consideration that seek to, among other things, increase access to healthcare for the uninsured and control the escalation of healthcare expenditures within
the economy. In 2010, healthcare reform legislation was signed into law. While we do not believe this legislation will have a direct impact on our business, the legislation
requires the adoption of implementing regulations, which may have unintended consequences or indirectly impact our business. For instance, the scope and implications of the
amendments pursuant to the Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009 (“FERA”) have yet to be fully determined or adjudicated and as a result it is difficult to predict how
future enforcement initiatives may impact our business. Also, in some instances our clients may be health insurers that will be subject to limitations on their administrative
expenses and federal review of “unreasonable” rate increases that could impact the prices they pay for our services. If the legislation causes such unintended consequences or
indirect impact, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Competitor companies or hospitals may be able to take advantage of EU rules permitting sales of unlicensed medicines for individual patients to sell competing products
without a marketing authorization.
 

The EU medicines rules allow individual member states to permit the supply of a medicinal product without a marketing authorization to fulfill special needs, where
the product is supplied in response to a bona fide unsolicited order, formulated in accordance with the specifications of a healthcare professional and for use by an individual
patient under his direct personal responsibility.  This may in certain countries also apply to products manufactured in a country outside the EU and imported to treat specific
patients or small groups of patients.  In addition, advanced therapy medicinal products do not need a marketing authorization if they are prepared on a non-routine basis and are
used within the same EU member state in a hospital in accordance with a medical prescription for an individual patient.

 
These exemptions could allow our competitors to make sales in the EU without having obtained a marketing authorization and without undergoing the expense of

clinical trials, especially if those competitors have cell processing facilities in the relevant EU member state.  Similarly, certain hospitals may be able to compete with us on the
basis of these rules.  Because any such sales would be made without a marketing authorization, there would be no need for the competitor company or hospital to refer to the
clinical data in our marketing authorization dossiers, and so any data exclusivity protection that we may obtain for our products would not prevent such competing sales.
 
RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK
 
We pay no dividends.
 

We have never paid cash dividends in the past, and currently do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
 
There is, at present, only a limited market for our common stock and there is no assurance that an active trading market for our common stock will develop.
 

Although our common stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board from time to time, the market for our common stock is extremely limited.  In addition, although
there have been market makers in our securities, we cannot assure that these market makers will continue to make a market in our securities or that other factors outside of our
control will not cause them to stop market making in our securities.   Making a market in securities involves maintaining bid and ask quotations and being able to effect
transactions in reasonable quantities at those quoted prices, subject to various securities laws and other regulatory requirements. Furthermore, the development and maintenance
of a public trading market depends upon the existence of willing buyers and sellers, the presence of which is not within our control or that of any market maker. Market
makers are not required to maintain a continuous two-sided market, are required to honor firm quotations for only a limited number of shares, and are free to withdraw firm
quotations at any time. Even with a market maker, factors such as our past losses from operations and the small size of our company mean that there can be no assurance of an
active and liquid market for our securities developing in the foreseeable future. Even if a market develops, we cannot assure that a market will continue, or that shareholders
will be able to resell their securities at any price.
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Since our common stock is classified as “penny stock,” the restrictions of the SEC’s penny stock regulations may result in less liquidity for our common stock.

 
The SEC has adopted regulations which define a “penny stock” to be any equity security that has a market price (as therein defined) of less than $5.00 per share or an

exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions.  For any transactions involving a penny stock, unless exempt, the rules require the delivery, prior to any
transaction involving a penny stock by a retail customer, of a disclosure schedule prepared by the SEC relating to the penny stock market.  Disclosure is also required to be
made about commissions payable to both the broker/dealer and the registered representative and current quotations for the securities.  Finally, monthly statements are required
to be sent disclosing recent price information for the penny stock held in the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks.   Because the market price for
shares of our common stock is less than $5.00, and we do not satisfy any of the exceptions to the SEC’s definition of penny stock, our common stock is classified as a penny
stock.  As a result of the penny stock restrictions, brokers or potential investors may be reluctant to trade in our securities, which may result in less liquidity for our common
stock.

 
Shareholders who hold unregistered shares of our common stock are subject to resale restrictions pursuant to Rule 144 due to our former status as a “shell company.
 

Pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Rule 144”), a “shell company” is defined as a company that has no or nominal
operations and either no or nominal assets, assets consisting solely of cash and cash equivalents or assets consisting of any amount of cash and cash equivalents and nominal
other assets. We previously were a “shell company” pursuant to Rule 144, and, as such, sales of our securities pursuant to Rule 144 cannot be made unless, among other things,
we continue to remain subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and we file all of our required periodic reports
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Exchange Act. Because our unregistered securities cannot be sold pursuant to Rule 144 unless we
continue to meet such requirements, any unregistered securities we sell in the future or issue to consultants or employees, in consideration for services rendered or for any other
purpose, will have no liquidity unless we continue to comply with such requirements. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to obtain financing to fund our operations and
pay our consultants and employees with our securities instead of cash.
 
In the event that a significant amount of our outstanding debt is converted into equity, the percentage ownership of existing stockholders will be substantially diluted.
 

As of March 31, 2015, we had outstanding indebtedness in the amount of $5,831,496. We intend to seek to have the debtholders convert all or a significant amount of
such debt into equity. In the event of any such conversion, the percentage ownership of existing stockholders will be substantially diluted.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
 

Not applicable.
 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
 
The financial statements required by this Item 8 are included in this Annual Report following Item 15 hereof. As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to

provide supplementary financial information.
 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
 

None.
 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Disclosure controls are procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange
Act, such as this Annual Report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls are also
designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Principal Executive and Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Internal controls are procedures which are designed with the objective of providing reasonable assurance
that (1) our transactions are properly authorized, recorded and reported; and (2) our assets are safeguarded against unauthorized or improper use, to permit the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles.
 

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report, management, with the participation of our Principal Executive and Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)). Based upon that evaluation, our
Principal Executive and Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2014, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
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Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange

Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Principal Executive and Financial Officer, and effected by the Board of
Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP including those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect our transactions and the disposition of our assets, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and Board of
Directors, and (iii)  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.  

 
  Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies and
procedures may deteriorate.  

 
  Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the 1992 framework in Internal Control –

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2014.

 
Changes in Internal Controls

 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended

December 31, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
Limitations of the Effectiveness of Control
 

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Because of the inherent limitations of any control system, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within a company have been
detected.

 
No Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

This Annual Report does not contain an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting since
the rules for smaller reporting companies provide for this exemption.
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
 

None.
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PART III

 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
 
Directors and Executive Officers

 
Information regarding our directors and executive officers is set forth below. Each of our officers devotes his or her full business time in providing services on our

behalf.
 

Name    Age   Positions Held 
Mark Weinreb   62   Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board
Edward L. Field   50   President, Disc/Spine Division
Francisco Silva   40   Vice President of Research and Development
Mandy D. Clyde   33   Vice President of Operations and Secretary
A. Jeffrey Radov   63   Director
Joseph Swiader   55   Director
Paul Jude Tonna   56   Director
 

Mark Weinreb
 

Mark Weinreb has served as our Chief Executive Officer since October 2010, as our President since February 2012 and as our Chairman of the Board since April 2011.
From February 2003 to October 2009, Mr. Weinreb served as President of NeoStem, Inc., a public international biopharmaceutical company engaged in, among other things,
adult stem cell-related operations. From October 2009 to October 2010, he was subject to a non-competition agreement with NeoStem and was not engaged in business. Mr.
Weinreb also served as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of NeoStem from February 2003 to June 2006. In 1976, Mr. Weinreb joined Bio Health
Laboratories, Inc., a state-of-the-art medical diagnostic laboratory providing clinical testing services for physicians, hospitals, and other medical laboratories. He became the
laboratory administrator in 1978 and then an owner and the laboratory’s Chief Operating Officer in 1982. In such capacity, he oversaw all technical and business facets,
including finance and laboratory science technology. Mr. Weinreb left Bio Health Laboratories in 1989 when the business was sold. In 1992, Mr. Weinreb founded Big City
Bagels, Inc., a national chain of franchised upscale bagel bakeries and became Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of such entity. Big City Bagels went public in 1995, and
in 1999 Mr. Weinreb redirected the company and completed a merger with an Internet service provider. From 2000 to 2002, Mr. Weinreb served as Chief Executive Officer of
Jestertek, Inc. (now known as Gesturetek, Inc.), a software development company pioneering gesture recognition and control using advanced interactive proprietary video
technology. Mr. Weinreb received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Northwestern University and a Master of Science degree in Medical Biology from C.W. Post, Long Island
University. We believe that Mr. Weinreb’s executive-level management experience, his extensive experience in the adult stem cell sector and his service on our Board since
October 2010 give him the qualifications and skills to serve as one of our directors.
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Edward L. Field

 
Edward L. Field has served as President of our Disc/Spine Division since February 2015. Mr. Field served as Chief Operating Officer of Cytomedix, Inc. (now known

as Nuo Therapeutics, Inc.), a regenerative therapies marketing and development company, from February 2012 to June 2014. From November 2004 to March 2010, Mr. Field
served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Aldagen, Inc., a biotechnology company acquired by Cytomedix. From March 2010 to November 2010, he served as
Aldagen’s Chief Business Officer. From November 2010 to February 2012, Mr. Field served as Aldagen’s Chief Operating Officer. From 2002 to September 2004, Mr. Field
was President and Chief Executive Officer of Inologic, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company. From 1999 to 2002, he was President of Molecumetics, Ltd., a drug discovery and
development subsidiary of Tredegar Corporation, until its merger with Therics, LLC, a regenerative medicine company. Mr. Field received a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of Virginia’s Darden School of Business Administration and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Duke University.
 

Francisco Silva
 

Francisco Silva served as our Vice President of Research and Development from April 2011 until March 2012 and has served in such position since March 2013. He
served as our Research Scientist from March 2012 to June 2012 and as our Chief Scientist from June 2012 to March 2013. From 2007 to 2011, Mr. Silva served as Chief
Executive Officer of DV Biologics LLC, and as President of DaVinci Biosciences, LLC, companies engaged in the commercialization of human based biologics for both
research and therapeutic applications. From 2003 to 2007, Mr. Silva served as Vice President of Research and Development for PrimeGen Biotech LLC, a company engaged in
the development of cell based platforms. From 2002 to 2003, he was a Research Scientist with PrimeGen Biotech and was responsible for the development of experimental
designs that focused on germ line reprogramming stem cell platforms. Mr. Silva has taught courses in biology, anatomy and advanced tissue culture at California State
Polytechnic University. He has obtained a number of patents relating to stem cells and has had numerous articles published with regard to stem cell research. Mr. Silva
graduated from California State Polytechnic University with a degree in Biology. He also obtained a Graduate Presidential Fellowship and MBRS Fellowship from California
State Polytechnic University.
 

Mandy D. Clyde
 

Mandy D. Clyde has been our Vice President of Operations since August 2009.  She has served as our Secretary since December 2010 and served on our Board from
September 2010 to April 2011. From 2006 to 2009, Ms. Clyde served as Educational Envoy and then CME/CE Coordinator for Professional Resources in Management
Education, an accredited provider of continuing medical education.  She conducted needs assessments nationally to determine in which areas clinicians most needed current
education.   She also oversaw onsite educational meetings and analyzed data for outcomes reporting.   From 2005 to 2006, Ms. Clyde served as surgical coordinator for Eye
Surgery Associates and the Rand Eye Institute, two prominent physician practices in Florida.  Ms. Clyde has experience in medical editing for educational programs and is a
published author of advanced scientific and clinical content on topics including Alzheimer’s disease, breast cancer, sleep apnea and adult learning.  She received a degree in
Biology from Mercyhurst College.  
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A. Jeffrey Radov

 
A. Jeffrey Radov became a member of our Board and Chair of our Audit Committee in April 2011. Mr. Radov is an entrepreneur and businessman with 35 years of

experience in media, communications and financial endeavors. Since 2002, he has served as the Managing Partner of Walworth Group, which provides consulting and advisory
services to a variety of businesses, including hedge funds, media, entertainment and Internet companies, financial services firms and early stage ventures. Mr. Radov is also an
advisor to GeekVentures, LLC, an incubator for technology startups in Israel. From 2008 to 2010, Mr. Radov was a Principal and Chief Operating Officer at Aldebaran
Investments, LLC, a registered investment advisor. From 2005 to 2008, Mr. Radov was Chief Operating Officer at EagleRock Capital Management, a group of hedge funds.
Prior to joining EagleRock, Mr. Radov was a founding investor in and Board member of Edusoft, Inc., an educational software company. From 2001 to 2002, Mr. Radov was a
Founder-in-Residence at SAS Investors, an early-stage venture fund. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Radov was CEO and co-founder of VocaLoca, Inc., an innovator in consumer-
generated audio content on the Internet. Mr. Radov was a founding executive of About.Com, Inc., an online information source, and was its EVP of Business Development and
Chief Financial Officer from its inception. In 1996, prior to founding About.Com, Mr. Radov was a Director at Prodigy Systems Company, a joint venture of IBM and Sears.
Mr. Radov was also a principal in the management of a series of public limited partnerships that invested in the production and distribution of more than 130 major motion
pictures. From 1982 to 1984, Mr. Radov was the Director of Finance at Rainbow Programming Enterprises, a joint venture among Cablevision Systems Corporation, Cox
Broadcasting and Daniels & Associates. From 1977 to 1981, Mr. Radov was Director of Marketing at Winklevoss & Associates. Mr. Radov earned a Masters of Business
Administration from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Cornell University. We believe that Mr. Radov’s
executive-level management experience and his extensive experience in the finance industry give him the qualifications and skills to serve as one of our directors.
 

Joseph B. Swiader
 

Joseph B. Swiader became a member of our Board and Chair of our Nominating Committee in June 2014. Mr. Swiader has extensive experience in both the financial
and biotechnology sectors. He is currently managing partner of Wet Earth Partners LLC (“Wet Earth Partners”), which he founded in 2002. Wet Earth Partners invests in a
range of ventures that include biotechnology, medical technology and consumer products. Previously he was a partner at Feirstein Capital Management, where he oversaw
investments in biotechnology, pharmaceutical, medical technology and healthcare services companies. Earlier, Mr. Swiader was the Senior Global Healthcare Analyst at
Scudder, Stevens & Clark (now part of Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management). Mr. Swiader was also a biotechnology and pharmaceutical analyst for the Dreyfus group of
funds. He began his investment career in 1992 as a biotechnology analyst at JP Morgan Securities. Mr. Swiader received a Bachelor of Science degree in finance from Babson
College. We believe that Mr. Swiader’s executive-level management experience and his extensive experience in the finance industry give him the qualifications and skills to
serve as one of our directors.
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Paul Jude Tonna

 
Paul Jude Tonna became a member of our Board and Chair of our Compensation Committee in June 2014. Mr. Tonna is a highly regarded community leader and an

accomplished businessman with an extensive history of public service. From 1994 to 2005 he served as a Suffolk County, New York Legislator, and from 2000 through 2002
was its Presiding Officer. He currently serves as Executive Director and a member of the Board of Advisors for The Energeia Partnership at Molloy College, a leadership
academy based in Rockville Centre, New York, dedicated to identifying and addressing the serious, complex and multi-dimensional issues challenging the Long Island region.
Mr. Tonna is a former Adjunct Professor in Theology & Religious Studies at St. John’s University. He served as Chairman of the Suffolk County Industrial Development
Agency, and currently serves as Trustee of the Long Island State Parks & Recreation Commission and as Public Trustee of the Stationary Engineers Industry Stabilization Fund.
Mr. Tonna is a board member of The Advanced Energy Research & Technology Center at Stony Brook University, The Long Island Index Advisory Board and Erase Racism’s
College of Advisors. He also serves as the Executive Director of the Suffolk County Village Officials Association and the United States Green Building Council-Long Island
Chapter. Mr. Tonna is a founding director of Empire National Bank and Chairman and Commissioner of the South Huntington Water District. Mr. Tonna holds an undergraduate
degree in philosophy from New York University and a Master’s degree in theology from Immaculate Conception Seminary, and he conducted doctoral studies in systemic
theology at Fordham University. We believe that Mr. Tonna’s executive-level management experience and his extensive experience in the Long Island community give him the
qualifications and skills to serve as one of our directors.
 
Scientific Advisors
 

Scientific Advisory Board
 

The following persons are the members of our Scientific Advisory Board:
 

Name   Principal Positions
     
Wayne Marasco, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman

  Professor, Department of Cancer Immunology & AIDS, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute;
Professor of Medicine, Harvard Medical School;
Principal Faculty Member, Harvard Stem Cell Institute

     

Amit Patel, M.D.
 

  Associate Professor, Division of Cardiothoracic Surgery, University of Utah School of Medicine;
Director of Clinical Regenerative Medicine and Tissue Engineering, University of Utah

     

Naiyer Imam, M.D.   Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Advanced Medical Imaging and Teleradiology, LLC
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Wayne J. Olan, M.D.   Director, Endovascular and Minimally Invasive Image Guided Neurosurgery;
Associate Professor, Neurosurgery and Radiology, George Washington University Medical Center;
Consulting Physician, Department of Radiology, National Institutes of Health

     

Joy Cavagnaro, Ph.D., DABT, RAC   President and Founder, Access BIO, L.C.; Fellow, Academy of Toxicological Sciences and the
Regulatory Professional Society;
Formerly Senior Pharmacologist and Director of Quality Assurance, Food and Drug Administration’s
Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research

 
Chief Medical Advisor for Spine Medicine

 
Gregory E. Lutz, M.D. serves as our Chief Medical Advisor for Spine Medicine. Dr. Lutz is Associate Professor of Clinical Rehabilitation Medicine, Weill Medical

College of Cornell. He is the Physiatrist-in-Chief Emeritus for Hospital for Special Surgery (“HSS”) and is a member of its board of trustees. Dr. Lutz is also consulting
physician to the National Hockey League Players’ Association. He has been in practice at HSS since 1993. In 1997, Dr. Lutz established the Physiatry Department at HSS and
became Physiatrist-in-Chief.
 
Family Relationships
 

There are no family relationships among any of our executive officers and directors.
 
Term of Office
 

We have a classified Board of Directors. The directors will hold office until the respective annual meetings of stockholders indicated below and until their respective
successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal.
 

Name   Class   Term Expires
         

Mark Weinreb   III   2017
A. Jeffrey Radov   III   2017
Joseph Swiader   I   2015
Paul Jude Tonna   II   2016

 
Each executive officer will hold office until the initial meeting of the Board of Directors following the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor is

elected and qualified or until his earlier resignation or removal.
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Audit Committee
 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our financial
statements. The members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Radov (Chair) and Tonna.
 
Audit Committee Financial Expert
 

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Radov is an “audit committee financial expert,” as that is defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K Mr. Radov is an
“independent director” based on the definition of independence in Listing Rule 5605(a)(2) of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
 

Section 16 of the Exchange Act requires that reports of beneficial ownership of common stock and changes in such ownership be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission by Section 16 “reporting persons,” including directors, certain officers, holders of more than 10% of the outstanding common stock and certain trusts of
which reporting persons are trustees. We are required to disclose in this Annual Report each reporting person whom we know to have failed to file any required reports under
Section 16 on a timely basis during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. To our knowledge, based solely on a review of copies of Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and written representations that no other reports were required, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, our officers, directors and 10%
stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to them, except that Janet H. Montgomery and Stuart H. Montgomery, then a 10% stockholder, filed
their Form 3 late and Mr. Tonna filed one Form 4 late in which he reported one transaction (the purchase of common stock and warrants from us).
 
Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers
 

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar functions. A copy of the Code of Ethics is posted on our website, www.biorestorative.com. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item
5.05(c) of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or a waiver from, our Code of Ethics by posting such information on our website, www.biorestorative.com.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
 
Summary Compensation Table
 

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth all compensation earned in all capacities during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 by our (i)
principal executive officer, and (ii) all other executive officers, other than our principal executive officer, whose total compensation for the 2014 fiscal year, as determined by
Regulation S-K, Item 402, exceeded $100,000 (the individuals falling within categories (i) and (ii) are collectively referred to as the “Named Executive Officers”):
 
                                Option                          

Name and Principal       Salary     Bonus     Awards     All Other Compensation     Total  
Position   Year   Earned     Waived     Earned     Waived     Earned     Earned     Waived     Earned     Waived  

Mark Weinreb,   2014   $ 450,000(1)  $ -    $ 225,000(3)  $ -    $ 1,097,000(4)  $ 34,400(1)   $ -    $ 1,806,400(1)  $ - 
Chief Executive Officer   2013   $ 360,000(2)  $ 240,000(2)  $ -(3)  $ 300,000(3)  $ 50,550(4)  $ 14,400(2)   $ 25,000(2)  $ 424,950    $ 565,000(2)

Francisco Silva,   2014   $ 230,000    $ -    $ 25,000    $ -    $ 283,558(4)  $ -    $ -    $ 538,558    $ - 
VP of Research and Development   2013   $ 230,000    $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 20,220(4)  $ -    $ -    $ 250,220    $ - 

Mandy Clyde,   2014   $ 118,000    $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 86,825(4)  $ -    $ -    $ 204,825    $ - 
VP of Operations   2013   $ 118,000    $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 16,176(4)  $ -    $ -    $ 134,176    $ - 

 
(1) Of the aggregate $1,806,400 earned during 2014, $1,097,000 represents the grant date value of non-cash stock-based compensation awards, irrespective of the vesting

period of those awards. Of the $709,400 earned cash compensation, $135,122 and $78,921 were paid in cash during 2014 and 2015 (prior to this Annual Report being
filed), respectively, and $495,357 remains unpaid. All Other Compensation represents $14,400 of automobile allowance paid to, and $20,000 of unpaid vacation for,
Mr. Weinreb in 2014.

 
(2) Of the aggregate $989,950 payable for services rendered during 2013, (a) $240,000, $300,000 and $25,000 in salary, bonus and unpaid vacation, respectively, were

waived by Mr. Weinreb and (b) $50,550 represents the grant date value of non-cash stock-based compensation awards, irrespective of the vesting period of those
awards. Of the $374,400 earned cash compensation, $14,400 and $360,000 were paid in cash during 2013 and 2014, respectively, and none remains unpaid. All Other
Compensation-Earned represents the automobile allowance paid to Mr. Weinreb in 2013.

 
(3) Pursuant to Mr. Weinreb’s employment agreement with us, he earned a bonus for 2013 and 2014 equal to 50% of his annual salary. See “Employment Agreement”

below. Mr. Weinreb waived his entitlement to receive a bonus for 2013.
 
(4) The amounts reported in these columns represent the grant date fair value of the option awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,

calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a detailed discussion of the assumptions used in estimating fair values, see Note 10 – Stockholders’
Deficiency in the notes that accompany our consolidated financial statements.

 
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
 

The following table provides information on outstanding equity awards as of December 31, 2014 to the Named Executive Officers:
 

77



 

 
    Option Awards   Stock Awards  
                                                 Equity  
                                                 incentive  
                                                 plan  
                                                 awards:  
                                           Equity     Market or  
                Equity                          incentive     payout  
                incentive plan                         plan awards:     value of  
                awards:                          Number of     unearned  
    Number of     Number of     Number of              Number of     Market     unearned     shares,  
    securities     securities     securities              shares or     value of     shares,     units or  
    underlying     underlying     underlying              units of     shares of     units or     other  
    unexercised     unexercised     unexercised     Option     Option   stock that     units that     other rights     rights that  
    options     options     unearned     exercise     expiration   have not     have not     that have not     have not  

Name   exercisable     unexercisable     options     price     date   vested     vested     vested     vested  
Mark Weinreb     80,000      -      -    $ 0.50    12/14/2020    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mark Weinreb     1,000,000      -      -    $ 1.05    2/10/2022    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mark Weinreb     400,000      -      -    $ 1.50    12/7/2022    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mark Weinreb     250,000      -      -    $ 0.60    10/4/2023    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mark Weinreb     333,334      666,666(1)    -    $ 0.65    2/18/2024    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mark Weinreb     -      3,000,000(2)    -    $ 0.33    10/23/2024    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     80,000      -      -    $ 0.50    4/4/2021    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     3,000      -      -    $ 1.25    6/23/2021    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     20,000      -      -    $ 1.00    11/16/2021    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     40,000      -      -    $ 1.05    2/10/2022    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     80,000      10,000(3)    60,000(4)  $ 1.40    5/2/2022    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     80,000      -      -    $ 1.50    12/7/2022    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     100,000      -      -    $ 0.60    10/4/2023    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     83,334      166,666(5)    -    $ 0.65    2/18/2024    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     40,000      -      -    $ 0.53    3/12/2024    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Francisco Silva     -      750,000(6)    -    $ 0.33    10/23/2024    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mandy Clyde     80,000      -      -    $ 0.50    12/14/2020    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mandy Clyde     6,000      -      -    $ 1.00    4/20/2021    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mandy Clyde     30,000      -      -    $ 1.05    2/9/2022    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mandy Clyde     50,000      -      -    $ 1.50    12/7/2022    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mandy Clyde     80,000      -      -    $ 0.60    10/4/2023    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mandy Clyde     41,667      83,333(7)    -    $ 0.65    2/18/2024    -    $ -      -    $ - 
                                                            
Mandy Clyde     -      200,000(8)    -    $ 0.33    10/23/2024    -    $ -      -    $ - 
 
 

 
(1) Option is exercisable to the extent of 333,333 shares effective as of each of February 18, 2015 and February 18, 2016.
 
(2) Option is exercisable to the extent of 1,000,000 shares effective as of each of October 23, 2015, October 23, 2016 and October 23, 2017.
 
(3) Option is exercisable effective as of May 3, 2015.
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(4) Options are exercisable commencing on the date (provided that such date is during Mr. Silva’s employment with us), if any, on which either (i) the United States Food

and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) approves our Biologics License Application with respect to any biologic product or (ii) a 510(k) Premarket Notification
submission is made by us to the FDA with respect to a certain device.

 
(5) Option is exercisable to the extent of 83,333 shares effective as of each of February 18, 2015 and February 18, 2016.
 
(6) Option is exercisable to the extent of 250,000 shares effective as of each of October 23, 2015, October 23, 2016 and October 23, 2017.
 
(7) Option is exercisable to the extent of 41,667 shares effective as of February 18, 2015 and 41,666 shares effective as of February 18, 2016.
 
(8) Option is exercisable to the extent of 66,667 shares effective as of each of October 23, 2015 and October 23, 2016 and 66,666 shares effective as of October 23, 2017.
 
Employment Agreements

 
In March 2015, we entered into an employment agreement with Mark Weinreb, our Chief Executive Officer. Pursuant to the employment agreement, which expires on

December 31, 2017, Mr. Weinreb is entitled to receive a salary of $400,000 per annum. Mr. Weinreb is entitled to receive an annual bonus for 2015 equal to 50% of his annual
base salary and an annual bonus for the years 2016 and 2017 equal to 50% of his annual base salary in the event certain performance goals, as determined by our Compensation
Committee, are satisfied. Pursuant to the employment agreement, in the event that Mr. Weinreb’s employment is terminated by us without “cause”, or Mr. Weinreb terminates
his employment for “good reason” (each as defined in the employment agreement), Mr. Weinreb would be entitled to receive severance in an amount equal to one time his then
annual base salary and certain benefits, plus $100,000 (in lieu of bonus). In addition, pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Weinreb would be entitled to receive such
severance in the event that the term of his employment agreement is not extended beyond December 31, 2017 and, within three months of such expiration date, his employment
is terminated by us without “cause” or Mr. Weinreb terminates his employment for any reason. Further, in the event that Mr. Weinreb’s employment is terminated by us without
“cause”, or Mr. Weinreb terminates his employment for “good reason”, following a “change in control” (as defined in the employment agreement), Mr. Weinreb would be
entitled to receive severance in an amount equal to one and one-half times his then annual base salary and certain benefits, plus $300,000 (in lieu of bonus).

 
Effective April 5, 2011, we entered into an at will employment agreement with Francisco Silva, our Vice President of Research and Development. Pursuant to the

employment agreement, as amended, Mr. Silva is currently entitled to receive a salary of $250,000 per annum. In addition, pursuant to the employment agreement, as amended
in March 2015, Mr. Silva is entitled to receive an annual bonus of up to 20% of his annual salary based on the satisfaction of certain performance goals. Further, pursuant to the
employment agreement, as amended, in the event that Mr. Silva’s employment with us is terminated without cause, Mr. Silva would be entitled to receive a cash severance
amount in an amount equal to 50% of his then annual base salary.
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Effective December 1, 2010, we entered into an at will employment agreement with Mandy Clyde, our Vice President of Operations. Pursuant to the employment

agreement, as amended, Ms. Clyde is currently entitled to receive a salary of $118,000 per annum. Further, pursuant to the employment agreement, in the event that Ms. Clyde’s
employment with us is terminated without cause, Ms. Clyde would be entitled to receive a cash severance amount of $50,000.

 
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

 
The following table sets forth certain information concerning the compensation of our non-employee directors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014:

 
                            Nonqualified              
    Fees Earned                 Non-Equity     Deferred              
    or Paid in     Stock     Option     Incentive Plan     Compensation     All Other        

Name   Cash     Awards     Awards (1)     Compensation     Earnings     Compensation     Total  
A. Jeffrey Radov   $ 40,000    $ -    $ 404,800(2)  $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 444,800 
Joel San Antonio (3)   $ 20,000    $ -    $ 213,550(4)  $ -    $ -    $ 20,000(5)  $ 253,550 
Joseph B. Swiader (6)   $ 20,000    $ -    $ 215,700(7)  $ -    $ -    $ 45,000(8)  $ 280,700 
Paul Jude Tonna (6)   $ 20,000    $ -    $ 215,700(7)  $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 235,700 

  
(1) The amounts reported in this column represent the grant date fair value of the option awards granted during the year ended December 31, 2014, calculated in

accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a detailed discussion of the assumptions used in estimating fair values, see Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency in the notes
that accompany our consolidated financial statements.

 
(2) As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Radov held options for the purchase of 2,450,000 shares of common stock.
 
(3) Mr. San Antonio resigned as a director in June 2014.

 
(4) As of December 31, 2014, Mr. San Antonio held options for the purchase of 1,450,000 shares of common stock. Includes $96,250 incremental fair value of outstanding

options held by Mr. San Antonio which were modified pursuant to his resignation agreement.
 

(5) Pursuant to an agreement entered into with Mr. San Antonio in June 2014 in connection with his resignation, we agreed to pay Mr. San Antonio $80,000 (including
$20,000 and $40,000 for director services rendered during 2014 and 2013, respectively). We also agreed that all outstanding options held by Mr. San Antonio which
were not then exercisable would vest and that all outstanding options would remain exercisable until their respective expiration dates notwithstanding his resignation.
 

(6) Messrs. Swiader and Tonna were elected directors in June 2014.
 

(7) As of December 31, 2014, each of Messrs. Swiader and Tonna held options for the purchase of 800,000 shares of common stock.
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(8) Represents $15,000 of earned consulting fees paid in stock to, and $30,000 of unpaid cash consulting fees earned by, Wet Earth Partners LLC, an entity owned by Mr.

Swiader.
 
Each of Messrs. Radov, Swiader and Tonna, our non-employee directors, is entitled to receive, as compensation for his services as a director, $30,000 per annum plus

$10,000 per annum for all committee service, in each case payable quarterly (subject to our cash needs).
 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
 
Principal Stockholders
 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock, as of March 30, 2015, known by us, through transfer agent
records, to be held by: (i) each person who beneficially owns 5% or more of the shares of common stock then outstanding; (ii) each of our directors; (iii) each of our Named
Executive Officers (as defined above); and (iv) all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

 
The information in this table reflects “beneficial ownership” as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act. To our knowledge, and unless otherwise indicated, each

shareholder has sole voting power and investment power over the shares listed as beneficially owned by such shareholder, subject to community property laws where
applicable. Percentage ownership is based on 37,149,052 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 30, 2015.

 
Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner  

Number of Shares
Beneficially Owned    

Approximate
Percent of Class  

             

Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd.
Westbury Trust
Victoria Hall
11 Victoria Street
Hamilton, HMEX Bermuda     5,165,000(1)    13.5%
               

Mark Weinreb
40 Marcus Drive
Melville, New York     4,096,667(2)    10.4%
               

Janet H. and Stuart H. Montgomery
2212 Paget Circle
Naples, Florida     2,754,428(3)    7.2%
               

A. Jeffrey Radov
8 Walworth Avenue
Scarsdale, New York     1,533,334(4)    4.0%
               

Francisco Silva
40 Marcus Drive
Melville, New York     619,667(5)    1.6%
               

Mandy Clyde
40 Marcus Drive
Melville, New York     329,334(5)   

 
 

* 
               

Joseph B. Swiader
6 Baldwin Road
Middletown, Rhode Island     303,767(6)   

 
 

* 
               

Paul Jude Tonna
69 Chichester Road
Huntington, New York     249,000(7)   

 
 

* 
               

All directors and executive officers as a group (7 persons)     7,131,769(8)    17.0%
 
 

 
*  Less than 1%
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(1) Based upon Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and other information known to us. Includes 1,050,000 shares of common

stock issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable warrants. The shares and warrants are owned directly by Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd. which is 100% owned by
Westbury Trust.

 
(2) Includes 2,396,667 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are exercisable currently or within 60 days.
 
(3) Based upon Schedule 13G filed with the SEC and other information known to us. Includes for Janet H. Montgomery (i) 30,000 shares of common stock held in a

retirement account for her benefit, (ii) 1,625,000 shares of common stock owned jointly with Stuart H. Montgomery, (iii) 250,000 shares of common stock subject to
currently exercisable warrants held jointly with Stuart H. Montgomery, (iv) 162,857 shares of common stock owned by Vintage Holidays L.L.C. (“Vintage”), of which
Janet H. Montgomery is the manager, and (v) 650,000 shares of common stock subject to currently exercisable warrants held by Vintage. Includes for Stuart H.
Montgomery (i) 34,478 shares of common stock held in a retirement account for his benefit, (ii) 1,625,000 shares of common stock owned jointly with Janet H.
Montgomery and (iii) 250,000 shares of common stock subject to currently exercisable warrants held jointly with Janet H. Montgomery. Janet H. Montgomery has
sole voting and dispositive power over 842,857 shares of common stock and shared voting and dispositive power over 1,875,000 shares of common stock. Stuart H.
Montgomery has sole voting and dispositive power over 36,571 shares of common stock and shared voting and dispositive power over 1,875,000 shares of common
stock.

 
(4) Includes 1,283,334 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are exercisable currently or within 60 days.
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(5) Represents shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are exercisable currently or within 60 days.
 
(6) Includes (i) 158,767 shares of common stock owned by Wet Earth Partners LLC (“Wet Earth”), an entity owned by Mr. Swiader, (ii) 100,000 shares of common stock

issuable upon the exercise of options that are exercisable currently or within 60 days and (iii) 25,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants
held by Wet Earth that are currently exercisable. Does not include shares of common stock to be issued to Wet Earth in connection with a Consulting Agreement
entered into with us on October 14, 2014. Pursuant to the Consulting Agreement, Wet Earth is to be issued shares of common stock having an aggregate fair market
value of $5,000 on March 31, 2015. The exact number of shares to be issued cannot be determined until the date of issuance. For additional information regarding the
Consulting Agreement, see “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” below.

 
(7) Represents (i) 112,000 shares of common stock held jointly with Mr. Tonna’s wife, (ii) 7,000 shares of common stock held by Mr. Tonna’s children and (iii) 130,000

shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants that are exercisable currently or within 60 days.
 
(8) Includes 4,884,002 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants that are exercisable currently or within 60 days.
 
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
 

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2014 with respect to compensation plans (including individual compensation arrangements) under
which our common stock are authorized for issuance, aggregated as follows:
 

· All compensation plans previously approved by security holders; and
· All compensation plans not previously approved by security holders.
 

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
 

                Number of securities  
    Number of securities           remaining available for  
    to be issued upon     Weighted-average     future issuance under  
    exercise of     exercise price of     equity compensation plans  
    outstanding options     outstanding options     (excluding securities  
    (a)     (b)     reflected in column (a))  
                   
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders     15,584,000    $ 0.61      3,516,000 
                      
Total     15,584,000    $ 0.61      3,516,000 
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

 
Westbury
 

In March 2013, Stem Cell Cayman, Ltd. (“Cayman”), one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, borrowed $450,000 from Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd. (“Westbury”), one of
our principal stockholders which, as of March 30, 2015 beneficially owned 13.5% of our common stock. The loan amount was combined with the already outstanding
$3,550,000 of previous borrowings from Westbury into a new $4,000,000 zero coupon note (the “$4,000,000 Note”) which was scheduled to mature on July 31, 2014. In
consideration of the $450,000 loan, the settlement of accrued and unpaid interest of $213,000, and for extending the maturity date of the note to July 31, 2014, we issued to
Westbury 600,000 shares of common stock and a five year warrant to purchase 400,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.50 per share. In August 2014, in
consideration of an extension of the maturity date of the $4,000,000 Note to December 31, 2014, we issued to Westbury 550,000 shares of common stock. In December 2014,
in consideration of a further extension of the maturity date of the $4,000,000 Note to June 30, 2015, we issued to Westbury 450,000 shares of common stock.
 

In May 2014, Cayman borrowed an additional $500,000 from Westbury. The promissory note evidencing the loan (the “$500,000 Note”) provides for the payment of
the principal amount, together with interest at the rate of 15% per annum, on May 7, 2015. The $500,000 Note also provides for the mandatory prepayment of the principal
amount to the extent of any monies received by us pursuant to the Research and Development Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2014, between Rohto Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
and us and/or the Research Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2014, between Pfizer Inc. and us. Pursuant to such provision, $89,063 in principal has been prepaid. Interest on
the entire principal amount of the $500,000 Note is payable until such time as the principal amount is paid in full.

 
In December 2013, pursuant to a warrant repricing program implemented by us with respect to all outstanding and exercisable warrants, Westbury exercised warrants

for the purchase of 800,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.30 per share. In connection with the warrant exercise, we granted to Westbury a new warrant
for the purchase of 800,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share. The new warrant is exercisable until December 31, 2015 and can be redeemed
by us under certain circumstances.

 
In February 2015, we sold 1,000,000 shares of common stock to Westbury at an aggregate purchase price of $300,000. In consideration of the purchase, we issued to

Westbury a five year warrant for the purchase of 250,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share.
 
Others
 

In February 2011, we entered into a Consulting Agreement with Vintage Holidays L.L.C. (“Vintage”), a company owned by Janet H. Montgomery and Stuart H.
Montgomery, two of our principal stockholders, and of which Janet H. Montgomery is the manager. On June 27, 2014, in consideration of services rendered by Vintage and the
cancellation by Vintage of $65,000 in accrued compensation, we issued to Janet H. Montgomery and Stuart H. Montgomery 500,000 shares of common stock and issued to
Vintage a five year warrant for the purchase of 250,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share.
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In October 2014, we entered into a Consulting Agreement with Wet Earth Partners LLC (“Wet Earth”), an entity owned by Mr. Swiader, one of our non-employee

directors. The Consulting Agreement expires on March 31, 2015. Pursuant to the terms of the Consulting Agreement, and in consideration of the services provided thereunder,
Wet Earth is entitled to receive a monthly fee equal to (i) $10,000 in cash and (ii) a number of shares of common stock having an aggregate fair market value of $5,000.
 
Director Independence

 
Board of Directors
 
Our Board of Directors is currently comprised of Mark Weinreb (Chair), A. Jeffrey Radov, Joseph B. Swiader and Paul Jude Tonna. Each of Messrs. Radov, Swiader

and Tonna is currently an “independent director” based on the definition of independence in Listing Rule 5605(a)(2) of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
 

Audit Committee
 

The members of our Board’s Audit Committee currently are Messrs. Radov (Chair) and Tonna, each of whom is an “independent director” based on the definition of
independence in Listing Rule 5605(a)(2) The Nasdaq Stock Market and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.
 

Nominating Committee
 

The members of our Board’s Nominating Committee currently are Messrs. Swiader (Chair), Radov and Tonna, each of whom is an “independent director” based on the
definition of independence in Listing Rule 5605(a)(2) of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
 

Compensation Committee
 

The members of our Board’s Compensation Committee currently are Messrs. Tonna (Chair) and Radov, each of whom is an “independent director” based on the
definition of independence in Listing Rule 5605(a)(2) of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

 
Marcum LLP has served as our independent registered public accountants for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

 
The following is a summary of the fees billed or expected to be billed to us by Marcum LLP, our independent registered public accountants, for professional services

rendered with respect to the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:
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Fee Category   Fiscal 2014 Fees     Fiscal 2013 Fees  
Audit Fees(1)   $ 115,597    $ 96,771 
Audit-Related Fees(2)     -      - 
Tax Fees(3)     9,000      7,500 
All Other Fees(4)     -      - 
    $ 124,597    $ 104,271 
 
 

 
(1) Audit Fees consist of fees billed and expected to be billed for services rendered for the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended

December 31, 2014 and 2013.
 

(2) Audit-Related Fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit of our financial statements and
are not reported under “Audit Fees.”
 

(3) Tax Fees consist of fees billed for professional services related to preparation of our U.S. federal and state income tax returns and tax advice.
 

(4) All Other Fees consist of fees billed for products and services provided by our independent registered public accountants, other than those disclosed above.
 

The Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of the independent registered public accountants, and approves in
advance any services to be performed by the independent registered public accountants, whether audit-related or not. The Audit Committee reviews each proposed engagement
to determine whether the provision of services is compatible with maintaining the independence of the independent registered public accountants. The fees shown above were
pre-approved either by our Board or our Audit Committee.
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PART IV

 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
 
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation1

3.2 Bylaws1

10.1 2010 Equity Participation Plan, as amended
10.2 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2015, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mark Weinreb
10.3 Consulting Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2011, between Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. and TDA Consulting Services, Inc. 2
10.4 Letter agreement, dated April 18, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and TDA Consulting Services, Inc.3
10.5 Letter agreement, dated December 7, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and TDA Consulting Services, Inc. 3
10.6 Letter agreement, dated March 12, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and TDA Consulting Services, Inc.4
10.7 Consulting Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2011, between Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. and Vintage Holidays L.L.C. 2
10.8 Letter agreement, dated January 1, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Vintage Holidays, L.L.C. 3
10.9 Letter agreement, dated April 18, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Vintage Holidays, L.L.C. 3
10.10 Letter agreement, dated December 7, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Vintage Holidays, L.L.C. 3
10.11 Employment Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2010, between Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. and Mandy Clark (now known as Mandy Clyde) (“Clyde

Employment Agreement”)2

10.12 Amendment to Clyde Employment Agreement, dated February 10, 20125

10.13 Amendment to Clyde Employment Agreement, dated December 7, 20123

10.14 Promissory Note, dated February 9, 2011, issued by Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. in the principal amount of $1,050,0002

10.15 Form of Stock Option Agreement, dated December 15, 2010, between Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. and each of Mark Weinreb and Mandy Clyde2

10.16 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated May 10, 2011, between Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. and Francisco Silva (“Silva Employment
Agreement”)2

10.17 Amendment to Silva Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 20115

10.18 Amendment to Silva Employment Agreement, dated May 3, 20123

10.19 Amendment to Silva Employment Agreement, dated December 7, 20123

10.20 Amendment to Silva Employment Agreement, dated March 9, 2015
10.21 Stock Option Agreement, dated April 5, 2011, between Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. and Francisco Silva2

10.22 Stock Option Agreement, dated April 21, 2011, between Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. and Mandy Clyde2

10.23 Promissory Note, dated November 4, 2011, issued by Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. in the principal amount of $1,000,0002

10.24 License Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2012, between Regenerative Sciences, LLC and BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. (“License Agreement”)5
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10.25 Amendment to License Agreement, dated March 21, 20125

10.26 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mark Weinreb5

10.27 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and A. Jeffrey Radov5

10.28 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Joel San Antonio5

10.29 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Francisco Silva5

10.30 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mandy Clyde5

10.31 Promissory Note, dated March 30, 2012, issued by Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. in the principal amount of $1,500,0005

10.32 Form of Exchange Agreement between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and debtholders5

10.33 Assignment Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2012, between the University of Utah Research Foundation and BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.6
10.34 Research Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and the University of Utah6

10.35 Amendment No. One, dated as of May 9, 2014, to Research Agreement, dated June 15, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and the University of
Utah4

10.36 Consulting Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2012, between Wayne A. Marasco, M.D., Ph.D. and BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. 3
10.37 Letter agreement, dated December 5, 2012, between Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. and Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd. 3
10.38 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mark Weinreb3

10.39 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and A. Jeffrey Radov3

10.40 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Joel San Antonio3

10.41 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Francisco Silva3

10.42 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2012, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mandy Clyde3

10.43 Promissory Note, dated March 26, 2013, issued by Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. in the principal amount of $450,0003

10.44 Letter agreement, dated March 26, 2013, among Stem Cell Cayman Ltd., BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd. 3
10.45 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2013, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mark Weinreb4

10.46 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2013, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and A. Jeffrey Radov4

10.47 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2013, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Joel San Antonio4
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10.48 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2013, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Francisco Silva4

10.49 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2013, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mandy Clyde4

10.50 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mark Weinreb4

10.51 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and A. Jeffrey Radov4

10.52 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Joel San Antonio4

10.53 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Francisco Silva4

10.54 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mandy Clyde4

10.55 Consulting Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2014, between Gregory E. Lutz, M.D. and BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.4
10.56 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Francisco Silva4

10.57 Research and Development Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Rohto Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd7

10.58 Letter agreement, dated February 11, 2015, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Rohto Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. with regard to Research and
Development Agreement

10.59 Research Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2014 between Pfizer Inc. and BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.7
10.60 Promissory Note, dated May 7, 2014, issued by Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. in the principal amount of $500,0008

10.61 Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2014, by and between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Joel San Antonio9

10.62 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Paul Jude Tonna9

10.63 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Joseph B. Swiader9

10.64 Lease, dated as of August 25, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and 50 Republic Road, LLC10

10.65 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mark Weinreb
10.66 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and A. Jeffrey Radov
10.67 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Francisco Silva
10.68 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Mandy Clyde
10.69 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Joseph B. Swiader
10.70 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2014, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Paul Jude Tonna
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10.71 Letter agreement, dated December 31, 2014, between Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. and Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd.
10.72 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2015, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Edward L. Field
10.73 Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2015, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Edward L. Field
14 Code of Ethics5

21 Subsidiaries
23.1 Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Consent
31.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification
31.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification
32 Section 1350 Certification
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
 
 

1 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Current Report on Form 8-K for an event dated December 19, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
2 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Registration Statement on Form 10, as amended, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
3 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
4 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
5 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
6 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2012 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
7 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Amendment No. 1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the period ended March 31, 2014. Certain portions of
this exhibit have been omitted by redacting a portion of the text (indicated by asterisks in the text). This exhibit has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.
8 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
9 Incorporated by reference to the exhibits included with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
10 Incorporated by reference to the exhibit included with our Current Report on Form 8-K for an event dated August 25, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.      
   

Dated: March 31, 2015 By: /s/ Mark Weinreb
     Mark Weinreb
     Chief Executive Officer

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the

capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Capacity   Date
         

/s/Mark Weinreb

  Chief Executive Officer, President, Chairman of the Board and Director
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

 

March 31, 2015
  Mark Weinreb        

         

/s/A. Jeffrey Radov   Director   March 31, 2015
  A. Jeffrey Radov        

         

/s/Joseph B. Swiader   Director   March 31, 2015
  Joseph B. Swiader        

         

/s/Paul Jude Tonna   Director   March 31, 2015
  Paul Jude Tonna        
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
To the Audit Committee of the

Board of Directors and Stockholders
of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.

 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ deficiency, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As more fully discussed in Note 2, the
Company has incurred net losses since inception and needs to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its operations. These conditions raise substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do
not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

 
/s/ Marcum LLP
 
Marcum LLP
New York, NY
March 31, 2015
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
             
Assets              
               
Current Assets:              

Cash   $ 91,798    $ 201,098 
Inventories     1,945      17,965 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     20,570      20,739 

Total Current Assets     114,313      239,802 
               
Property and equipment, net     493,856      35,568 
Intangible assets, net     1,037,732      1,107,545 
Security deposit     45,900      - 

Total Assets   $ 1,691,801    $ 1,382,915 
               
Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficiency              
               
Current Liabilities:              

Accounts payable   $ 1,111,879    $ 1,269,970 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     1,466,506      1,176,662 
Accrued interest     94,026      65,909 
Current portion of notes payable, net of debt discount of $113,257  and $237,381 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively     5,688,239      4,990,009 
Deferred revenues     164,349      - 

Total Current Liabilities     8,524,999      7,502,550 
Accrued interest, non-current portion     5,195      41,434 
Notes payable, non-current portion, net of debt discount of $0 and $3,110 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively     50,000      524,000 

Total Liabilities     8,580,194      8,067,984 
               
Commitments and contingencies              
               
Stockholders' Deficiency:              

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value;
Authorized, 5,000,000 shares (see Note 10); none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013     -      - 

Common stock, $0.001 par value;
Authorized, 200,000,000 shares (see Note 10); Issued 34,511,800 and 19,633,173 shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively;
Outstanding 33,953,179 and 19,074,552 shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively     34,512      19,633 

Additional paid-in capital     18,509,121      13,139,712 
Accumulated deficit     (25,400,026)     (19,812,414)
Treasury stock, at cost, 558,621 shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013     (32,000)     (32,000)

Total Stockholders' Deficiency     (6,888,393)     (6,685,069)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficiency   $ 1,691,801    $ 1,382,915 

 
See Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Operations

 
    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
             
Revenues   $ 415,996    $ 1,680 
               
Cost of sales     213,834      208 
               

Gross Profit     202,162      1,472 
               
Operating Expenses              

Marketing and promotion     125,626      114,951 
Consulting     1,310,121      779,462 
Research and development     1,430,614      1,594,054 
General and administrative     2,258,307      2,265,275 

               
Total Operating Expenses     5,124,668      4,753,742 

               
Loss From Operations     (4,922,506)     (4,752,270)

               
Other (Expense) Income              

Interest expense     (285,275)     (371,281)
Amortization of debt discount     (464,470)     (405,531)
Loss on extinguishment of note and payables, net     (49,094)     (7,200)
Warrant modification expense     (50,035)     (214,912)
Gain on settlement of notes and payables     183,768      - 

               
Total Other Expense     (665,106)     (998,924)

               
Net Loss   $ (5,587,612)   $ (5,751,194)

               
Net Loss Per Share              

- Basic and Diluted   $ (0.22)   $ (0.35)
               

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding              
- Basic and Diluted     25,538,075      16,526,793 

 
See Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Deficiency

For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
  

                Additional                          
    Common Stock     Paid-In     Accumulated     Treasury Stock        
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Shares     Amount     Total  
                                           
Balance - December 31, 2012     15,443,484    $ 15,443    $ 8,936,084    $ (14,061,220)     (558,621)   $ (32,000)   $ (5,141,693)
                                                  
Shares and warrants issued for cash     840,589      841      904,159      -      -      -      905,000 
                                                  
Shares and warrants issued as debt discount in connection with notes payable     338,750      339      573,430      -      -      -      573,769 
                                                  
Shares issued in satisfaction of accrued interest     266,250      266      212,734      -      -      -      213,000 
                                                  
Shares and warrants issued in exchange of notes payable and accrued interest     818,495      819      416,862      -      -      -      417,681 
                                                  
Exercise of warrants for purchase of common stock     1,686,029      1,686      504,123      -      -      -      505,809 
                                                  
Warrant modification     -      -      214,912      -      -      -      214,912 
                                                  
Waiver of previously accrued executive salary and bonus     -      -      565,000      -      -      -      565,000 
                                                  
Stock-based compensation:                                                 

shares of common stock     239,537      239      137,816      -      -      -      138,055 
options and warrants     -      -      674,592      -      -      -      674,592 

                                                  
Impact of share rounding as a result of reverse stock split     39      -      -      -      -      -      - 
                                                  
Net loss     -      -      -      (5,751,194)     -             (5,751,194)
                                                  
Balance - December 31, 2013     19,633,173    $ 19,633    $ 13,139,712    $ (19,812,414)     (558,621)   $ (32,000)   $ (6,685,069)
                                                  
Shares and warrants issued for cash     8,671,983      8,672      2,596,328      -      -      -      2,605,000 
                                                  
Shares issued in satisfaction of accrued consulting services     595,455      595      139,405      -      -      -      140,000 
                                                  
Shares and warrant issued as payment for leasehold improvements     284,200      284      70,766      -      -      -      71,050 
                                                  
Exercise of warrants for purchase of common stock     376,667      377      112,623      -      -      -      113,000 
                                                  
Conversion of notes payable and accrued interest into common stock     1,784,777      1,785      357,926      -      -      -      359,711 
                                                  
Shares and warrants issued in exchange of note payable and accrued interest     1,101,453      1,101      341,925      -      -      -      343,026 
                                                  
Shares and warrants issued in connection with extension of notes payable     1,000,000      1,000      248,800      -      -      -      249,800 
                                                  
Warrant modification     -      -      50,035      -      -      -      50,035 
                                                  
Beneficial conversion features related to convertible notes payable     -      -      92,370      -      -      -      92,370 
                                                  
Stock-based compensation:                                                 

shares of common stock     1,064,092      1,065      299,772      -      -      -      300,837 
options and warrants     -      -      1,059,459      -      -      -      1,059,459 

                                                  
Net loss     -      -      -      (5,587,612)     -      -      (5,587,612)
                                                  
Balance - December 31, 2014     34,511,800    $ 34,512    $ 18,509,121    $ (25,400,026)     (558,621)   $ (32,000)   $ (6,888,393)

 
See Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 
    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Cash Flows From Operating Activities              

Net loss   $ (5,587,612)   $ (5,751,194)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              

Amortization of debt discount     464,470      405,531 
Accretion of interest expense     24,934      5,066 
Depreciation and amortization     96,685      104,811 
Loss on sale of property and equipment     1,009      - 
Stock-based compensation     1,360,296      812,647 
Loss on extinguishment of note and payables, net     49,094      7,200 
Gain on settlement of notes and payables     (183,768)     - 
Inventory write-down     15,407      - 
Warrant modification expense     50,035      214,912 
Warrant issued in connection with note payable     -      9,400 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:              
Inventories     613      (5,481)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     11,219      (2,306)
Security deposit     (45,900)     - 
Accounts payable     (234,563)     498,541 
Accrued interest, expenses and other current liabilities     585,881      1,028,469 
Deferred revenues     164,349      - 
Total Adjustments     2,359,761      3,078,790 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities     (3,227,851)     (2,672,404)

               
Cash Flows From Investing Activities              

Purchases of property and equipment     (168,376)     (11,160)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment     980      - 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities     (167,396)     (11,160)
               
Cash Flows From Financing Activities              

Proceeds from notes payable     795,000      1,454,000 
Repayments of notes payable     (202,063)     (5,500)
Advances from director and officer     58,054      144,285 
Repayment of advances from director and officer     (83,044)     (119,295)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants     113,000      505,809 
Sales of common stock and warrants for cash     2,605,000      905,000 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities     3,285,947      2,884,299 
Net (Decrease) Increase In Cash     (109,300)     200,735 

               
Cash - Beginning     201,098      363 
Cash - Ending   $ 91,798    $ 201,098 

 
See Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Continued

 
    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:              

Cash paid during the period for:              
Interest   $ 127,112    $ 62,346 

               
Non-cash investing and financing activities:              

Shares and warrants issued in connection with issuance or extension of notes payable   $ 249,800    $ 564,369 
Shares issued in satisfaction of accrued interest   $ -    $ 213,000 
Shares and warrants issued in exchange for notes payable and accrued interest   $ 343,026    $ 417,681 
Shares and warrant issued as payment for lease obligation and leasehold improvements   $ 71,050    $ - 
Conversion of notes payable and accrued interest into common stock   $ 359,711    $ - 
Shares issued in satisfaction of accrued consulting services   $ 140,000    $ - 
Recharacterization of accrued interest as principal with note payable reissuance   $ 108,059    $ 68,100 
Beneficial conversion features set up as debt discount   $ 92,370    $ - 
Accrued purchases of property and equipment   $ 258,774    $ - 
Waiver of previously accrued executive salary and bonus   $ -    $ 565,000 

 
See Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 1 – Business Organization and Nature of Operations
 
BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Stem Pearls, LLC (“Stem Pearls”) and Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. (“Cayman”), which the Company formed in
the Cayman Islands (collectively, “BRT” or the “Company”). BRT develops products and medical therapies using cell and tissue protocols, primarily involving adult stem cells
designed for personal medical applications. BRT’s website is at www.biorestorative.com. BRT is currently pursuing a Disc/Spine Program. Its lead cell therapy candidate,
brtxDISC™ (Disc Implanted Stem Cells), is a product formulated from autologous (or a person’s own) cultured mesenchymal stem cells collected from the patient’s bone
marrow. The product is intended to be used for the non-surgical treatment of protruding and bulging lumbar discs in patients suffering from chronic lumbar disc disease. BRT is
also engaging in research efforts with respect to a platform technology utilizing brown adipose (fat) for therapeutic purposes and has labeled this initiative its ThermoStem®
Program. It is a pre-clinical cell-based therapy to target obesity and metabolic disorders using brown adipose (fat) derived stem cells to generate brown adipose tissue and is
intended to mimic naturally occurring brown adipose depots that regulate metabolic homeostasis in humans." BRT has developed an ingredient derived from human adult stem
cells, which can be used by third party companies in the development of their own skin care products. The ingredient was developed pursuant to BRT’s “brtx-C Cosmetic
Program”. BRT’s Stem Pearls® brand offers plant stem cell-based cosmetic skincare products that are available for purchase online at www.stempearls.com.
 
Effective January 1, 2015, the Company changed its state of incorporation from the State of Nevada to the State of Delaware pursuant to a plan of conversion, dated December
22, 2014 (the “Plan of Conversion”). Pursuant to the Plan of Conversion, the Company also adopted new bylaws, which became effective on January 1, 2015.
 
Effective April 15, 2013, pursuant to authority granted by the stockholders to the Board of Directors of the Company, the Company implemented a 1-for-50 reverse split of the
Company’s issued and outstanding common stock (the “Reverse Split”) and a reduction in the number of shares of common stock authorized to be issued by the Company from
1,500,000,000 to 100,000,000. All share and per share information in these consolidated financial statements has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Split. See
Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency for additional details regarding the Company’s authorized capital.
 
Note 2 – Going Concern and Management’s Plans
 
As of December 31, 2014, the Company had a working capital deficiency and a stockholders’ deficiency of $8,410,686 and $6,888,393, respectively. During the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred net losses of $5,587,612 and $5,751,194, respectively. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
 
Despite recent revenue generated from specific research and development contracts, the Company's primary source of operating funds since inception has been, and will
continue to be for the foreseeable future, equity and debt financings. The Company intends to continue to raise additional capital through debt and equity financings. There is
no assurance that these funds will be sufficient to enable the Company to fully complete its development activities or attain profitable operations. If the Company is unable to
obtain such additional financing on a timely basis and, notwithstanding any request the Company may make, the Company’s debt holders do not agree to convert their notes
into equity or extend the maturity dates of their notes, the Company may have to curtail its development, marketing and promotional activities, which would have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations, and ultimately the Company could be forced to discontinue its operations and liquidate.
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with GAAP, which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern and
the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial statements do not
necessarily purport to represent realizable or settlement values. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustment that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 2 – Going Concern and Management’s Plans – Continued
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, (a) the Company has raised an aggregate of $801,000 and $30,000 through equity financing and debt financing, respectively, (b) the
Company has received research and development payments of $227,234 and (c) $50,000 and $5,984 of debt and accrued interest, respectively, has been converted into common
stock. As a result, the Company expects to be able to fund its operations through April 2015. While there can be no assurance that it will be successful, the Company is in active
negotiations to raise additional capital. As of the filing date of this report, the Company has notes payable with an aggregate principal balance of $5,000 which are either past
due or payable on demand. The Company is currently in the process of negotiating extensions or discussing conversions to equity with respect to these notes. However, there
can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in extending or converting these notes. See Note 11– Subsequent Events for additional details.
 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Principles of Consolidation
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of Cayman and Stem Pearls. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in the
consolidation.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods. The Company’s
significant estimates and assumptions include the recoverability and useful lives of long-lived assets, the fair value of the Company’s equity securities and the valuation
allowance related to the Company’s deferred tax assets. Certain of the Company’s estimates, including the carrying amount of the intangible assets, could be affected by
external conditions, including those unique to the Company and general economic conditions. It is reasonably possible that these external factors could have an effect on the
Company’s estimates and could cause actual results to differ from those estimates.
 
Concentrations and Credit Risk
 
As of December 31, 2014, 75% of the face value of the Company’s outstanding notes payable were sourced from a single entity (the “Bermuda Lender”) and the maturity dates
associated with these notes range from May 7, 2015 to June 30, 2015. See Note 7 – Notes Payable for additional discussion of the Bermuda Lender.
 
Two pharmaceutical clients comprised substantially all of the Company’s revenue during the year ended December 31, 2014. See Revenue Recognition – Research and
Development Agreements below.
 
Cash

 
The Company maintains cash in bank accounts, which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and
periodically evaluates the creditworthiness of the financial institutions and has determined the credit exposure to be negligible.
 
Inventories

 
The Company maintains finished goods inventories, consisting of Stem Pearls skincare products, which are available for sale. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method.
 
The Company periodically reviews for slow-moving, excess or obsolete inventories. Products that are determined to be obsolete, if any, are written down to net realizable value.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded an inventory write-down of $15,407.
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued
 
Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation which is recorded commencing at the in-service date using the straight line method at rates sufficient
to charge the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 5 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of
(a) the useful life of the asset; or (b) the remaining lease term. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.
 
Intangible Assets
 
Intangible assets are comprised of trademarks and licenses with original estimated useful lives of 10 and 17.7 years (20 year life of underlying patents which the Company is
licensing, less 2.3 years elapsed since the application date of the respective patents), respectively. Once placed into service, the Company amortizes the cost of the intangible
assets over their estimated useful lives on a straight line basis.
 
Impairment of Long-lived Assets

 
The Company reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its
carrying amount. The Company has not identified any such impairment losses.

 
Revenue Recognition
 
Research and Development Agreements
 
The Company’s policy relating to research and development agreements is to recognize research and development revenues associated with such agreements either (a) on a
straight-line basis over the term of the agreement, or (b) in accordance with the milestone method of revenue recognition, depending on the nature of the contract terms, subject
to potential acceleration upon achievement of contractually specified deliverables.
 
On March 19, 2014, the Company entered into a one-year agreement with a Japanese pharmaceutical company to perform specified research and development activities related
to stem cells. The agreement may be terminated earlier or extended, as provided for in the agreement. Payment terms are (1) $150,000 received at commencement (straight-line
method); (2) $50,000 upon achievement of a specified deliverable (milestone method); and (3) $50,000 upon achievement of the final specified deliverable (milestone method).
As of December 31, 2014, the initial $150,000 payment had been received and $34,281 remained in deferred revenues on the consolidated balance sheet. On February 11, 2015,
the term of the agreement was extended by three months to June 19, 2015.
 
On March 24, 2014, the Company entered into a two-year agreement with a U.S. pharmaceutical company to perform specified research and development activities related to
brown fat. The agreement may be terminated earlier or extended, as provided for in the agreement. Payment terms are (1) $250,000 at commencement; (2) $356,250 payable in
four equal quarterly installments, subject to acceleration upon achieving a specified deliverable; and (3) $168,750 payable in two equal bi-annual installments (all of which are
being recognized pursuant to the straight-line method), subject to acceleration upon achieving a specified deliverable. As of December 31, 2014, the initial $250,000 payment
and the first two quarterly payments of $89,063 related to (2) above had been received and $130,068 was recorded as deferred revenues on the consolidated balance sheet.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognized revenue related to research and development agreements of $413,777. The Company did not recognize any
revenue related to research and development agreements during the year ended December 31, 2013.
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued
 
Revenue Recognition – Continued
 
Other
 
The Company’s policy is to recognize product sales when the risk of loss and title to the product transfers to the customer, after taking into account potential returns. The
Company recognizes sublicensing and royalty revenue when all of the following have occurred: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) the service is completed
without further obligation, (iii) the sales price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recognized revenue related to sales of Stem Pearls® skincare products of $2,219 and $1,680, respectively.
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of items that have been included or excluded in the financial statements or
tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the difference between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their respective financial reporting
amounts (“temporary differences”) at enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
 
The Company adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740-10, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
 
Management has evaluated and concluded that there were no material uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013. The Company does not expect any significant changes in its unrecognized tax benefits within twelve months of the reporting date.
 
The Company’s policy is to classify assessments, if any, for tax related interest as interest expense and penalties as general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations.
 
Net Loss Per Common Share
 
Basic loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of vested common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per
common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of vested common shares outstanding, plus the impact of common shares, if dilutive, resulting
from the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants, plus the conversion of convertible notes.
 
The following securities are excluded from the calculation of weighted average dilutive common shares because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive:
 
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Options     15,584,000      5,043,000 
Warrants     8,248,683      4,795,890 
Convertible notes     653,885      1,063,380 
Total potentially dilutive shares     24,486,568      10,902,270 
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company measures the cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the award. For employees, the fair value of the
award is measured on the grant date and for non-employees, the fair value of the award is generally re-measured on vesting dates and interim financial reporting dates until the
service period is complete. The fair value amount is then recognized over the period during which services are required to be provided in exchange for the award, usually the
vesting period. Since the shares underlying the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) were registered on May 27, 2014, the Company estimates the fair value
of the awards granted under the Plan based on the market value of its freely tradable common stock as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board. The fair value of the Company’s
restricted equity instruments was estimated by management based on observations of the cash sales prices of both restricted shares and freely tradable shares. Awards granted to
directors are treated on the same basis as awards granted to employees.
 
Advertising
 
Advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company incurred advertising costs of $15,280
and $25,748, respectively. Advertising expense is reflected in marketing and promotion expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
 
Research and Development
 
Research and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company incurred research and
development expenses of $1,430,614 and $1,594,054, respectively.
 
Reclassifications

 
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified for comparative purposes to conform to the fiscal 2014 presentation. These reclassifications have no impact on the
previously reported net loss.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
The Company measures the fair value of financial assets and liabilities based on the guidance of ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC 820”) which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
 
ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market
for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity
to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. ASC 820 describes three levels of inputs that may be used to
measure fair value:

 
Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

 
Level 2 — quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable

 
Level 3 — inputs that are unobservable (for example, cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)
 
The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The
carrying amounts of our short term credit obligations approximate fair value because the effective yields on these obligations, which include contractual interest rates, taken
together with other features such as concurrent issuance of warrants, are comparable to rates of returns for instruments of similar credit risk.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued
 
Convertible Instruments
 
GAAP requires companies to bifurcate conversion options from their host instruments and account for them as free standing derivative financial instruments according to
certain criteria. The criteria include circumstances in which (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative instrument are not clearly and closely related
to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument that embodies both the embedded derivative instrument and the host contract is not re-
measured at fair value under otherwise applicable generally accepted accounting principles with changes in fair value reported in earnings as they occur and (c) a separate
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative instrument would be considered a derivative instrument. An exception to this rule is when the host instrument is
deemed to be conventional, as that term is described under applicable GAAP.
 
When the Company has determined that the embedded conversion options should not be bifurcated from their host instruments, the Company records, when necessary,
discounts to convertible notes for the intrinsic value of conversion options embedded in debt instruments (the beneficial conversion feature) based upon the differences between
the fair value of the underlying common stock at the commitment date of the note transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the note. Debt discounts under
these arrangements are amortized over the term of the related debt to their stated date of redemption.
 
Subsequent Events
 
The Company evaluates events that have occurred after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued. Based upon the evaluation, the Company did not
identify any recognized or non-recognized subsequent events that would have required adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements, except as disclosed in
Note 11.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,”
(“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC 605 - Revenue Recognition (“ASC 605”) and most industry-specific guidance
throughout ASC 605. The standard requires that an entity recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 is effective on January 1, 2017 and should be applied
retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying ASU 2014-09 recognized at the date of initial
application. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.

 
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-10, “Development Stage Entities (Topic 915): Elimination of Certain Financial Reporting Requirements, Including an
Amendment to Variable Interest Entities Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidation,” (“ASU 2014-10”). ASU 2014-10 removes the definition of a development stage entity from the
Master Glossary of the ASC, thereby removing the financial reporting distinction between development stage entities and other reporting entities from GAAP. In addition, ASU
2014-10 eliminates the requirements for development stage entities to (1) present inception-to-date information in the statements of operations, cash flows, and stockholders’
equity, (2) label the financial statements as those of a development stage entity, (3) disclose a description of the development stage activities in which the entity is engaged, and
(4) disclose in the first year in which the entity is no longer a development stage entity that in prior years it had been in the development stage. ASU 2014-10 is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2014, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2014-10 during the year
ended December 31, 2014 which resulted in the removal of previously required development stage disclosures. The Company’s planned principal operations are to develop
technology using cell and tissue therapy protocols, primarily involving adult stem cells, allowing patients to undergo cellular-based treatments. The Company has established a
new laboratory facility and is seeking to increase its capabilities for the further development of possible cellular-based treatment protocols, stem cell-related intellectual
property and research applications. The Company’s activities are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, which are detailed in Note 2 – Going Concern and Management’s
Plans.
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – Continued
 
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award
Provide that a Performance Target Could be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period," ("ASU 2014-12"). The amendments in ASU 2014-12 require that a performance
target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. A reporting entity should apply existing guidance
in ASC Topic No. 718, "Compensation - Stock Compensation" as it relates to awards with performance conditions that affect vesting to account for such awards. The
amendments in ASU 2014-12 are effective for annual periods and interim periods within those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted.
Entities may apply the amendments in ASU 2014-12 either: (a) prospectively to all awards granted or modified after the effective date; or (b) retrospectively to all awards with
performance targets that are outstanding as of the beginning of the earliest annual period presented in the financial statements and to all new or modified awards thereafter. The
Company does not anticipate that the adoption of ASU 2014-12 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
 
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15,”Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s
Ability to Continue as a Going Concern” (“ASU 2014-15”). ASU 2014-15, which is effective for annual reporting periods ending after December 15, 2016, extends the
responsibility for performing the going-concern assessment to management and contains guidance on how to perform a going-concern assessment and when going-concern
disclosures would be required under U.S. GAAP. The Company elected to adopt ASU 2014-15. Management’s evaluations regarding the events and conditions that raise
substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern have been disclosed in Note 2 – Going Concern and Management’s Plans.
 
Note 4 – Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment include the following:
 
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Office equipment   $ 8,466    $ 7,670 
Medical equipment     359,248      129,461 
Furniture and fixtures     113,874      19,322 
Computer software and equipment     66,458      20,169 
Leasehold Improvements     103,582      - 
      651,628      176,622 
Less: accumulated depreciation     (157,772)     (141,054)
Property and equipment, net   $ 493,856    $ 35,568 
 
Depreciation expense amounted to $26,872 and $34,999 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Depreciation expense is reflected in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
 
Note 5 – Intangible Assets
 
Intangible assets consist of the following:
 

   
Patents and
Trademarks     Licenses    

Accumulated
Amortization     Total  

Balance as of January 1, 2013   $ 3,676    $ 1,226,500    $ (52,819)   $ 1,177,357 
Amortization expense     -      -      (69,812)     (69,812)

Balance as of December 31, 2013   $ 3,676    $ 1,226,500    $ (122,631)   $ 1,107,545 
Amortization expense     -      -      (69,813)     (69,813)

Balance as of December 31, 2014   $ 3,676    $ 1,226,500    $ (192,444)   $ 1,037,732 

Weighted average remaining amortization period at December 31, 2014 in years     6.0      14.9               
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Note 5 – Intangible Assets – Continued
 
Amortization of intangible assets consists of the following: 
 

   
Patents and
Trademarks     Licenses    

Accumulated
Amortization  

Balance as of January 1, 2013   $ 736    $ 52,083    $ 52,819 
Amortization expense     368      69,444      69,812 

Balance as of December 31, 2013   $ 1,104    $ 121,527    $ 122,631 
Amortization expense     368      69,445      69,813 

Balance as of December 31, 2014   $ 1,472    $ 190,972    $ 192,444 
 
Amortization expense is reflected in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Based upon the current intangible assets as of December
31, 2014, amortization expense is projected to be approximately $70,000 per annum through 2029.
 
On January 27, 2012, the Company entered into a license agreement with a stem cell treatment company (“SCTC”) (as amended on March 21, 2012, the “SCTC Agreement”).
On April 6, 2012 (the “Closing Date”), the Company and SCTC closed on the SCTC Agreement. Pursuant to the SCTC Agreement, the Company obtained, among other things,
a worldwide, exclusive, royalty-bearing license from SCTC to utilize or sublicense a certain medical device patent (pending) for the administration of specific cells and/or cell
products to the disc and/or spine (and other parts of the body) and a worldwide (excluding Asia and Argentina), exclusive, royalty-bearing license to utilize or sublicense a
certain method for culturing cells. The SCTC Agreement provides that the Company must achieve certain milestones. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had not met any
the milestones provided for in the SCTC Agreement to be fulfilled by April 6, 2014; however, it still had the ability to pay $75,000 by April 6, 2015 in order to retain the
exclusivity of the license. On March 5, 2015, the Company made the $75,000 cash payment to retain the exclusivity of the license. Pursuant to the license agreement with
SCTC, unless certain milestones are satisfied, the Company will be required to pay to SCTC minimum amounts of between $225,000 and $475,000 during the period from
April 2017 to April 2019 in order to maintain its exclusive rights with regard to the disc/spine technology.
 
The SCTC Agreement also provides for an exclusive, royalty-bearing sublicense of certain of the licensed technology to SCTC for use for orthopedic purposes and a non-
exclusive, royalty-bearing sublicense of certain of the licensed technology to SCTC for use (1) at a single facility in the Cayman Islands (or, under certain circumstances, at a
different non-U.S. facility), and (2) at U.S. facilities (in accordance with protocols established by the Company), if and only if, upon resolution of a Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) action, SCTC has the legal right to exploit the technology in the U.S. and the Company does not yet have such legal right. Further, the SCTC
Agreement provides that SCTC will furnish certain training, assistance and consultation services with regard to the licensed technology. In addition, the Company had agreed to
reimburse SCTC for 25% of its legal fees associated with what had been a pending court action with the FDA, subject to a maximum of $4,500 per month and $100,000 in the
aggregate. In 2012, the District Court ruled in favor of the FDA, but SCTC appealed the decision. In February 2014, the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit
affirmed the District Court’s ruling, concluding that the FDA has the authority to regulate certain autologous stem cell procedures and that SCTC’s stem cell mixture meets the
definition of drug and not HCT/P since it was more than minimally manipulated. SCTC has indicated that it does not intend to appeal the decision to the Supreme Court. While
this decision is specific to SCTC’s procedures and mixture, it indicates that stem cells, even when used in an autologous context, may be regulated as drugs, particularly when
mixed with other substances or in other ways that may be considered to be more than minimally manipulated. The Company is proceeding with the FDA approval process for
its initiatives as discussed above.
 
Pursuant to the SCTC Agreement, on the Closing Date, the Company made a payment to SCTC consisting of a license fee of $1,000,000, net of a sublicensing fee of $10,000,
which SCTC owed to the Company (which was recorded as revenue in the consolidated statements of operations), and issued to SCTC a warrant for the purchase of 1,000,000
shares of common stock of the Company (the “SCTC Warrant”). The vesting of the SCTC Warrant was divided into three tranches. The first tranche to purchase 300,000 shares
of common stock was immediately exercisable. The exercise of the second and third tranches to purchase 350,000 shares of common stock each is subject to specified
performance criteria. The exercise price for the initial tranche is $1.50 per share and the exercise price for the second and third tranches is the greater of $1.50 per share or the
then fair market value of the common stock, as defined in the SCTC Agreement. The initial tranche had a grant date value of $226,500 using the Black-Scholes model, which
was recognized immediately. The Company recorded the $1,000,000 cash payment and the $226,500 value of the first tranche of the warrant as an intangible asset with an
original estimated useful life of 17.7 years (20 year life of the underlying pending patent less 2.3 years since patent application).
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Note 5 – Intangible Assets – Continued
 
The Company has not made an accounting entry related to the second and third tranches as it is not currently estimable when the specified performance criteria will be met.
When, and if, the second and third tranches of the SCTC Warrant vest (or when the timing of vesting becomes estimable), the grant date value of these tranches will be added to
the value of the intangible asset after calculating the grant date values using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the final exercise prices as inputs to the model.
 
Note 6 – Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities are comprised of the following:

 
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
             
Credit card payable   $ 4,739    $ 6,000 
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes     679,277      672,535 
Accrued purchases of property and equipment     174,801      - 
Accrued research and development expenses     292,395      229,276 
Accrued general and administrative expenses     315,294      266,541 
Deferred rent     -      2,310 
Total   $ 1,466,506    $ 1,176,662 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company received an aggregate of $58,054 in non-interest bearing advances from a director, an officer and a family member of
the same officer and made aggregate repayments of $83,044 (inclusive of the $24,990 outstanding balance as of December 31, 2013 discussed below), such that the Company
had no remaining liability with regard to these advances as of December 31, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company received an aggregate of $144,285
in advances from a director, an officer and a family member of the same officer and made aggregate repayments of $119,295, such that the Company had a liability of $24,990
with regard to these advances as of December 31, 2013.
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Note 7 – Notes Payable
 
A summary of the notes payable activity during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is presented below:
 
    Bermuda     Convertible     Other     Debt        
    Lender     Notes     Notes     Discount     Total  
                               
Outstanding, December 31, 2012   $ 3,550,000    $ -    $ 1,082,185    $ (76,719)   $ 4,555,466 

Issuances     450,000      281,000[1]     733,000      -      1,464,000 
Conversion of accrued interest     -      -      68,100      -      68,100 
Exchanges for equity     -      -      (404,285)     -      (404,285)
Repayments     -      -      (5,500)     -      (5,500)
Recognition of debt discount     -      -      -      (574,369)[1]    (574,369)
Amortization of debt discount     -      -      -      405,531      405,531 
Accretion of interest expense     -      -      -      5,066[1]     5,066 

Outstanding, December 31, 2013   $ 4,000,000    $ 281,000    $ 1,473,500    $ (240,491)   $ 5,514,009 
Issuances     500,000      300,000[1]     -      -      800,000 
Exchanges for equity     -      (71,000)     (203,000)     -      (274,000)
Conversions to equity     -      (342,500)     -      -      (342,500)
Repayments     (89,063)     -      (113,000)     -      (202,063)
Recognition of debt discount     -      -      -      (347,170)[1]    (347,170)
Amortization of debt discount     -      -      -      464,470      464,470 
Recharacterization of accrued interest as principal     -      -      108,059[3]    -      108,059 
Accretion of interest expense     -      15,000[2]     -      9,934[1]     24,934 
Settlement of accreted interest     -      (7,500)[2]    -      -      (7,500)

Outstanding, December 31, 2014   $ 4,410,937    $ 175,000[4]   $ 1,265,559    $ (113,257)   $ 5,738,239 
  

[1] During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, notes with an aggregate principal amounts of $30,000 and $60,000, respectively, bear no interest and were
issued for cash consideration of $25,000 and $50,000, respectively. The differences between the principal amounts of the notes and the cash received of $5,000 and
$10,000, respectively, were recorded as debt discount and amortized to interest expense over the term of the notes.
 

[2] During the year ended December 31, 2014, pursuant to the terms of certain notes payable with maturity dates ranging from January 8, 2014 to June 10, 2014, the
aggregate principal balance of the notes was increased from $90,000 to $105,000. The aggregate $15,000 of principal increases was accreted as interest expense.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, $7,500 of the principal increases was settled by the conversion of a convertible note with a maturity date of January 8,
2014 and original principal balance of $30,000 into shares of the Company's common stock.
 

[3] During the year ended December 31, 2014, in connection with the extension of certain notes payable with maturity dates ranging from of August 8, 2013 to March 1,
2014, an aggregate $108,059 of accrued interest was added to the aggregate principal balance of the notes, increasing the aggregate principal balance from $752,500 to
$860,559.
 

[4] As of December 31, 2014, convertible notes with an aggregate principal balance of $175,000 were convertible at the election of the Company. Of such convertible
notes, notes with an aggregate principal balance of $83,333 are also convertible, under certain circumstances, at the election of the holder pursuant to the terms of the
notes.
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Bermuda Lender
 
On March 26, 2013, Cayman borrowed $450,000 from the Bermuda Lender, which was combined with the already outstanding $3,550,000 of previous borrowings from the
Bermuda Lender into a new $4,000,000 zero coupon note (the “$4,000,000 Bermuda Lender Note”) which matured on July 31, 2014. In consideration of the additional
$450,000 loan, the waiver of accrued and unpaid interest of $213,000, and an extension of the maturity date of the outstanding loan, the Company issued to the Bermuda
Lender 600,000 shares of common stock (valued at $480,000) and a five year warrant to purchase 400,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.50 per share
(valued at $250,000). After determining that 266,250 shares of common stock (of the 600,000 shares issued) were, in effect, used to settle the aggregate $213,000 accrued and
unpaid interest, the Company determined that the relative fair value of the remaining equity securities issued was $457,826, which amount was recorded as a debt discount and
was amortized via the interest method over the sixteen month term of the $4,000,000 Bermuda Lender Note in accordance with ASC 470-60. The effective annual interest rate
of the $4,000,000 Bermuda Lender Note is 11%.
 
On May 8, 2014, Cayman borrowed an additional $500,000 from the Bermuda Lender and issued to the Bermuda Lender a one-year note payable in the principal amount of
$500,000 which bears interest at 15% per annum payable at maturity. The note also provides for the mandatory prepayment of the principal amount to the extent of any monies
received by the Company pursuant to the research and development agreements discussed in Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Revenue Recognition –
Research and Development Agreements. Interest on the entire principal amount of the note is payable until such time as the principal amount is paid in full. On July 15, 2014,
the Company received $89,063 pursuant to the research and development agreements which triggered a mandatory principal prepayment of $89,063. See Note 11 – Subsequent
Events for details regarding monies received pursuant to the research and development agreements.
 
On August 13, 2014, Cayman and the Bermuda Lender agreed to extend the maturity date of the $4,000,000 Bermuda Lender Note from July 31, 2014 to December 31, 2014.
In consideration of the extension, the Company issued to the Bermuda Lender 550,000 shares of common stock. The $121,000 fair value of the common stock was recorded as
debt discount and was amortized over the remaining term of the $4,000,000 Bermuda Lender Note.
 
On December 31, 2014, Cayman and the Bermuda Lender agreed to further extend the maturity date of the $4,000,000 Bermuda Lender Note from December 31, 2014 to June
30, 2015. In consideration of the extension, the Company issued to the Bermuda Lender 450,000 shares of common stock. The $99,000 fair value of the common stock was
recorded as debt discount and will be amortized over the remaining term of the $4,000,000 Bermuda Lender Note.
 
As of December 31, 2014, the Bermuda Lender is a related party as a result of the size of its ownership interest in the Company's common stock.
 
Convertible Notes
 
Between August 8, 2013 and December 18, 2013, the Company issued convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of $281,000, for cash consideration of $271,000
(convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of $60,000 bear no interest and were issued for cash consideration of $50,000 and the $10,000 of interest, was recorded
as debt discount and will be amortized over the term of the note, resulting in a weighted average effective interest rate of 100%). Convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of $221,000 bear interest at a rate of 12% per annum payable upon maturity. The convertible notes were initially payable 2-6 months from the date of issuance. Of the
$281,000 principal amount of convertible notes, $171,000 are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at the election of the Company while $110,000 are
convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at the election of the holder. The convertible notes are convertible during the period beginning five days prior to
maturity and ending on the day immediately prior to maturity (the “Note Conversion Period”). The conversion price of the convertible notes is equal to the greater of (a) 55-
65% (depending on the specific note) of the fair value of the Company’s common stock or (b) $0.05 per share. As of December 31, 2013, the convertible notes were not
convertible. The Company evaluated the conversion options and determined that bifurcation was not necessary in accordance with ASC 815. The beneficial conversion features
will be accounted for, if necessary, at the commitment date.
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Convertible Notes – Continued
 
Between January 17, 2014 and May 2, 2014, the Company issued convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of $175,000, for cash consideration of $170,000 (a
convertible note with a principal amount of $30,000 bears no interest and was issued for cash consideration of $25,000 and the $5,000 difference was recorded as debt discount
and was accreted as interest over the term of the note). Convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of $145,000 bear interest at a rate of 12% per annum payable upon
maturity. The convertible notes were initially payable 3-12 months from the date of issuance. Of the $175,000 principal amount of convertible notes, $145,000 is convertible
into shares of the Company’s common stock at the election of the Company during the period beginning five days prior to maturity and ending on the day immediately prior to
maturity at the greater of (a) 55%-60% (depending on the particular note) of the fair value of the Company’s stock or (b) $0.05 per share. The remaining $30,000 is convertible
into shares of the Company’s common stock at the election of the holder any time after September 10, 2014 at the lesser of (a) $0.50 per share or (b) 65% of the fair value of
the Company’s common stock, but with a floor of $0.05 per share.
 
Between November 12, 2014 and December 2, 2014, the Company issued convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of $125,000 which bear interest at a rate of 10%
per annum payable on maturity. The convertible notes are payable as follows: (i) $41,667 of aggregate principal and the respective accrued interest on such principal is payable
six months from the issuance date (the “First Maturity Date”), (ii) $41,667 of principal and the respective accrued interest on such principal is payable two weeks following the
First Maturity Date (the “Second Maturity Date”), and (iii) $41,666 of principal and the respective accrued interest on such principal is payable one month following the First
Maturity Date (the “Third Maturity Date”). Each $41,667 and $41,666 of aggregate principal and the respective accrued interest on such principal is convertible into shares of
the Company’s common stock at the election of the Company during the period beginning five days prior to each maturity date and ending on the day immediately prior to each
maturity date at the greater of (a) 60% of the fair value of the Company’s stock or (b) $0.05 per share. In the event that the Company elects to effect a conversion, during the
five day period following the conversion, the holders shall have the right to convert the then outstanding principal amount of the convertible notes, together with accrued and
unpaid interest thereon, into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price equal to the conversion price in the Company-effected conversion.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company elected to convert certain convertible notes with an aggregate principal balance of $225,000 and aggregate accrued
interest of $13,565 into an aggregate of 1,202,744 shares of common stock at conversion prices ranging from $0.14 to $0.28 per share.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the holders of certain convertible notes elected to convert such convertible notes with an aggregate principal balance of $117,500
and aggregate accrued interest of $3,646 into an aggregate of 582,033 shares of common stock at conversion prices ranging from $0.19 to $0.22 per share.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company and certain lenders agreed to exchange certain convertible notes with an aggregate principal balance of $71,000, along
with accrued and unpaid interest of $4,260, for an aggregate of 246,764 shares of common stock and an immediately vested, two-year warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share. The common stock and warrants had an aggregate grant date value of $74,029 and, as a result, the Company recorded a
gain on extinguishment of $1,231. The lenders received piggyback registration rights related to the stock and the stock issuable pursuant to the warrants.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the contingently adjustable conversion ratios associated with certain convertible notes were resolved. The Company estimated the
intrinsic value of the embedded conversion options based upon the differences between the fair value of the underlying common stock at the commitment date of the note
transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the convertible note. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognized $92,370 of intrinsic value
related to these beneficial conversion features as debt discount which was immediately amortized.
 
Other Notes
 
Other notes issued by the Company (“Other Notes”) predominantly bear interest at a rate of 15% per annum payable monthly. As of December 31, 2014, the Other Notes have
maturity dates through October 2015.
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Other Notes – Continued
 
The holders of two Other Notes are entitled to five years of royalty payments associated with Cosmetic Revenues, as defined in the notes, ranging from 0.5% to 4.0% of
Cosmetic Revenues, depending on the holder and the year the Cosmetic Revenues are earned. The final three years of royalty payments are subject to an annual dollar
maximum of $100,000 for one of the noteholders. Given that the Company has not yet generated any Cosmetic Revenues, no royalty payments have been earned.
 
In connection with the issuance and extension of Other Notes during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued 5,000 shares of common stock, with a relative fair
value of $3,704. In connection with the issuances, five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 402,500 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.94 to
$2.50 per share, with a relative fair value of $112,239, were issued as debt discount to the lenders and amortized over the term of the note.
 
In connection with the extension of Other Notes during the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 190,000 shares
of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.50 to $0.75 per share, with a grant date fair value of $29,800, as debt discount to the lenders and amortized over the term of
the note.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company and certain lenders agreed to exchange certain Other Notes with an aggregate principal balance of $404,285, along
with accrued and unpaid interest of $6,196, for an aggregate of 818,495 shares of common stock and five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 45,000 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share. The stock and warrants had an aggregate issuance date value of $417,681 and, as a result, the Company recorded a loss on
extinguishment of $7,200. The lenders received piggyback registration rights related to the stock and the stock issuable pursuant to the warrants.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company and certain lenders agreed to exchange certain Other Notes with an aggregate principal balance of $203,000, along
with accrued and unpaid interest of $15,672, for an aggregate of 854,689 shares of common stock and an immediately vested, two-year warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share. The common stock and warrants had an aggregate grant date value of $268,997 and, as a result, the Company recorded a
loss on extinguishment of $50,325. The lenders received piggyback registration rights related to the stock and the stock issuable pursuant to the warrants.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company repaid certain Other Notes with an aggregate principal balance of $113,000 and accrued interest of $11,219.

 
See Note 11 – Subsequent Events for additional details regarding notes payable.
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Note 8 – Income Taxes
 
United States and foreign components of loss before income taxes were as follows:
 
    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
             
United States   $ (5,223,749)   $ (5,328,958)
Foreign     (363,863)     (422,236)

Loss before income taxes   $ (5,587,612)   $ (5,751,194)
 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented below:
 
    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Deferred Tax Assets:              
Net operating loss carryforward   $ 4,820,500    $ 5,327,000 
Stock-based compensation     1,272,600      907,100 
Accruals     240,700      139,800 
Research & development tax credits     95,500      - 
Other     2,100      2,700 
Gross deferred tax assets     6,431,400      6,376,600 
               
Deferred Tax Liabilities:              
Fixed assets     (93,200)     - 
Intangible assets     (8,100)     (3,000)
Gross deferred tax liabilities     (101,300)     (3,000)
               
Net deferred tax assets     6,330,100      6,373,600 
               
Valuation allowance     (6,330,100)     (6,373,600)
               
Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance   $ -    $ - 
               
Changes in valuation allowance   $ (43,500)   $ 1,631,300 
 
The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following:
 
    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Federal:              

Current   $ -    $ - 
Deferred     38,921      (1,459,584)

               
State and local:              

Current     -      - 
Deferred     4,579      (171,716)

      43,500      (1,631,300)
Change in valuation allowance     (43,500)     1,631,300 
Income tax provision (benefit)   $ -    $ - 
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:
 
    For The Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
             
Tax benefit at federal statutory rate     (34.0)%    (34.0)%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit     (4.0)%    (4.0)%
Permanent differences     0.8%     5.8%
Research & development tax credits     (1.8)%    0.0%
Impact of Section 382 limit     41.2%     0.0%
True-ups and other     (1.4)%    1.6%
Change in valuation allowance     (0.8)%    30.6%
Effective income tax rate     0.0%     0.0%
 
The Company assesses the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be realized. To the extent that realization is not likely, a valuation allowance is established. Based upon the
Company’s history of losses since inception, management believes that it is more likely than not that future benefits of deferred tax assets will not be realized.
 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had approximately $12,700,000 and $14,000,000, respectively, of federal and state net operating losses that may be available to
offset future taxable income. The net operating loss carry forwards, if not utilized, will expire from 2029 to 2034 for federal purposes. In accordance with Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code, the usage of the Company’s net operating loss carry forwards are subject to annual limitations due to greater than 50% ownership changes. The Section
382 limitation that became effective on or about July 2014 has resulted in (a) approximately $5,700,000 of federal NOLs not being realizable; and (b) the reversal of
approximately $2,200,000 of net operating loss deferred tax assets.
 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and the states of Florida and New York, and is subject to examination by the various taxing authorities
beginning with the tax years ended December 31, 2011.
 
Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies
 
Operating Lease
 
Jupiter, Florida Lease
 
The Company was a party to a three year lease agreement with respect to premises located at the Alexandria Innovation Center in Jupiter, Florida, which was scheduled to
expire on January 31, 2014. No base rent was payable during the initial year and the lease provided for a base monthly rent of $6,234 during the second year and $6,422 during
the third year. The Company had the right to lease the premises for an additional three years at the then fair market value rent. The aggregate base rent payable over the lease
term was recognized on a straight-line basis.
 
On February 4, 2014, the Company and the landlord agreed to the surrender of a portion of the leased premises and also extended the term of the lease to July 31, 2014. The
amended lease provided for a base rent of $962 per month. The Company and the landlord subsequently agreed to a series of lease extensions, such that the lease ultimately
terminated on December 31, 2014.
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Operating Lease – Continued
 
On February 11, 2014, the Company executed a Facility Use Agreement with the SCTC which permitted the Company to utilize the SCTC’s laboratory facility and one office
for research associated with its culturing and medical device license. Payment terms were $3,750 per month through March 31, 2014 and $100 per day for usage beyond that
date. The Company ceased using the SCTC’s laboratory facility on March 31, 2014.
 
On August 25, 2014, the Company entered into a lease for 6,800 square feet of space located in Melville, New York (the “Melville Lease”). Late in 2014, the Company
relocated its corporate and laboratory operations from Jupiter, Florida to such location. The Melville Lease provides for a term of 63 months from the commencement date (as
defined in the Melville Lease) (subject to extension at the option of the Company for a period of five years) and an annual base rental during the initial term ranging between
$132,600 and $149,260. Pursuant to the Melville Lease, no rent was payable for the initial four months of the term.
 
In connection with the Melville Lease, the Company paid the landlord a cash security deposit of $45,900, which is reflected on the consolidated balance sheet as of December
31, 2014. Additionally, in connection with the execution of the Melville Lease, the Company issued to the principals of the landlord an aggregate of 284,200 shares of its
common stock and five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 142,100 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $0.50 per share as consideration for: (i) $60,000
towards the leasehold improvements of the leased premises and (ii) $11,050 of prepaid rent for the fifth month of the lease. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the
Company has (i) recorded a credit to equity for the $71,050 value of the common stock and warrants, (ii) capitalized $60,000 of leasehold improvements which is included
within property and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014, and will be amortized over the term of the lease and (iii) recorded prepaid rent
of $11,050 within prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014, which will be expensed following the fifth month of
the lease.
 
Rent expense amounted to $20,380 and $99,175 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Rent expense is reflected in general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
 
Litigations, Claims and Assessments
 
In the normal course of business, the Company may be involved in legal proceedings, claims and assessments arising in the ordinary course of business.
 
In November 2013, an action was commenced against the Company in the Circuit Court of Palm Beach County, Florida by an alleged former consultant. The action is
associated with an alleged $5,000 loan made in 2009 and an alleged consulting/employment agreement entered into with the Company effective in 2009. Pursuant to the action,
the plaintiff is seeking to recover an unspecified amount of damages but at least approximately $193,000 of cash (or alternatively $52,000 per year from September 2009) as
well as the repayment of the alleged loan with interest, reimbursement for certain out-of-pocket fees and expenses, two weeks vacation pay per year, and the issuance of 80,000
shares of the Company’s common stock or warrants for the purchase of 80,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (or alternatively the market value of such securities). A
trial of the action is scheduled to commence in June 2015. On March 13, 2015, the Company filed with the court a settlement offer in an amount which has been accrued.
 
The Company records legal costs associated with loss contingencies as incurred and accrues for all probable and estimable settlements.
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Research Agreements
 
Effective June 15, 2012, the Company entered into an assignment agreement (the “Assignment Agreement”) with the research foundation of a state university (the
“Foundation”), whereby the Foundation assigned all of its right, title and interest in specified patents to the Company in exchange for a cash payment of $15,000. The Company
also agreed to pay the Foundation a 5% royalty on Patent Revenue (as defined in the Assignment Agreement) over a 20 year period commencing on June 15, 2012. Through
December 31, 2014, no royalties have been earned.
 
Effective June 15, 2012, the Company entered into a research agreement (the “Research Agreement”) with the same state university (the “University”). The Research
Agreement has a term of three years. Pursuant to the Research Agreement, the University agreed to perform certain research services to be used by the Company. Pursuant to
the Research Agreement, the Company agreed to pay the University a fee of $500,000 for each twelve month period of the agreement, payable monthly. In addition, the
Company agreed to pay to the University a 5% royalty, over a 20 year period commencing on June 15, 2012, on the net sales of all products and/or methods directly arising
from inventions and improvements conceived or reduced to practice by the University in the course of performing research during the term of the Research Agreement. The
Research Agreement can be cancelled without penalty upon (a) the second anniversary of the Research Agreement if eventual FDA approval does not appear likely or (b) other
conditions specified in the Research Agreement. Through December 31, 2014, no royalties have been earned.
 
On May 9, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the Research Agreement. Pursuant to the amendment, the parties agreed that (i) no fees are payable by the
Company to the University pursuant to the Research Agreement for the first five monthly payments in 2014 ($208,335 of fees in total were cancelled, of which, $104,168 was
accrued for as of March 31, 2014), (ii) effective with the payment due on June 15, 2014, the monthly fee payable by the Company to the University pursuant to the Research
Agreement will be reduced from $41,667 to $20,000 and (iii) the scope of the work to be performed by the University pursuant to the Research Agreement was reduced. The
Research Agreement, as amended, is scheduled to expire on June 14, 2015. Concurrent with the execution of the amendment, the Company paid $323,336 to the University,
representing the balance due of all fees payable by the Company to date pursuant to the Research Agreement. As a result of the above, the Company recorded an immediate
gain on settlement in the amount of $166,668.
 
During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded research and development expense of approximately $264,000 and $500,000, respectively in
connection with the Research Agreement. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had accrued approximately $43,000 and $353,000, respectively, in connection with
the Research Agreement, which is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
 
Consulting Agreements
 
Marketing Consulting Services
 
On June 27, 2014, a February 17, 2011 agreement for marketing consulting services that had expired on December 31, 2013 was further amended. Pursuant to the amendment,
the agreement was reinstated effective as of April 1, 2014 and provided for an expiration date of December 31, 2014 (the “New Marketing Consulting Term”). In consideration
of services rendered during the New Marketing Consulting Term and the settlement of the Company’s obligation to pay $65,000 in cash to the consultant, the Company issued
to a designee of the consultant 500,000 shares of common stock and issued to the consultant an immediately vested five-year warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The common stock and warrant had grant date values of $110,000 and $37,500, respectively, which were recognized immediately.
During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded consulting expense of $82,500 and $120,000, respectively, related to the marketing consulting
agreement.
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Consulting Agreements – Continued
 
Consulting Services
 
On February 20, 2014, the Company executed a two-year consulting agreement with the Physiatrist-In-Chief Emeritus for the Hospital for Special Surgery in New York City to
become the Company’s Chief Medical Advisor for Spine Medicine pursuant to which he oversees the clinical aspects of the brtxDISC™ Program. The agreement may be
terminated earlier or extended, as provided for in the agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, the consultant is entitled to receive $10,000 per month, escalating to $20,000 per
month upon the FDA approval of the Company’s Investigational New Drug or Investigational Device Exemption application with respect to its brtxDISC™ Program. In
addition, the Company granted the consultant a five-year option to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.65 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The
option vests ratably over three years on the grant date anniversaries and the grant date value of $67,830 will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period. On October 8,
2014, the consulting agreement between the Company and its Chief Medical Advisor for Spine Medicine was amended such that the consultant will be entitled to receive
$15,000 per month (and eliminated the possible increase to $20,000 per month). In connection with the amendment, the consultant was issued a five-year option to purchase
500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.32 per share. The option vests ratably over three years on the grant date anniversaries and the grant
date value of $124,200 will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On March 12, 2014, as additional compensation for consulting services rendered, the Company granted to a consultant an immediately vested, five-year warrant to purchase
100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.53 per share. In addition, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 280,000 shares of common stock had their exercise
prices reduced to $0.53 per share from $1.50 per share and such warrants, as well as a warrant to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock, had their term extended to March
12, 2019. The grant date value of the issued warrant of $23,270 along with the incremental value related to the modification of the outstanding warrants of $30,096 was
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2014 as stock-based compensation expense, which is reflected as consulting expense in the consolidated statements of
operations.
 
On July 23, 2014, the Company entered into a one-year agreement with a consultant to market research and development arrangements and other business transactions to
potential strategic partners and other alliance candidates. In exchange for services provided by the consultant during the term, the Company agreed to issue 30,000 shares of
common stock of the Company for each complete month during the term. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued to the consultant an aggregate
150,000 shares of common stock and the aggregate grant date value of $33,000 was recognized immediately.
 
On October 7, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with a consultant for services regarding the search for a President for the Company’s Disc/Spine Division. The
consultant was entitled to an initial retainer fee of $15,000, payable in shares of the Company’s common stock, and a second retainer fee of $10,000 to be paid in cash. A final
fee will be invoiced upon a selected candidate’s acceptance of BRT’s offer and commencement of employment equal to 28% of the candidate’s first year base salary less the
initial $25,000 retainer fee. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company issued 48,388 shares of common stock related to the initial retainer to the consultant and the $15,000 grant
date value was reflected as consulting expense in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 11 – Subsequent Events for additional details.
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Consulting Agreements – Continued
 
Business Advisory Services
 
On June 27, 2014, a February 17, 2011 agreement for business advisory services that had expired on December 31, 2013 was further amended. Pursuant to the amendment, the
agreement was reinstated effective as of April 1, 2014 and provided for an expiration date of December 31, 2014 (the “New Business Advisory Term”). In consideration of
services rendered during the New Business Advisory Term, the Company agreed to pay a cash fee of $16,667 per month and the Company granted an immediately vested five-
year warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The warrant had a grant date value of $37,500 which was recognized
immediately. On August 27, 2014, the Company and the consultant entered into an agreement pursuant to which the consultant waived the Company’s obligation to pay
$75,000 of accrued cash compensation to the consultant, in exchange for 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. On December 19, 2014, the agreement was further
amended such that the term of the agreement was extended an additional six months until June 30, 2015. During the additional six-month period, the Company agreed to pay a
cash fee of $15,000 per month and the Company granted an immediately vested five-year warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.50 per
share. The warrant had a grant date value of $17,000 which was recognized immediately. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded cash
consulting fee expense of $150,000 and $120,000, respectively, related to the business advisory agreement.
 
Scientific Advisory Services
 
On March 27, 2013, the Company granted a ten-year option to a member of its Scientific Advisory Board to purchase 60,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$1.50 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest as follows: (i) 30,000 shares immediately and (ii) 30,000 shares on the first anniversary of the grant date. The grant date
value of $45,900 was recognized half immediately and half proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On June 10, 2013, the Company granted a five-year option to a member of its Scientific Advisory Board to purchase 5,000 shares of immediately-vested common stock at an
exercise price of $1.00 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The grant date value of $2,056 was recognized immediately.
 
On July 2, 2013, the Company granted a ten-year option to a member of its Scientific Advisory Board to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00
per share, pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest as follows: (i) 50,000 shares immediately and (ii) 50,000 shares on the first anniversary of the grant date. The grant date value of
$47,960 was recognized half immediately and half proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On March 14, 2014, the Company executed an agreement, which will continue until terminated by either party, appointing a new Scientific Advisory Board member. Pursuant
to the agreement, the Company immediately granted the new advisor a five-year option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.50 per share,
pursuant to the Plan. The option vests as follows: (i) 12,500 shares immediately and (ii) 12,500 shares on the first anniversary of the grant date. In addition, on each annual
anniversary date of the agreement, the advisor is entitled to a new five-year option to purchase 5,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price equal to the
then fair market value of the common stock. The option grant date value of $5,860 will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On June 27, 2014, an August 16, 2012 agreement for scientific advisory services was further extended to August 16, 2016 such that the consultant will continue to serve as
Chairman of the Company’s Scientific Advisory Board, will earn $10,000 per month and will be entitled to specified expense reimbursements. In addition, the Company
granted a ten-year option to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.285 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The option vests as follows: (i) 150,000
shares on August 16, 2015 and (ii) 150,000 shares on August 16, 2016. The option grant date value of $81,000 will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
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Consulting Agreements – Continued
 
Other
 
On March 20, 2013, the Company granted an immediately vested, three-year warrant to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share to a
consultant. The grant date value of $6,600 was recognized immediately.
 
On March 22, 2013, the Company granted an immediately vested, five-year warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share as
consideration for legal services. The grant date value of $59,000 was recognized immediately.
 
On December 23, 2013, the Company granted immediately vested, five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.00
per share to consultants. The aggregate grant date value of $16,770 was recognized immediately.
 
On July 22, 2014, the Company granted a consultant an immediately vested five-year warrant to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per
share. The aggregate grant date value of $1,500 was recognized immediately.
 
In addition to the issuances discussed elsewhere in this filing, during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, an aggregate of 474,373 and 129,537 shares of immediately
vested common stock valued at $159,837 and $77,555, respectively, were issued to consultants for various services rendered to the Company.
 
Employment Agreements
 
Chief Executive Officer
 
Effective December 2013, the Company and its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) agreed that the CEO’s 2013 salary would be reduced from $600,000 to $360,000 and that his
2013 bonus of $300,000 and his 2013 vacation pay of $25,000 would be waived. As a result, the Company imputed the value of the services contributed and recorded salary
expense of $565,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 with a corresponding credit to stockholders’ deficiency.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company and its CEO approved amendments to the employment agreement between the Company and the CEO, dated October
4, 2010, as amended, providing for (a) a reduction of the CEO’s annual salary from $600,000 to $450,000, effective October 1, 2014, and (b) a reduction of the CEO’s annual
salary from $450,000 to $400,000, effective January 1, 2015. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded $450,000 and $600,000,
respectively, in operating expenses with regard to the CEO’s base salary.
 
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the accrued and unpaid compensation (salary, bonus, tax liability, car allowance and vacation pay) for the CEO was $574,278 and
$542,535, respectively, and was included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 11– Subsequent Events for additional
details.
 
Other
 
In addition to the Company’s employment agreement with its CEO, as of December 31, 2014, two employees have “at-will” employment agreements with the Company that
currently provide for aggregate cash severance payments of $175,000, payable over twelve months, upon involuntary termination. See Note 11– Subsequent Events for
additional details.
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Board of Directors
 
On June 27, 2014, a director of the Company resigned due to other business commitments. In consideration of director services performed to date, the Company agreed to pay
an aggregate of $80,000 (of which, $50,000 was previously earned and accrued for), payable as follows: (i) $30,000 immediately and (ii) the $50,000 balance in six equal
monthly installments commencing on July 31, 2014. In addition, all outstanding options held by the director which were not exercisable as of the date of resignation became
exercisable on the earlier of (i) the date on which such options were scheduled to become exercisable or (ii) December 31, 2014, and all outstanding options shall remain
exercisable until their respective expiration dates notwithstanding the director’s resignation. As a result of the modification of the options, the Company recorded incremental
stock-based compensation expense of $96,250.
 
On June 27, 2014, the Company elected two new directors. Concurrent with the election, the Company granted the new directors ten-year options to purchase an aggregate of
600,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.285 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The options vest as follows: (i) an aggregate of 200,000 shares on the date of
grant; (ii) an aggregate of 200,000 shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant; and (iii) an aggregate of 200,000 shares on the second anniversary of the date of grant.
The options have an aggregate grant date value of $144,000 which will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, $105,000 and $130,000 of director cash compensation, respectively, was outstanding and included in accrued expenses and other current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
 
Related Party Agreement

 
Effective October 1, 2014, the Company entered into a three-month agreement with an affiliate of one of its directors for consulting services related to the Company’s
brtxDISC™ Program and ThermoStem® Program. Pursuant to the agreement, the affiliate of the director was entitled to a cash fee of $10,000 per month and an amount of
common stock having a fair market value of $5,000 as of the last day of each month during the term. On December 19, 2014, the agreement was amended such that the term of
the agreement was extended until March 31, 2015. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 36,786 shares of common stock pursuant to the agreement
with a grant date fair value of $15,000.
 
Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency
 
Authorized Capital
 
As of December 31, 2014, the Company was authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par
value. The holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Subject to the rights of holders of preferred stock, if any, the holders of common stock
are entitled to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Board of Directors out of legally available funds. Subject to the rights of holders of preferred
stock, if any, upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets of the Company that are legally
available for distribution.
 
On December 19, 2014, effective January 1, 2015, the Company’s shareholders approved the reincorporation of the Company from the State of Nevada to the State of Delaware
and in connection therewith (i) approved an amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized to be issued
by the Company from 100,000,000 to 200,000,000; and (ii) approved an amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of shares of preferred
stock authorized to be issued by the Company from 1,000,000 to 5,000,000.
 
2010 Equity Participation Plan
 
On February 18, 2014 and October 23, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company approved successive increases in the number of shares of common stock authorized to be
issued pursuant to the Plan from 6,000,000 to 12,000,000 and then to 20,000,000. On December 19, 2014, the Company’s shareholders approved an increase in the number of
shares of common stock authorized to be issued pursuant to the Plan to 20,000,000.
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Common Stock and Warrant Offerings
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued an aggregate of 840,589 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.85 to $1.50 per share to investors
for aggregate gross proceeds of $905,000. In connection with the purchases, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 403,590 shares of common
stock at exercise prices ranging from $1.50 to $4.00 per share of common stock. The warrants had an aggregate grant date value of $224,313.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued an aggregate of 8,671,983 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.25 to $0.45 per share to investors
for aggregate gross proceeds of $2,605,000. In connection with the purchases, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2,330,693 shares of common stock at
exercise prices ranging from $0.30 to $0.75 per share of common stock. The warrants have terms ranging from two to five years. The warrants had an aggregate grant date
value of $389,608.
 
See Note 7 – Notes Payable for details associated with common stock issued in conjunction with the extension and exchange of notes payable and related accrued interest.
 
See Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies – Consulting Agreements for details associated with common stock issued in conjunction with consulting agreements.
 
Warrant and Option Valuation
 
The Company has computed the fair value of warrants and options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Option forfeitures are estimated at the time of
valuation and reduce expense ratably over the vesting period. This estimate will be adjusted periodically based on the extent to which actual option forfeitures differ, or are
expected to differ, from the previous estimate, when it is material. The Company estimated forfeitures related to option grants at an annual rate ranging from 0% to 5% for
options granted during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. The expected term used for warrants and options issued to non-employees is the contractual life and the
expected term used for options issued to employees and directors is the estimated period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The Company utilizes the
“simplified” method to develop an estimate of the expected term of “plain vanilla” employee option grants. Since the Company’s stock has not been publicly traded for a
sufficiently long period of time, the Company is utilizing an expected volatility figure based on a review of the historical volatilities, over a period of time, equivalent to the
expected life of the instrument being valued, of similarly positioned public companies within its industry. The risk-free interest rate was determined from the implied yields
from U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with a remaining term consistent with the expected term of the instrument being valued.
 
Warrant Exercise and Reload Program
 
On November 27, 2013, the Company initiated a limited time program (the “Warrant Exercise and Reload Program”) which, at the election of any warrant holder, would permit
them to immediately exercise their outstanding exercisable warrants at an exercise price of $0.30 per share. In connection with the exercise of the warrant, in addition to having
received the number of shares pursuant to such exercise, each holder received a new warrant for the same number of shares purchased with an exercise price of $0.75 per share
and an expiration date two years from the date of grant. The terms of the newly issued warrant permit the Company to redeem the new warrant for a total of $1.00 if the
common stock of the Company trades above $1.25 for five consecutive trading days. Under the Warrant Exercise and Reload Program, warrants to purchase an aggregate of
376,667 and 1,686,029 shares of common stock were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for aggregate gross proceeds of $113,000
and $505,809, respectively. The Company recognized a warrant modification charge of $50,035 and $214,912 during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, which represents the incremental value of the modified warrant and new warrant combined, as compared to the original warrant value, all valued as of the
respective modification dates.
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency – Continued
 
Stock Warrants

 
In applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model to warrants granted, the Company used the following assumptions:
 
    For The Year Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Risk free interest rate     0.39% - 2.20%    0.34% - 1.68%
Expected term (years)     1.96 - 5.00      3.00 - 5.00 
Expected volatility     116% - 122%    132% - 135%
Expected dividends     0.00%    0.00%
 
The weighted average estimated fair value of the warrants granted during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $0.17 and $0.36 per share,
respectively.
 
See Note 7 – Notes Payable for details associated with the issuance of warrants in connection with note issuances and the exchange of notes payable. See Note 9 –
Commitments and Contingencies – Consulting Agreements for details associated with the issuance of warrants as compensation. See Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency –
Common Stock and Warrant Offerings for details associated with the issuance of warrants in connection with common stock and warrant offerings.
 
The Company recorded stock–based compensation expense of $185,266 and $26,777 during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, related to stock
warrants issued as compensation, which is reflected as consulting expense in the consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2014, there was no unrecognized
stock-based compensation expense related to stock warrants.
 
A summary of the warrant activity during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is presented below:
 
                Weighted        
          Weighted     Average        
          Average     Remaining     Aggregate  
    Number of     Exercise     Life     Intrinsic  
    Warrants     Price     In Years     Value  
Outstanding, December 31, 2012     3,334,800    $ 1.69               
Granted     3,147,119      1.56               
Exercised     (1,686,029)     0.30[1]             
Forfeited     -      -               
Outstanding, December 31, 2013     4,795,890    $ 1.39               
Granted     3,849,460      0.70               
Exercised     (376,667)     0.30[1]             
Forfeited     (20,000)     0.50               
Outstanding, December 31, 2014     8,248,683    $ 0.90      3.2    $ - 
                             
Exercisable, December 31, 2014     7,548,683    $ 0.84      3.3    $ - 
 

[1] During the year ended December 31, 2013, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,686,029 shares of common stock, with original exercise prices ranging from $1.50
to $4.00 per share, had their exercise prices reduced to $0.30 per share pursuant to the Warrant Exercise and Reload Program. During the year ended December 31,
2014, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 376,667 shares of common stock, with original exercise prices ranging from $1.50 to $4.00 per share, had their exercise
prices reduced to $0.30 per share pursuant to the Warrant Exercise and Reload Program.
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BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency – Continued
 
Stock Warrants – Continued
 
The following table presents information related to stock warrants at December 31, 2014:
 

Warrants Outstanding     Warrants Exercisable  
            Weighted        
            Average     Exercisable  

Exercise     Number of     Remaining Life     Number of  
Price     Warrants     In Years     Warrants  

                     
$ 0.30      650,000      4.4      650,000 
  0.40      200,000      4.9      200,000 
  0.50      502,100      4.8      502,100 
  0.53      380,000      3.4      380,000 
  0.58      50,000      4.8      50,000 
  0.75      4,043,389      2.8      4,043,389 
  0.94      50,000      4.8      50,000 
  1.00      550,000      4.4      550,000 
  1.50      862,800      2.5      862,800 
  1.75      20,000      2.3      20,000 
  2.00      123,530      3.9      123,530 
  2.50      20,000      2.6      20,000 
  3.00      36,864      3.3      36,864 
  4.00      60,000      2.8      60,000 
   Variable[1]    700,000      -      - 
         8,248,683      3.3      7,548,683 
 

[1] Warrants to purchase 700,000 shares of common stock have an exercise price which is the greater of $1.50 per share or the fair market value of the common stock on
the date certain performance criteria are met. Exercisability of warrants is subject to satisfaction of certain performance criteria which did not occur during the year
ended December 31, 2014.

 
Stock Options
 
In applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model to stock options granted, the Company used the following assumptions:
 
    For the Year Ended  
    December 31,  
    2014     2013  
Risk free interest rate     1.50% - 2.54%    1.13% - 2.66%
Expected term (years)     5.00 - 10.00      5.00 - 10.00 
Expected volatility     116% - 122%    132% - 135%
Expected dividends     0.00%    0.00%
  
The weighted average estimated fair value of the stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $0.27 and $0.26 per share,
respectively.
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Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency – Continued
 
Stock Options – Continued
 
See Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies for details associated with certain grants of options as compensation to employees, directors and consultants.
 
On October 4, 2013, the Company granted ten-year options to employees, directors, and an advisor to purchase an aggregate of 980,000 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $0.60 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest as follows: (i) 490,000 shares immediately and (ii) 490,000 shares on the first anniversary of the grant date. The
grant date value of $199,921 was recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
Between February 18, 2014 and March 12, 2014, the Company granted ten-year options to employees and directors to purchase an aggregate of 2,415,000 shares of common
stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.53 to $0.65 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest as follows: (i) 831,669 shares immediately and (ii) 1,589,331 shares ratably
over two years on the grant date anniversaries. The aggregate grant date value of $566,483 will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On June 16, 2014, the Company granted a five-year option to a consultant to purchase 60,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.39 per share, pursuant to the
Plan. The shares vest ratably over three months on the grant date anniversaries. The grant date value of $18,600 was recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On September 24, 2014, the Company granted a five-year option to a consultant to purchase 75,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.33 per share, pursuant to
the Plan. The shares vest ratably over three months on the grant date anniversaries. The grant date value of $20,100 was recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On October 23, 2014, the Company granted ten-year options to employees and directors to purchase an aggregate of 5,950,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$0.33 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest ratably over three years on the grant date anniversaries. The grant date value of $1,710,400 will be recognized
proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On October 27, 2014, the Company granted a ten-year option to an advisor to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.34 per share, pursuant to the
Plan. The shares vest ratably over three years on the grant date anniversaries. The grant date value of $78,500 will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
 
On November 17, 2014, the Company granted a ten-year option to an employee to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.33 per share, pursuant to
the Plan. The shares vest ratably over three years on the grant date anniversaries. The grant date value of $31,600 will be recognized proportionate to the vesting period.
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Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency – Continued
 
Stock Options – Continued
 
The following table presents information related to stock option expense:
 
                      Weighted  
                Average  
    For the Year Ended     Unrecognized at     Amortization  
    December 31,     December 31,     Period  
    2014     2013     2014     (Years)  
                         
Consulting   $ 365,825    $ 160,894    $ 654,956      2.6 
Research and  development     328,740      251,758      712,551[1]    2.5 
General and  administrative     179,628      235,163      961,378      2.6 
                             
    $ 874,193    $ 647,815    $ 2,328,885      2.6 
 

[1] Includes $448,189 of expense that is subject to non-employee mark-to-market adjustments.
 
As of December 31, 2014, there was $2,328,885 of unrecognized compensation expense which will be amortized over the weighted average remaining vesting period of 2.6
years.
 
A summary of the option activity during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is presented below:
  
                Weighted        
          Weighted     Average        
          Average     Remaining     Aggregate  
    Number of     Exercise     Life     Intrinsic  
    Options     Price     In Years     Value  
                             
Outstanding, December 31, 2012     4,018,000    $ 1.12               
Granted     1,145,000      0.68               
Exercised     -      -               
Forfeited     (120,000)     0.50               
Outstanding, December 31, 2013     5,043,000    $ 1.03               
Granted     10,575,000      0.41               
Exercised     -      -               
Forfeited     (34,000)     1.31               
Outstanding, December 31, 2014     15,584,000    $ 0.61      8.5    $ 979,600 
                             
Exercisable, December 31, 2014     6,371,502    $ 0.91      7.6    $ 45,600 
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Note 10 – Stockholders’ Deficiency – Continued
 
Stock Options – Continued
 
The following table presents information related to stock options at December 31, 2014:
 

Options Outstanding     Options Exercisable  
            Weighted        
      Outstanding     Average     Exercisable  

Exercise     Number of     Remaining Life     Number of  
Price     Options     In Years     Options  

                     
$ 0.285      900,000      9.5      200,000 
  0.320      500,000      -      - 
  0.330      6,125,000      4.7      75,000 
  0.340      250,000      -      - 
  0.390      60,000      4.5      60,000 
  0.500      345,000      4.9      332,500 
  0.530      40,000      9.2      40,000 
  0.600      980,000      8.8      980,000 
  0.650      2,675,000      9.1      1,125,002 
  1.000      131,000      8.0      131,000 
  1.050      2,270,000      7.1      2,270,000 
  1.100      5,000      2.4      5,000 
  1.200      10,000      1.4      10,000 
  1.250      43,000      1.9      43,000 
  1.400      350,000      4.5      200,000 
  1.500      900,000      7.9      900,000 
         15,584,000      7.6      6,371,502 
 
Compensatory Common Stock Issuances
 
See Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies for details associated with certain issuances of common stock as compensation to employees, directors and consultants.
 
On October 4, 2013, the Company issued 50,000 shares of immediately vested common stock to its legal counsel. The $12,500 grant date fair value was recognized
immediately.
 
Between June 27, 2014 and December 31, 2014, the Company issued 150,000 shares of immediately vested common stock to its legal counsel. The $33,000 grant date fair
value was recognized immediately.
 
The following table presents information related to compensatory common stock issuances expense during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:
 
    For the Year Ended     Unrecognized at 
    December 31,     December 31,  
    2014     2013     2014  
                   
Consulting   $ 276,500    $ 111,351    $ - 
Research and development     24,337      26,704      - 
                      
    $ 300,837    $ 138,055    $ - 
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Compensatory Common Stock Issuances – Continued
 
A summary of compensatory common stock issuances activity during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is presented below:

 
          Weighted        
          Average     Total  
    Number of     Issuance Date     Issuance Date  
    Shares     Fair Value     Fair Value  
                   
Non-vested, December 31, 2012     -    $ -    $ - 
Granted     239,537      0.58      138,055 
Vested     (239,537)     0.58      (138,055)
Forfeited     -      -      - 
Non-vested, December 31, 2013     -    $ -    $ - 
Granted     1,943,747      0.26      511,886 
Vested     (1,943,747)     (0.26)     (511,886)
Forfeited     -      -      - 
Non-vested, December 31, 2014     -    $ -    $ - 
 
Note 11 - Subsequent Events
 
Research and Development Agreements; Bermuda Lender
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company received the third and fourth payments of four quarterly payments in the aggregate amount of $177,234 pursuant to the
research and development agreement with a U.S. pharmaceutical company discussed in Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Revenue Recognition –
Research and Development Agreements. This payment triggered the mandatory principal prepayment of $177,237 of the note payable that was issued to the Bermuda Lender
on May 8, 2014. As of the filing date of this report, $266,297 of mandatory prepayments to the Bermuda Lender related to the research agreement were unpaid.
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company received payment in the amount of $50,000 pursuant to the research and development agreement with a Japanese
pharmaceutical company discussed in Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Revenue Recognition – Research and Development Agreements. As of the filing
date of this report, a $50,000 mandatory prepayment to the Bermuda Lender related to the research and development agreement was unpaid.
 
Short Term Advances

 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company received an aggregate of $60,055 in non-interest bearing advances from an officer and made aggregate repayments of $60,055.
 
Notes Payable
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company issued a convertible note with a principal amount of $30,000 which bears interest at a rate of 12% annum payable upon
maturity. The convertible note, is convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at the election of the Company during the period beginning five days prior to
maturity and ending on the day immediately prior to maturity at the greater of (a) 55% of the fair value of the Company’s stock or (b) $0.10 per share.
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company elected to convert a convertible note with a principal balance of $50,000 and accrued interest of $5,984 into 222,245 shares of
common stock at a conversion price of $0.25 per share.
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Note 11 - Subsequent Events – Continued
 
Notes Payable - Continued
 
Notes payable, non-current portion represents notes payable that were either exchanged for equity or whose maturities were extended past December 31, 2015 after the balance
sheet date but before the consolidated financial statements were issued. Accrued interest, non-current portion represents the accrued interest that, after the balance sheet date but
before the consolidated financial statements were issued, was either exchanged for equity or converted into the principal amount of a note payable classified as non-current.
 
Employment Agreements
 
On February 9, 2015, the Company hired a President for its Disc/Spine Division. As compensation the Company granted to the President of its Disc/Spine Division a ten-year
option to purchase 500,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.46 per share, pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest annually over three years on the grant date
anniversaries.
 
On March 9, 2015, the Company and the CEO agreed to extend the term of his employment agreement to December 31, 2017. Pursuant to the employment agreement, the CEO
is entitled to receive a salary of $400,000 per annum. The CEO is entitled to receive an annual bonus for 2015 equal to 50% of his annual base salary and an annual bonus for
the years 2016 and 2017 equal to 50% of his annual base salary in the event certain performance goals, as determined by the Company’s Compensation Committee, are
satisfied. Pursuant to the employment agreement, in the event that the CEO’s employment is terminated by the Company without “cause”, or the CEO terminates his
employment for “good reason” (each as defined in the employment agreement), the CEO would be entitled to receive severance in an amount equal to one time his then annual
base salary and certain benefits, plus $100,000 (in lieu of bonus). In addition, pursuant to the employment agreement, the CEO would be entitled to receive such severance in
the event that the term of his employment agreement is not extended beyond December 31, 2017 and, within three months of such expiration date, his employment is
terminated by the Company without “cause” or the CEO terminates his employment for any reason. Further, in the event that the CEO’s employment is terminated by the
Company without “cause”, or the CEO terminates his employment for “good reason”, following a “change in control” (as defined in the employment agreement), the CEO
would be entitled to receive severance in an amount equal to one and one-half times his then annual base salary and certain benefits, plus $300,000 (in lieu of bonus).
 
On March 9, 2015, the Company agreed to amend the at will employment agreement with its Vice President of Research and Development (“VP of R&D”). Pursuant to the
employment agreement, as amended, in the event that the VP of R&D’s employment with the Company is terminated without cause, the VP of R&D would currently be entitled
to receive a cash severance payment of $125,000.
 
Common Stock and Warrant Offerings
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company issued an aggregate of 2,703,333 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.25 to $0.30 per share to investors for
aggregate gross proceeds of $801,000. In connection with the purchases, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 850,833 shares of common stock at exercise
prices ranging from $0.40 to $0.75 per share of common stock. The warrants have a term of five years. In connection with the common stock and warrant offerings, a
previously outstanding warrant to purchase 80,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.75 per share had its expiration date extended from December 31, 2015 to
December 31, 2016.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company issued an aggregate of 270,295 shares of common stock valued at $73,528 to consultants pursuant to consulting agreements.
 
On January 23, 2015, the Company granted a five-year option to consultants to purchase an aggregate 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.47 per share,
pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest as follows: (i) 75,000 shares vest ratably over three months on the grant date anniversaries, (ii) 12,500 shares vest immediately and (iii)
12,500 shares vest on the grant date anniversary.
  

F-35

 
 



 
Exhibit 10.1

 
BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
2010 EQUITY PARTICIPATION PLAN

 
1.                     Purpose. The BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) is intended to advance the interests of BioRestorative

Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”) by inducing individuals or entities of outstanding ability and potential to join and remain with, or provide consulting or advisory services to,
the Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company, by encouraging and enabling eligible employees, non-employee directors, consultants and advisors to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company, and by providing the participating employees, non-employee directors, consultants and advisors with an additional incentive to promote
the success of the Company. This is accomplished by providing for the granting of Incentive Stock Options, Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted
Stock and Stock Bonuses, as such terms are defined in Section 2, to employees, non-employee directors, consultants and advisors. As used herein, the term “parent” or
“subsidiary” shall mean any present or future entity which is or would be a “parent corporation” or “subsidiary corporation” of the Company as the term is defined in
Section 424 of the Code (as hereinafter defined) (determined as if the Company were the employer corporation).

 
2.           Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in the Plan shall have the following meanings:

 
(a)                    “Award Agreement” shall mean a written agreement, in such form as the Committee shall determine, that evidences the terms and

conditions of a Stock Award granted under the Plan.
 
(b)          “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.
 
(c)          “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 
(d)                    “Committee” shall mean a committee or subcommittee of the Board to whom authority has been granted by the Board to make

determinations with regard to the Plan, which committee or subcommittee shall consist of at least two persons, each of whom is intended to be an “outside independent
director” to the extent required by the rules and regulations of any established stock exchange or a national market system, including, without limitation, The Nasdaq Stock
Market (“Nasdaq”), and an “outside director” to the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code. If for any reason the appointed Committee does not meet the requirements
of Section 162(m) of the Code, such noncompliance shall not affect the validity of Stock Awards, interpretations or other actions of the Committee.

 
(e)          “Common Stock” shall mean the common stock, $.01 par value, of the Company.
 
(f)          “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 

 



 

 
(g)           “Fair Market Value” on a specified date means the value of a share of Common Stock, determined as follows:

 
(i)                    if the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, including, without limitation,

Nasdaq, its Fair Market Value shall be the closing sales price for such stock (or the closing bid, if no sales were reported) as quoted on such exchange or system on the day
immediately preceding the day of determination (or, if the determination is made after the close of business for trading, then on the day of determination) as reported in The
Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Committee deems reliable;

 
(ii)         if the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, its Fair Market Value

shall be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the day immediately preceding the day of determination (or, if the determination is made
after the close of business for trading, then on the day of determination), as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Committee deems reliable; or

 
(iii)          in the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value shall be determined in good faith by the

Committee under a method that complies with Code Sections 422 and 409A, if applicable.
 
(h)          “Incentive Stock Option” shall mean an Option that is an “incentive stock option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code and that is

identified as an Incentive Stock Option in the Award Agreement by which it is evidenced.
 
(i)            “Nonstatutory Stock Option” shall mean an Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
 
(j)            “Option” shall mean an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option.
 
(k)           “Restricted Stock” shall mean an award of shares of Common Stock that is subject to certain conditions on vesting and restrictions on

transferability as provided in Section 15 of the Plan.
 
(l)                       “Section 162(m) of the Code” means the exception for performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code and any

applicable Treasury regulations thereunder.
 
(m)                   “Section 409A of the Code” means the nonqualified deferred compensation rules under Section 409A of the Code and any applicable

Treasury regulations thereunder.
 
(n)          “Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 

2



 

 
(o)                    “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” shall mean a right to receive payment of the appreciated value of shares of Common Stock as

provided in Section 10 of the Plan.
 
(p)          “Stock Award” shall mean an Incentive Stock Option, a Nonstatutory Stock Option, a Restricted Stock award, a Stock Appreciation Right

or a Stock Bonus award.
 
(q)          “Stock Bonus” shall mean a bonus award payable in shares of Common Stock as provided in Section 16 of the Plan.

 
3.           Administration. The Plan shall be administered by the Board or the Committee. All references in the Plan to the “Committee” shall be deemed to

refer to the “Board” if no committee is established for the purpose of making determinations with respect to the Plan. Except as herein specifically provided, the interpretation
and construction by the Committee of any provision of the Plan or of any Stock Award granted under it shall be final and conclusive, provided, that, with regard to any
provision of this Plan or any Award Agreement relating thereto that is intended to comply with Section 162(m) of the Code, any such action by the Committee shall be
permitted only to the extent such action would be permitted under Section 162(m) of the Code. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, adopt special guidelines and
provisions for persons who are residing in or employed in, or subject to, the taxes of, any domestic or foreign jurisdictions to comply with applicable tax and securities laws of
such domestic or foreign jurisdictions. This Plan is intended to comply with the applicable provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code with respect to Awards intended to be
“performance-based,” and this Plan shall be limited, construed and interpreted in a manner so as to comply therewith. The receipt of a Stock Award by any members of the
Committee shall not preclude their vote on any matters in connection with the administration or interpretation of the Plan.

 
4.           Shares Subject to the Plan. The shares subject to Stock Awards granted under the Plan shall be the Common Stock, whether authorized but unissued

or held in the Company’s treasury, or shares purchased from stockholders expressly for use under the Plan. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock which may be
issued pursuant to Stock Awards granted under the Plan shall not exceed in the aggregate twenty million (20,000,000) shares. The Company shall at all times while the Plan is
in force reserve such number of shares of Common Stock as will be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of all outstanding Stock Awards granted under the Plan. In the event
any Option or SAR granted under the Plan shall expire or terminate for any reason without having been exercised in full or shall cease for any reason to be exercisable in whole
or in part, the unpurchased shares subject thereto shall again be available for Stock Awards under the Plan. In the event any shares of Restricted Stock are forfeited for any
reason or the right to receive any Stock Bonus is terminated for any reason, the shares forfeited shall again be available for Stock Awards under the Plan. In the event shares of
Common Stock are delivered to, or withheld by, the Company pursuant to Section 13(b) or 29 hereof, only the net number of shares issued, i.e., net of the shares so delivered or
withheld, shall be considered to have been issued pursuant to the Plan.
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5.           Participation. The class of individuals and entities that shall be eligible to receive Stock Awards (“Grantees”) under the Plan shall be (a) with respect

to Incentive Stock Options, all employees of either the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company, and (b) with respect to all other Stock Awards, all employees and
non-employee directors of, and consultants and advisors to, either the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company; provided, however, no Stock Award shall be
granted to any such consultant or advisor unless (i) the consultant or advisor is a natural person (or an entity wholly-owned, directly or indirectly, by a natural person), (ii) bona
fide services have been or are to be rendered by such consultant or advisor and (iii) such services are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital raising
transaction and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a market for the Company’s securities. The Committee, in its sole discretion, but subject to the provisions of
the Plan, shall determine the employees and non-employee directors of, and the consultants and advisors to, the Company and its parents and subsidiaries to whom Stock
Awards shall be granted, and the number of shares to be covered by each Stock Award grant, taking into account the nature of the employment or services rendered by the
individuals or entities being considered, their annual compensation, their present and potential contributions to the success of the Company, and such other factors as the
Committee may deem relevant. For purposes hereof, a non-employee to whom an offer of employment has been extended shall be considered an employee, provided that the
Stock Award granted to such individual shall not be exercisable or vest, in whole or in part, for a period of at least one year from the date of grant and, in the event the
individual does not commence employment with the Company, the Stock Award granted shall be considered null and void.

 
6.           Award Agreement. Each Stock Award granted under the Plan shall be authorized by the Committee, and shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement

which shall be executed by the Company and, in the discretion of the Committee, by the individual or entity to whom such Stock Award is granted. The Award Agreement shall
specify the number of shares of Common Stock as to which the Stock Award is granted, the period during which any Option or SAR is exercisable and the option or base price
per share thereof, the vesting periods for any Restricted Stock or Stock Bonus, any performance-based vesting criteria (the “Performance Goals”) and such other terms and
provisions as the Committee may deem necessary or appropriate, provided, that, with regard to any Stock Award that is intended to comply with Section 162(m) of the Code,
any applicable performance criteria shall be based on one or more of the Performance Goals set forth in Exhibit A hereto and no such Stock Awards other than Options or SARs
shall be granted on or after the fifth anniversary of the stockholder approval of the Plan unless the Performance Goals set forth on Exhibit A are reapproved (or other designated
performance goals are approved) by the stockholders no later than the first stockholder meeting that occurs in the fifth year following the year in which stockholders approve
the Performance Goals set forth on Exhibit A.

 
7.           Incentive Stock Options. The Committee may grant Incentive Stock Options under the Plan which are subject to the following terms and conditions

and any other terms and conditions as may at any time be required by Section 422 of the Code:
 
(a)                    No Incentive Stock Option shall be granted to individuals other than employees of the Company or of a parent or subsidiary of the

Company.
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(b)          Each Incentive Stock Option under the Plan must be granted prior to November 17, 2020, which is within ten years from the date the Plan

was adopted by the Board.
 
(c)          The option price of the shares subject to any Incentive Stock Option shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock at

the time such Incentive Stock Option is granted; provided, however, if an Incentive Stock Option is granted to an individual who owns, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is
granted, more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or of a parent or subsidiary of the Company (a “10% Stockholder”), the
option price of the shares subject to the Incentive Stock Option shall be at least 110% of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock at the time such Incentive Stock Option is
granted.

 
(d)          No Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan shall be exercisable after the expiration of ten years from the date of its grant; provided,

however, if an Incentive Stock Option is granted to a 10% Stockholder, such Incentive Stock Option shall not be exercisable after the expiration of five years from the date of
its grant. Every Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan shall be subject to earlier termination as expressly provided in Section 12 hereof.

 
(e)          For purposes of determining stock ownership under this Section 7, the attribution rules of Section 424(d) of the Code shall apply.

 
8.           Nonstatutory Stock Options. The Committee may grant Nonstatutory Stock Options under the Plan. Nonstatutory Stock Options shall be subject to

the following terms and conditions:
 
(a)          A Nonstatutory Stock Option may be granted to any individual or entity eligible to receive an Option under the Plan pursuant to clause (b)

of Section 5 hereof.
 
(b)          Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, the option price of the shares subject to a Nonstatutory Stock Option shall not be less

than the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock at the time such Nonstatutory Stock Option is granted.
 
(c)          No Nonstatutory Stock Option granted under the Plan shall be exercisable after the expiration of ten years from the date of its grant.
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9.           Reload Options. The Committee may grant Options with a reload feature. A reload feature shall only apply when the option price is paid by delivery

of Common Stock (as set forth in Section 13(b)(ii)) or by having the Company reduce the number of shares otherwise issuable to a Grantee (as provided for in the last sentence
of Section 13(b)) (a “Net Exercise”). The Award Agreement for the Options containing the reload feature shall provide that the Grantee shall receive, contemporaneously with
the payment of the option price in shares of Common Stock or in the event of a Net Exercise, a reload stock option (the “Reload Option”) to purchase that number of shares of
Common Stock equal to the sum of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock used to exercise the Option (or not issued in the case of a Net Exercise), and (ii) with respect to
Nonstatutory Stock Options, the number of shares of Common Stock used to satisfy any tax withholding requirement incident to the exercise of such Nonstatutory Stock
Option. The terms of the Plan applicable to the Option shall be equally applicable to the Reload Option with the following exceptions: (i) the option price per share of Common
Stock deliverable upon the exercise of the Reload Option, (A) in the case of a Reload Option which is an Incentive Stock Option being granted to a 10% Stockholder, shall be
110% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of grant of the Reload Option and (B) in the case of a Reload Option which is an Incentive Stock
Option being granted to a person other than a 10% Stockholder or is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, shall be the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of
grant of the Reload Option; and (ii) the term of the Reload Option shall be equal to the remaining option term of the Option (including a Reload Option) which gave rise to the
Reload Option. The Reload Option shall be evidenced by an appropriate amendment to the Award Agreement for the Option which gave rise to the Reload Option. In the event
the exercise price of an Option containing a reload feature is not paid in shares of Common Stock, the reload feature shall have no application with respect to such exercise.

 
10.          Stock Appreciation Rights.

 
(a)          The Committee may grant Stock Appreciation Rights to such persons eligible under the Plan as the Committee may select from time to

time. SARs shall be granted at such times, in such amounts and under such other terms and conditions as the Committee shall determine, which terms and conditions shall be
evidenced under an Award Agreement, subject to the terms of the Plan. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement, an SAR shall entitle the Grantee to
exercise the SAR, in whole or in part, in exchange for a payment of shares of Common Stock, cash or a combination thereof, as determined by the Committee and provided for
in the Award Agreement, equal in value to the excess of the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock underlying the SAR, determined on the date of exercise, over the
base amount set forth in the Award Agreement for the shares of Common Stock underlying the SAR, which base amount shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of such
Common Stock, determined as of the date the SAR is granted. The Company may, in its sole discretion, withhold from any such cash payment any amount necessary to satisfy
the Company’s obligation for withholding taxes with respect to such payment.

 
(b)          No SAR granted under the Plan shall be exercisable after the expiration of ten years from the date of its grant.
 
(c)          All references in the Plan to “Options” shall be deemed to include “SARs” where applicable.

 
11.          Transferability of Options.

 
(a)          No Option granted under the Plan shall be transferable by the individual or entity to whom it was granted other than by will or the laws of

descent and distribution, and, during the lifetime of an individual, shall not be exercisable by any other person, but only by him.
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(b)          Notwithstanding Section 11(a) above, a Nonstatutory Stock Option granted under the Plan may be transferred in whole or in part during a

Grantee’s lifetime, upon the approval of the Committee, to a Grantee’s “family members” (as such term is defined in Rule 701(c)(3) of the Securities Act and General
Instruction A(1)(a)(5) to Form S-8) through a gift or domestic relations order. The transferred portion of a Nonstatutory Stock Option may only be exercised by the person or
entity who acquires a proprietary interest in such Option pursuant to the transfer. The terms applicable to the transferred portion shall be the same as those in effect for the
Option immediately prior to such transfer and shall be set forth in such documents issued to the transferee as the Committee may deem appropriate. As used in the Plan, the
terms “Grantee” (when referring to an Option recipient) and “holder of an Option” shall refer to the grantee of the Option and not any transferee thereof.

 
12.          Effect of Termination of Employment or Death on Options.

 
(a)          Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement and except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of this Section 12, if the employment

of an employee by, or the services of a non-employee director for, or consultant or advisor to, the Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company, shall terminate for any
reason, then his Option may be exercised at any time within three months after such termination, subject to the provisions of subsection (d) of this Section 12. For purposes of
this subsection (a), an employee, non-employee director, consultant or advisor who leaves the employ or services of the Company to become an employee or non-employee
director of, or a consultant or advisor to, a parent or subsidiary of the Company or a corporation (or subsidiary or parent of the corporation) which has assumed the Option of
the Company as a result of a corporate reorganization or like event shall not be considered to have terminated his employment or services.

 
(b)          Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, if the holder of an Option under the Plan dies (i) while employed by, or while serving

as a non-employee director for or a consultant or advisor to, the Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company, or (ii) within three months after the termination of his
employment or services for any reason, then such Option may, subject to the provisions of subsection (d) of this Section 12, be exercised by the estate of the employee or non-
employee director, consultant or advisor, or by a person who acquired the right to exercise such Option by bequest or inheritance or by reason of the death of such employee or
non-employee director, consultant or advisor, at any time within one year after such death.

 
(c)          Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, if the holder of an Option under the Plan ceases employment or services because of

permanent and total disability (within the meaning of Section 23(e)(3) of the Code) (“Permanent Disability”) while employed by, or while serving as a non-employee director
for or consultant or advisor to, the Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company, then such Option may, subject to the provisions of subsection (d) of this Section 12, be
exercised at any time within one year after his termination of employment, termination of directorship or termination of consulting or advisory services, as the case may be, due
to the disability. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Company is a party to an employment, consulting or advisory agreement with a Grantee and such agreement
provides for termination of employment or engagement based upon a disability or other incapacity, then, for such Grantee, a termination of employment or engagement for
disability or other incapacity pursuant to the provisions thereof shall be considered to be a termination based upon Permanent Disability for purposes hereof. Furthermore,
notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to Stock Awards that are subject to Section 409A of the Code, Permanent Disability shall mean that a Grantee is disabled under
Section 409A(a)(2)(c)(i) or (ii) of the Code.
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(d)          An Option may not be exercised pursuant to this Section 12 except to the extent that the holder was entitled to exercise the Option at the

time of termination of employment, termination of directorship, termination of consulting or advisory services, or death, and in any event may not be exercised after the
expiration of the Option.

 
(e)          For purposes of this Section 12, the employment relationship of an employee of the Company or of a parent or subsidiary of the Company

will be treated as continuing intact while he is on military or sick leave or other bona fide leave of absence (such as temporary employment by the Government) if such leave
does not exceed 90 days, or, if longer, so long as his right to reemployment is guaranteed either by statute or by contract.

 
13.          Exercise of Options.

 
(a)          Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, any Option granted under the Plan shall be exercisable, subject to vesting, in whole at

any time, or in part from time to time, prior to expiration. The Committee, in its absolute discretion, may provide in any Award Agreement that the exercise of any Options
granted under the Plan shall be subject (i) to such condition or conditions as it may impose, including, but not limited to, a condition that the holder thereof remain in the
employ or service of, or continue to provide consulting or advisory services to, the Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company for such period or periods from the date
of grant of the Option as the Committee, in its absolute discretion, shall determine; and (ii) to such limitations as it may impose, including, but not limited to, a limitation that
the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time the Option is granted) of the Common Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first
time by any employee during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and its parents and subsidiaries) shall not exceed $100,000. In addition, in the event that under
any Award Agreement the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time the Option is granted) of the Common Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are
exercisable for the first time by any employee during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and its parents and subsidiaries corporations) exceeds $100,000, the
Committee may, when shares are transferred upon exercise of such Options, designate those shares which shall be treated as transferred upon exercise of an Incentive Stock
Option and those shares which shall be treated as transferred upon exercise of a Nonstatutory Stock Option.

 
(b)          An Option granted under the Plan shall be exercised by the delivery by the holder thereof to the Company at its principal office (attention of

the Secretary) of written notice of the number of shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised. Such notice shall be accompanied, or followed within ten days of
delivery thereof, by payment of the full option price of such shares, and payment of such option price shall be made by the holder’s delivery of (i) his check payable to the order
of the Company, or (ii) previously acquired Common Stock, the Fair Market Value of which shall be determined as of the date of exercise (provided that the shares delivered
pursuant hereto are acceptable to the Committee in its sole discretion) or (iii) if provided for in the Award Agreement, his check payable to the order of the Company in an
amount at least equal to the par value of the Common Stock being acquired, together with a promissory note, in form and upon such terms as are acceptable to the Committee,
made payable to the order of the Company in an amount equal to the balance of the exercise price, or (iv) by the holder’s delivery of any combination of the foregoing (i), (ii)
and (iii). Alternatively, if provided for in the Award Agreement, the holder may elect to have the Company reduce the number of shares otherwise issuable by a number of
shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the exercise price of the Option being exercised.

 

8



 

 
14.          Further Conditions of Exercise of Options.

 
(a)          Unless prior to the exercise of the Option the shares issuable upon such exercise have been registered with the Securities and Exchange

Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, the notice of exercise shall be accompanied by a representation or agreement of the person or estate exercising the Option to the
Company to the effect that such shares are being acquired for investment purposes and not with a view to the distribution thereof, and such other documentation as may be
required by the Company, unless in the opinion of counsel to the Company such representation, agreement or documentation is not necessary to comply with the Securities Act.

 
(b)          If the Common Stock is listed on any securities exchange, including, without limitation, Nasdaq, the Company shall not be obligated to

deliver any Common Stock pursuant to this Plan until it has been listed on each such exchange. In addition, the Company shall not be obligated to deliver any Common Stock
pursuant to this Plan until there has been qualification under or compliance with such federal or state laws, rules or regulations as the Company may deem applicable. The
Company shall use reasonable efforts to obtain such listing, qualification and compliance.

 
15.          Restricted Stock Grants.

 
(a)          The Committee may grant Restricted Stock under the Plan to any individual or entity eligible to receive Restricted Stock pursuant to clause

(b) of Section 5 hereof.
 
(b)          In addition to any other applicable provisions hereof and except as may otherwise be specifically provided in an Award Agreement, the

following restrictions in this Section 15(b) shall apply to grants of Restricted Stock made by the Committee:
 
(i)                 No shares granted pursuant to a grant of Restricted Stock may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or

hypothecated until, and only to the extent that, such shares are vested.
 
(ii)         Shares granted pursuant to a grant of Restricted Stock shall vest as determined by the Committee, as provided for in the Award

Agreement. The foregoing notwithstanding (but subject to the discretion of the Committee and except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement), a Grantee shall forfeit all
shares not previously vested, if any, at such time as the Grantee is no longer employed by, or serving as a director of, or rendering consulting or advisory services to, the
Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company. All forfeited shares shall be returned to the Company.
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(c)          In determining the vesting requirements with respect to a grant of Restricted Stock, the Committee may impose such restrictions on any

shares granted as it may deem advisable including, without limitation, restrictions relating to length of service, corporate performance, attainment of individual or group
Performance Goals, federal or state securities laws and Rule 162(m) of the Code, and may legend the certificates representing Restricted Stock to give appropriate notice of
such restrictions. With regard to a Restricted Stock Award that is intended to comply with Section 162(m) of the Code, to the extent any such provision would create
impermissible discretion under Section 162(m) of the Code or otherwise violate Section 162(m) of the Code, such provision shall be of no force or effect. The applicable
Performance Goals shall be based on one or more of the performance criteria set forth in Exhibit A hereto. Any such restrictions shall be specifically set forth in the Award
Agreement.

 
(d)                   Certificates representing shares granted that are subject to restrictions shall be held by the Company or, if the Committee so specifies,

deposited with a third-party custodian or trustee until lapse of all restrictions on the shares. After such lapse, certificates for such shares (or the vested percentage of such
shares) shall be delivered by the Company to the Grantee; provided, however, that the Company need not issue fractional shares.

 
(e)          During any applicable period of restriction, the Grantee shall be the record owner of the Restricted Stock and shall be entitled to receive all

dividends and other distributions paid with respect to such shares while they are so restricted. However, if any such dividends or distributions are paid in shares of Company
stock or cash or other property during an applicable period of restriction, the shares, cash and/or other property deliverable shall be held by the Company or third party
custodian or trustee and be subject to the same restrictions as the shares with respect to which they were issued. Moreover, the Committee may provide in each grant such other
restrictions, terms and conditions as it may deem advisable with respect to the treatment and holding of any stock, cash or property that is received in exchange for Restricted
Stock granted pursuant to the Plan.

 
(f)          Each Grantee making an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code shall, upon making such election, promptly provide a copy thereof

to the Company.
 
16.          Stock Bonus Grants.

 
(a)          The Committee may grant Stock Bonus awards to such persons eligible under the Plan as the Committee may select from time to time.

Stock Bonus awards shall be granted at such times, in such amounts and under such other terms and conditions as the Committee shall determine, which terms and conditions
shall be evidenced under an Award Agreement, subject to the terms of the Plan. Upon satisfaction of any conditions, limitations and restrictions set forth in the Award
Agreement, a Stock Bonus award shall entitle the recipient to receive payment of a bonus described under the Stock Bonus award in the form of shares of Common Stock of the
Company. Prior to the date on which a Stock Bonus award is required to be paid under an Award Agreement, the Stock Bonus award shall constitute an unfunded, unsecured
promise by the Company to distribute Common Stock in the future.
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(b)          The Committee may condition the grant or vesting of Stock Bonus Awards upon the attainment of specified Performance Goals set forth on

Exhibit A as the Committee may determine, in its sole discretion, provided that, to the extent that such Stock Bonus Awards are intended to comply with Section 162(m) of the
Code, the Committee shall establish the objective Performance Goals for the vesting of such Stock Bonus Awards based on a performance period applicable to each Grantee or
class of Grantees in writing prior to the beginning of the applicable performance period or at such later date as permitted under Section 162(m) of the Code and while the
outcome of the Performance Goals are substantially uncertain. Such Performance Goals may incorporate, if and only to the extent permitted under Section 162(m) of the Code,
provisions for disregarding (or adjusting for) changes in accounting methods, corporate transactions (including, without limitation, dispositions and acquisitions) and other
similar type events or circumstances. To the extent any such provision would create impermissible discretion under Section 162(m) of the Code or otherwise violate Section
162(m) of the Code, such provision shall be of no force or effect. The applicable Performance Goals shall be based on one or more of the performance criteria set forth in
Exhibit A hereto.

 
(c)                   Shares granted pursuant to a Stock Bonus shall vest as determined by the Committee, as provided for in the Award Agreement. The

foregoing notwithstanding (but subject to the discretion of the Committee and except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement), a Grantee shall forfeit the right to receive
all shares not previously vested, if any, at such time as the Grantee is no longer employed by, or serving as a director of, or rendering consulting or advisory services to, the
Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company.

 
17.          Adjustment Upon Change in Capitalization.

 
(a)          In the event that the outstanding Common Stock is hereafter changed by reason of reorganization, merger, consolidation, recapitalization,

reclassification, stock split-up, combination of shares, reverse split, stock dividend or the like, an appropriate adjustment shall be made by the Committee in the aggregate
number of shares available under the Plan, in the number of shares and option price per share subject to outstanding Options, in the number of shares issuable pursuant to
outstanding Stock Bonus grants, and in any limitation on exerciseability referred to in Section 13(a)(ii) hereof which is set forth in outstanding Incentive Stock Options. If the
Company shall be reorganized, consolidated, or merged with another corporation, subject to the provisions of Section 20 hereof, the holder of an Option shall be entitled to
receive upon the exercise of his Option, and the Grantee of a Stock Bonus shall be entitled to receive upon satisfaction of any conditions, limitations and restrictions set forth in
the Award Agreement with respect to the Stock Bonus, the same number and kind of shares of stock or the same amount of property, cash or securities as he would have been
entitled to receive upon the happening of any such corporate event as if he had been, immediately prior to such event, the holder of the number of shares covered by his Option
or subject to the Stock Bonus; provided, however, that, in such event, the Committee shall have the discretionary power to take any action necessary or appropriate to prevent
any Incentive Stock Option granted hereunder which is intended to be an “incentive stock option” from being disqualified as such under the then existing provisions of the
Code or any law amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto; and provided, further, that in such event the Committee shall have the discretionary power to take any action
necessary or appropriate to prevent such adjustment from being deemed or considered as the adoption of a new plan requiring shareholder approval under Section 422 of the
Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
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(b)          Any adjustment in the number of shares shall apply proportionately to only the unexercised portion of the Option, or the unissued shares

subject to an outstanding Stock Bonus, granted hereunder. If fractions of a share would result from any such adjustment, the adjustment shall be revised to the next lower whole
number of shares.

 
18.          Rights of Grantees. The holder of an Option granted under the Plan shall have none of the rights of a stockholder with respect to the Common

Stock covered by his Option until such Common Stock shall be transferred to him upon the exercise of his Option. The recipient of a Stock Bonus under the Plan shall have
none of the rights of a stockholder with respect to the Common Stock covered by the Stock Bonus until the date on which the Grantee is entitled to receive the Common Stock
pursuant to the Award Agreement.

 
19.          Restrictions Upon Shares; Right of First Refusal.

 
(a)          No Grantee shall, for value or otherwise, sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the shares issued pursuant to the

exercise of an Option or received as Restricted Stock or pursuant to a Stock Bonus (collectively, the “Shares”), or of any beneficial interest therein (collectively a
“Disposition”), except as permitted by and in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. The Company shall not recognize as valid or give effect to any Disposition of any
Shares or interest therein upon the books of the Company unless and until the Grantee desiring to make such Disposition shall have complied with the provisions of the Plan.

 
(b)          No Grantee shall, without the written consent of the Company, pledge, encumber, create a security interest in or lien on, or in any way

attempt to otherwise impose or suffer to exist any lien, attachment, levy, execution or encumbrance on the Shares.
 
(c)          If, at any time, a Grantee desires to make a Disposition of any of the Shares (the “Offered Shares”) to any third-party individual or entity

pursuant to a bona fide offer (the “Offer”), he shall give written notice of his intention to do so (“Notice of Intent to Sell”) to the Company, which notice shall specify the
name(s) of the offeror(s) (the “Proposed Offeror(s)”), the price per share offered for the Offered Shares and all other terms and conditions of the proposed transaction.
Thereupon, the Company shall have the option to purchase from the Grantee all, but not less than all, the Offered Shares upon the same terms and conditions as set forth in the
Offer.

 
(d)          If the Company desires to purchase all of the Offered Shares, it must send a written notice to such effect to the Grantee within 30 days

following receipt of the Notice of Intent to Sell.
 
(e)          The closing of any purchase and sale of the Offered Shares shall take place 60 days following receipt by the Company of the Notice of

Intent to Sell.
 
(f)          If the Company does not elect to purchase all of the Offered Shares within the period set forth in paragraph (d) hereof, no Shares may be

purchased by the Company, and the Grantee shall thereupon be free to dispose of such Shares to the Proposed Offeror(s) strictly in accordance with the terms of the Offer. If the
Offered Shares are not disposed of strictly in accordance with the terms of the Offer within a period of 120 days after the Grantee gives a Notice of Intent to Sell, such Shares
may not thereafter be sold without compliance with the provisions hereof.
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(g)          All certificates representing the Shares shall bear on the face or reverse side thereof the following legend:
 
“The shares represented by this certificate are subject to the provisions of the Stem Cell Assurance, Inc. 2010 Equity Participation Plan, a copy of
which is on file at the offices of the Company.”
 
(h)          The provisions of this Section 19 shall only take effect if expressly provided for in the particular Award Agreement, shall be of no force or

effect during such time that the Company is subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) thereof and shall be subject to the
provisions of any and all agreements hereafter entered into to which both the Company and any Grantee are parties that provide for a right of first refusal with respect to the
Disposition of Shares.

 
20.          Liquidation, Merger or Consolidation. Notwithstanding Section 13(a) hereof, if the Board of Directors approves a plan of complete liquidation or

a merger or consolidation (other than a merger or consolidation that would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to
represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity), at least 50% of the combined voting power of the voting
securities of the Company (or such surviving entity) outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation), the Committee may, in its sole discretion, upon written notice
to the holder of an Option, provide that the Option must be exercised within 20 days following the date of such notice or it will be terminated. In the event such notice is given,
the Option shall become immediately exercisable in full.

 
21.          “Market Stand-off”. No Grantee may, without the prior written consent of the managing underwriter, do any of the following during the period

commencing on the date of the final prospectus relating to the Company’s first underwritten public offering of its Common Stock under the Securities Act after the Adoption
Date (as hereinafter defined) (the “IPO”) and ending on the date specified by the Company and the managing underwriter (such period not to exceed 180 days in the case of the
IPO; provided, however, that if (a) during the last 17 days of the initial lock-up period, the Company releases earnings results or announces material news or a material event or
(b) prior to the expiration of the initial lock-up period, the Company announces that it will release earnings results during the 15-day period following the last day of the initial
lock-up period, then in each case the lock-up period will be automatically extended until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the date of release of the earnings
results or the announcement of the material news or material event, as applicable): (i) lend; offer; pledge; sell; contract to sell; sell any option or contract to purchase; purchase
any option or contract to sell; grant any option, right, or warrant to purchase; or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any of the Shares held immediately
before the effective date of the registration statement for such offering or (ii) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the
economic consequences of ownership of such securities, whether any such transaction described in clause (i) or (ii) above is to be settled by delivery of Common Stock or other
securities, in cash, or otherwise. The foregoing provisions of this Section 21 shall apply only to the IPO, shall not apply to the sale of any shares to an underwriter pursuant to
an underwriting agreement, and shall be applicable to the Grantees only if all officers, directors, and stockholders individually owning more than 5% of the Company’s
outstanding Common Stock are subject to the same restrictions. The underwriters in connection with such registration are intended third-party beneficiaries of this Section 21
and shall have the right, power, and authority to enforce the provisions hereof as though they were a party to the Award Agreement executed pursuant hereto. Each Grantee shall
execute such agreements as may be reasonably requested by the underwriters in connection with such registration that are consistent with this Section 21 or that are necessary
to give further effect thereto.
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22.          Effectiveness of the Plan. The Plan was adopted by the Board on November 17, 2010 (the “Adoption Date”). The Plan shall be subject to approval

on or before November 17, 2011, which is within one year of the Adoption Date, by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes of the outstanding shares of
capital stock of the Company present in person or represented by proxy at a meeting of stockholders and entitled to vote thereon (or in the case of action by written consent in
lieu of a meeting of stockholders, the number of votes required by applicable law to act in lieu of a meeting) (“Stockholder Approval”). In the event such Stockholder Approval
is withheld or otherwise not received on or before the latter date, the Plan and, unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, all Options, SARs, Restricted Stock and
rights to Bonus Shares that may have been granted hereunder shall become null and void.

 
23.          Termination, Modification and Amendment.

 
(a)          The Plan (but not Options previously granted under the Plan) shall terminate on November 17, 2020 (the “Termination Date”), which is

within ten years from the Adoption Date, or sooner as hereinafter provided, and no Stock Award shall be granted after termination of the Plan. The foregoing shall not be
deemed to limit the vesting period for Options, SARs, Restricted Stock or Stock Bonuses granted pursuant to the Plan.

 
(b)                    The Plan may from time to time be terminated, modified, or amended if Stockholder Approval of the termination, modification or

amendment is obtained.
 
(c)             Notwithstanding paragraph (b) hereof, the Board of Directors may at any time, on or before the Termination Date, without Stockholder

Approval, terminate the Plan, or from time to time make such modifications or amendments to the Plan as it may deem advisable; provided, however, that the Board of
Directors shall not, without Stockholder Approval, (i) increase (except as otherwise provided by Section 17 hereof) the maximum number of shares as to which Incentive Stock
Options may be granted hereunder, change the designation of the employees or class of employees eligible to receive Incentive Stock Options, or make any other change which
would prevent any Incentive Stock Option granted hereunder which is intended to be an “incentive stock option” from qualifying as such under the then existing provisions of
the Code or any law amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto or (ii) make any other modifications or amendments that require Stockholder Approval pursuant to applicable
law, regulation or exchange requirements, including, without limitation, Section 162(m) of the Code. In the event Stockholder Approval is not received within one year of
adoption by the Board of Directors of the change provided for in (i) or (ii) above, then, unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement (but subject to applicable law), the
change and all Stock Awards that may have been granted pursuant thereto shall be null and void.
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(d)          No termination, modification, or amendment of the Plan may, without the consent of the Grantee to whom any Stock Award shall have been

granted, adversely affect the rights conferred by such Stock Award.         
 
24.          Not a Contract of Employment. Nothing contained in the Plan or in any Award Agreement executed pursuant hereto shall be deemed to confer

upon any individual or entity to whom a Stock Award is or may be granted hereunder any right to remain in the employ or service of the Company or a parent or subsidiary of
the Company or any entitlement to any remuneration or other benefit pursuant to any consulting or advisory arrangement.

 
25.                   Use of Proceeds. The proceeds from the sale of shares pursuant to Stock Awards granted under the Plan shall constitute general funds of the

Company.
 
26.          Indemnification of Board of Directors or Committee. In addition to such other rights of indemnification as they may have, the members of the

Board of Directors or the Committee, as the case may be, shall be indemnified by the Company to the extent permitted under applicable law against all costs and expenses
reasonably incurred by them in connection with any action, suit, or proceeding to which they or any of them may be a party by reason of any action taken or failure to act under
or in connection with the Plan or any rights granted thereunder and against all amounts paid by them in settlement thereof or paid by them in satisfaction of a judgment of any
such action, suit or proceeding, except a judgment based upon a finding of bad faith. Upon the institution of any such action, suit, or proceeding, the member or members of the
Board of Directors or the Committee, as the case may be, shall notify the Company in writing, giving the Company an opportunity at its own cost to defend the same before
such member or members undertake to defend the same on his or their own behalf.

 
27.          Captions. The use of captions in the Plan is for convenience. The captions are not intended to provide substantive rights.
 
28.          Disqualifying Dispositions. If Common Stock acquired upon exercise of an Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan is disposed of within two

years following the date of grant of the Incentive Stock Option or one year following the issuance of the Common Stock to the Grantee, or is otherwise disposed of in a manner
that results in the Grantee being required to recognize ordinary income, rather than capital gain, from the disposition (a “Disqualifying Disposition”), the holder of the Common
Stock shall, immediately prior to such Disqualifying Disposition, notify the Company in writing of the date and terms of such Disqualifying Disposition and provide such other
information regarding the Disqualifying Disposition as the Company may reasonably require.
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29.          Withholding Taxes.

 
(a)          Whenever under the Plan shares of Common Stock are to be delivered to a Grantee upon exercise of a Nonstatutory Stock Option or to a

Grantee of Restricted Stock or a Stock Bonus, the Company shall be entitled to require as a condition of delivery that the Grantee remit or, at the discretion of the Committee,
agree to remit when due, an amount sufficient to satisfy all current or estimated future Federal, state and local income tax withholding requirements, including, without
limitation, the employee’s portion of any employment tax requirements relating thereto. At the time of a Disqualifying Disposition, the Grantee shall remit to the Company in
cash the amount of any applicable Federal, state and local income tax withholding and the employee’s portion of any employment taxes.

 
(b)          The Committee may, in its discretion, provide any or all holders of Nonstatutory Stock Options or Grantees of Restricted Stock or Stock

Bonus with the right to use shares of Common Stock in satisfaction of all or part of the withholding taxes to which such holders may become subject in connection with the
exercise of their Options or their receipt of Restricted Stock or Stock Bonus. Such right may be provided to any such holder in either or both of the following formats:

 
(i)                   The election to have the Company withhold, from the shares of Common Stock otherwise issuable upon the exercise of such

Nonstatutory Stock Option or otherwise deliverable as a result of the vesting of Restricted Stock or the satisfaction of the conditions, limitations and restrictions with respect to
a Stock Bonus, a portion of those shares with an aggregate fair market value equal to the percentage of the withholding taxes (not to exceed 100%) designated by the holder.

 
(ii)         The election to deliver to the Company, at the time the Nonstatutory Stock Option is exercised or Restricted Stock is granted or

vested or the conditions, limitations and restrictions are satisfied for a Stock Bonus, one or more shares of Common Stock previously acquired by such holder (other than in
connection with the Option exercise or Restricted Stock or Stock Bonus grant triggering the withholding taxes) with an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the percentage of
the withholding taxes (not to exceed 100%) designated by the holder.

 
30.          Section 409A of the Code. Although the Company does not guarantee the particular tax treatment of Stock Awards granted under the Plan, Stock

Awards made under the Plan are intended to comply with, or be exempt from, the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the Plan and any Award Agreement
hereunder shall be limited, construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent. To the extent that any Stock Award is subject to Section 409A of the Code, it shall be paid
in a manner that will comply with Section 409A of the Code, including proposed, temporary or final regulations or any other guidance issued by the Secretary of the Treasury
and the Internal Revenue Service with respect thereto. In no event whatsoever shall the Company or any of its affiliates be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalties that
may be imposed on a Grantee by Section 409A of the Code or any damages for failing to comply with Section 409A of the Code or this Section 30. Notwithstanding anything
in the Plan or in a Stock Award to the contrary, the following provisions shall apply to any Stock Award granted under the Plan that constitutes "non-qualified deferred
compensation" pursuant to Section 409A of the Code (a “409A Covered Award”):
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(a)          A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of a 409A Covered Award providing for

payment upon or following a termination of the Grantee’s employment unless such termination is also a "Separation from Service" within the meaning of Code Section 409A
and, for purposes of any such provision of a 409A Covered Award, references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall mean Separation from
Service. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the Plan or the Stock Award, if the Grantee is deemed on the date of the Grantee’s termination of service to be a
“specified employee” within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B) and using the identification methodology selected by the Company from time to time,
or if none, the default methodology set forth in Code Section 409A, then with regard to any such payment under a 409A Covered Award, to the extent required to be delayed in
compliance with Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), such payment shall not be made prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of the
Grantee’s Separation from Service, and (ii) the date of the Grantee’s death. All payments delayed pursuant to this Section 30 shall be paid to the Grantee on the first day of the
seventh month following the date of the Grantee’s Separation from Service or, if earlier, on the date of the Grantee’s death.

 
(b)                   Whenever a payment under a 409A Covered Award specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days, the actual date of

payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the Company.
 
(c)          If under a 409A Covered Award an amount is to be paid in two or more installments, for purposes of Code Section 409A, each installment

shall be treated as a separate payment.
 
31.                    Other Provisions. Each Stock Award under the Plan may contain such other terms and conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as may be

determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan shall include those terms and
conditions which are necessary to qualify the Incentive Stock Option as an “incentive stock option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code and the regulations
thereunder and shall not include any terms and conditions which are inconsistent therewith.

 
32.          Governing Law. The Plan shall be governed by, and all questions arising hereunder shall be determined in accordance with, the laws of the State of

Delaware, excluding choice of law principles thereof.
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Exhibit A

PERFORMANCE GOALS
 

Performance Goals for the purposes of the vesting of performance-based Stock Awards shall be based upon one or more of the following business criteria (which may
be determined for these purposes by reference to (i) the Company as a whole, (ii) any of the Company’s subsidiaries, operating divisions, regional business units or other
operating units, or (iii) any combination thereof): profit before taxes, stock price, market share, gross revenue, net revenue, pre-tax income, operating income, cash flow,
earnings per share, return on equity, return on invested capital or assets, cost reductions and savings, return on revenues or productivity, or any other business criteria the
Committee deems appropriate, which may be modified at the discretion of the Committee to take into account significant nonrecurring items, or an event or events either not
directly relating to the operations of the Company or not within the reasonable control of the Company’s management, or a change in accounting standards required by
generally accepted accounting principles, or which may be adjusted to reflect such costs or expenses as the Committee deems appropriate.

  

 

 



 
Exhibit 10.2

 
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

 
This EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of March 9, 2015, by and between BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC., a

Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and MARK WEINREB (the “Executive”). Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in Section 12.
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into an agreement which will set forth the terms and conditions upon which the Executive shall be
employed by the Company and upon which the Company shall compensate the Executive.

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are

hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 
1.          Employment. The Company will employ the Executive, and the Executive will provide employment services to the Company, upon the terms and conditions

set forth in this Agreement for the period ending as provided in Section 5 (the “Employment Period”).
 
2.          Employment At-Will. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, the Executive and the Company understand and agree that the Executive is an employee at-

will, and that the Executive may resign, or the Company may terminate the Executive’s employment, at any time and for any or for no reason, subject to the provisions of this
Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to alter the at-will nature of the Executive’s employment.

 
3.          Position and Duties. During the Employment Period, the Executive will serve in the position set forth on Schedule A attached hereto and will render such

managerial, analytical, administrative, financial and other executive services to, and shall have such responsibilities on behalf of, the Company and its Subsidiaries, as are from
time to time necessary in connection with the management and affairs of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case subject to the authority of the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”) to define and limit such executive services consistent with his position. The Executive will devote substantially all of his business time and attention
(except for permitted vacation periods and reasonable periods of illness or other incapacity) to the business and affairs of the Company and its Subsidiaries, provided that the
Executive will be permitted to (i) serve, with the prior written consent of the Board (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), as a member of the board of directors or
advisory board of charitable organizations, (ii) engage in charitable activities and community affairs, and (iii) manage his personal investments and affairs, except that the
Executive will limit the time devoted to the activities described in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) so as not to materially interfere, individually or in the aggregate, with the
performance of his duties and responsibilities hereunder. The Executive will perform his duties and responsibilities to the best of his abilities in a diligent, trustworthy,
businesslike and efficient manner. During the Employment Period, the Executive’s primary work location shall be the Company’s offices located at 40 Marcus Drive, Melville,
New York (the “Company Offices”) or such other location that is within fifty (50) miles of the Company Offices.
 

 



 

 
4.          Salary and Benefits.
 

(a)          Salary. During the Employment Period, the Company will pay the Executive a salary at the annual rate set forth on Schedule A attached hereto (as in
effect from time to time, the “Salary”) as compensation for his services. The Salary will be payable in regular installments in accordance with the general payroll practices of
the Company and its Subsidiaries and subject to applicable withholding requirements.

 
(b)                   Bonus. During the Employment Period, the Executive will be entitled to receive bonuses in the amount and upon and subject to the terms and

conditions set forth on Schedule A attached hereto. The cash Bonus payable for 2015 will be payable in regular installments in the same manner as the Salary is payable for
such year. Any and all cash Bonuses payable for any year commencing on or after January 1, 2016 will be payable by December 31 of the year for which the Bonus is payable,
except that, to the extent the amount of the Bonus is based upon the Company’s financial statements for a particular fiscal year, then such portion of the Bonus shall be payable
within fifteen (15) days following the date on which the audit report with respect to such financials is delivered to the Company.

 
(c)          Benefits. During the Employment Period, the Company will provide the Executive with medical, dental, life and long-term disability insurance and

other benefits under such plans as the Board may establish or maintain from time to time for similarly situated employees. Effective as of January 1, 2015, the Executive will be
entitled to the number of weeks of paid vacation each year set forth on Schedule A attached hereto. Effective as of January 1, 2015, to the extent that the Executive does not use
all the vacation time in any year, the unused vacation may not be carried over to the next year.

 
(d)          Reimbursement of Expenses.
 

(i)          During the Employment Period, the Company will reimburse the Executive for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by him in the
course of performing his duties that are consistent with the Company’s policies in effect from time to time with respect to travel, entertainment and other business expenses,
subject to the Company’s requirements with respect to reporting and documentation of such expenses. The Company agrees that travel and accommodation will be at the
business class level.

 
(ii)                 During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive a monthly automobile allowance in the amount set forth on

Schedule A attached hereto (the “Automobile Allowance”).
 

(e)          Computer; Cell Phone. During the Employment Period, the Company will provide to the Executive a laptop computer and cell phone for use by the
Executive in the performance of his duties and will pay, or reimburse the Executive for, all Internet charges and cell phone related charges. In the event of the termination of the
Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason other than by the Company for Cause, the Executive shall be entitled to retain the laptop computer and cell phone
for his personal use (subject to the deletion of all confidential and proprietary information contained therein).
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(f)          Insurance Premiums. During the Employment Period, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for all insurance premiums paid by him, or pay

directly to the insurance companies all insurance premiums payable by him, for disability insurance, long-term care insurance, and life insurance, up to the aggregate amount
per year set forth on Schedule A attached hereto (the “Insurance Reimbursement/Payment”).

 
(g)          Taxes. In the event the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”), in its sole discretion, determines to

grant to the Executive any shares of Common Stock of the Company, the Company agrees to pay any income tax liability, on behalf of the Employee, that may result from such
grant.

 
5.          Termination.
 

(a)          The Employment Period will continue until the earlier of: (i) the Executive’s resignation (A) for Good Reason or (B) for any other reason or for no
reason; (ii) the death or Disability of the Executive; (iii)  the giving of notice of termination by the Company (A) for Cause or (B) for any other reason or for no reason (a
termination described in this clause (iii)(B) being a termination by the Company “Without Cause”); or (iv) December 31, 2017 (the “Expiration Date”).

 
(b)          If, prior to a Change in Control, the Company terminates the Employment Period Without Cause or the Executive resigns during the Employment

Period for Good Reason, then, so long as the Executive continues to comply with his continuing obligations hereunder, the Executive will be entitled to receive each of the
following:

 
(i)          severance payments in an aggregate amount equal to one (1) time the sum of (A) his then annual Salary (but in no event shall such Salary

amount be less than the Per Annum Salary set forth on Schedule A) and (B) $100,000 (the “Pre-Change in Control Cash Severance Amount”);
 
(ii)                 (A) all accrued and unpaid Salary, (B) with respect to a termination of employment during 2015, all accrued and unpaid Bonus, (C) all

accrued and unused vacation time for the then-current annual period (with the right to vacation time being prorated for such period through the Termination
Date), (D) all unreimbursed business expenses (including the Automobile Allowance) incurred through the Termination Date and payable pursuant to Section
4(d) and (E) all Insurance Reimbursement/Payment amounts incurred through the Termination Date and payable pursuant to Section 4(f), which accrued and
unpaid Salary, Bonus, unused vacation, unreimbursed expenses (including Automobile Allowance) and Insurance Reimbursement/Payment amounts, if any,
shall be payable in a lump sum within fifteen (15) days after the Termination Date; and

 
(iii)        one (1) time the annual Automobile Allowance and Insurance Reimbursement/Payment, which amounts shall be payable over the twelve

(12) month period following the Termination Date in the same manner as paid prior to the Termination Date.
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The Executive shall also be entitled to any COBRA benefits to which the Executive is entitled by law. During the twelve (12) month period following the Termination Date, the
Company will reimburse the Executive for all COBRA premiums paid (the “COBRA Reimbursement”). Thereafter, COBRA benefits shall be at the Executive’s sole expense.
 

(c)          If, following a Change in Control, the Company terminates the Employment Period Without Cause or the Executive resigns during the Employment
Period for Good Reason, then, so long as the Executive continues to comply with his continuing obligations hereunder, the Executive will be entitled to receive each of the
following:

 
(i)          severance payments in an aggregate amount equal to one and one-half (1.5) times the sum of (A) his then annual Salary (but in no event

shall such Salary amount be less than the Per Annum Salary set forth on Schedule A and (B) $200,000 (together with the Pre-Change in Control Cash
Severance Amount, the “Cash Severance Amount”);

 
(ii)                 (A) all accrued and unpaid Salary, (B) with respect to a termination of employment during 2015, all accrued and unpaid Bonus, (C) all

accrued and unused vacation time for the then-current annual period (with the right to vacation time being prorated for such period through the Termination
Date), (D) all unreimbursed business expenses (including the Automobile Allowance) incurred through the Termination Date and payable pursuant to Section
4(d), and (E) all Insurance Reimbursement/Payment amounts incurred through the Termination Date and payable pursuant to Section 4(f), which accrued and
unpaid Salary, Bonus, unused vacation, unreimbursed expenses (including Automobile Allowance) and Insurance Reimbursement/Payment amounts, if any,
shall be payable in a lump sum within fifteen (15) days after the Termination Date; and

 
(iii)        one and one-half (1.5) times the annual Automobile Allowance and Insurance Reimbursement/Payment, which amounts shall be payable

over the eighteen (18) month period following the Termination Date in the same manner as paid prior to the Termination Date.
 

The Executive shall also be entitled to any COBRA benefits to which the Executive is entitled by law. During the eighteen (18) month period following the Termination Date,
the Executive will be entitled to receive the COBRA Reimbursement. Thereafter, COBRA benefits shall be at the Executive’s sole expense.
 

(d)                    In the event that the Executive’s employment with the Company is not terminated by the Company on or prior to the Expiration Date, and the
Executive does not resign his employment on or prior to the Expiration Date, and, on or prior to the Expiration Date, the Company and the Executive, for any reason, do not
enter into an agreement to extend the term of this Agreement (whether on modified terms or otherwise) or enter into a new employment agreement, then, if, within three (3)
months following the Expiration Date, the Company terminates the Executive’s employment without Cause or the Executive resigns for any reason, the provisions of Section
5(b) shall apply.
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(e)          If, whether prior to or following a Change in Control, the Employment Period terminates by reason of (i) the Company’s termination with Cause, (ii)

the Executive’s resignation without Good Reason, or (iii) the Executive’s death or Disability, then, subject to the provisions of Sections 5(d) and 7(c)(ii), the Executive (or his
estate in the case of his death) will be entitled to receive the amounts specified in clause (ii) of Section 5(b) or 5(c), as the case may be, as well as any COBRA benefits to
which the Executive is entitled by law (at the Executive’s sole expense).

 
(f)          The Cash Severance Amount will be paid in equal bi-weekly installments over the number of months following the Termination Date constituting the

Cash Severance Amount (i.e., either twelve (12) or eighteen (18) months) in accordance with the general payroll practices of the Company and subject to all applicable
withholding requirements; provided, however, that the payment of the Cash Severance Amount, the Automobile Allowance and Insurance Reimbursement/Payment pursuant to
Section 5(b)(iii) and 5(c)(iii) and the COBRA Reimbursement (collectively, the “Post-Termination Amount”) shall be conditioned upon the Executive (i) executing  and
delivering to the Company a general release of all past and present claims against the Company and its Subsidiaries substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Form of Release”), within twenty-two (22) days of the date the Company delivers such general release (the “Release”) to the Executive, and (ii) not exercising the Executive’s
revocation right during the period for revocation described in the Form of Release; provided, further, that, in the event of the Executive’s breach of this Agreement, then the
Company’s obligation to pay any Post-Termination Amount shall terminate and be of no further force or effect and the Executive shall be obligated to reimburse the Company
for all Post-Termination Amount payments previously made.  To the extent that any Post-Termination Amount payments are payable, they shall be made or commence on the
fortieth (40th) day following the Termination Date. The first Post-Termination Amount payment shall include all amounts that would have been paid following the Termination
Date had the Release been effective immediately following the Termination Date but which were not yet paid.

 
(g)          Upon the Termination Date, the Executive will be deemed to have resigned from each position (if any) that he then holds as an officer or director of

the Company or any Subsidiary, and the Executive will take any action that the Company or any Subsidiary may reasonably request in order to confirm or evidence such
resignation.

 
(h)                   Neither the termination or expiration of this Agreement nor the termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company, whether by the

Company or the Executive, whether for Cause or Without Cause, and whether voluntary or involuntary, shall affect the continuing operation and effect of Section 6 hereof,
which shall continue in full force and effect according to its terms. In addition, neither the termination or expiration of this Agreement nor the termination of the Executive’s
employment with the Company, whether by the Company or the Executive, whether for Cause or Without Cause, and whether voluntary or involuntary, will result in a
termination or waiver of any rights and remedies that the Company may have under this Agreement and applicable law.
 

5



 

 
(i)          In the event of the termination of this Agreement or the Executive’s employment, whether by the Company or the Executive, whether for Cause or

Without Cause, and whether voluntary or involuntary, except as expressly provided for herein, the Executive shall not be entitled to any further compensation or benefits.
 
(j)                   In connection with the determination as to whether the Executive may have a Disability, the Executive agrees to submit himself for appropriate

medical examination to a physician of the Board’s designation. The determination as to Disability shall be made in good faith by such selected physician.
 

6.          Restrictive Covenants.
 

(a)          The services of the Executive are unique and extraordinary and essential to the business of the Company, especially since the Executive shall have
access to the Company’s customer lists, trade secrets and other privileged and confidential information essential to the Company’s business. Therefore, the Executive agrees
that, as a material inducement to the Company’s execution of this Agreement, and a condition precedent to the Company’s payment obligations hereunder and its other
covenants herein, if the term of the Executive’s employment hereunder shall expire or the Executive’s employment shall at any time terminate for any reason whatsoever, with
Cause or Without Cause, for Good Reason or otherwise, during the Employment Period or otherwise, the Executive will not at any time within one (1) year after such
expiration or termination (the “Restrictive Covenant Period”), without the prior written approval of the Company, directly or indirectly, whether individually or as a principal,
officer, stockholder, equity participant, employee, partner, joint venturer, member, manager, director or agent of, or lender, consultant or independent contractor to, any Person,
or in any other capacity, other than on behalf of or for the benefit of the Company:

 
(i)          anywhere in the United States of America, engage or participate in a business which, as of such expiration or termination date, is similar to

or competitive with, directly or indirectly, that of the Company, and shall not make any investments in any such similar or competitive entity, except that the Executive may
acquire up to one percent (1%) of the outstanding voting stock of any entity whose securities are listed on a stock exchange or NASDAQ;

 
(ii)         cause or seek to persuade any director, officer, employee, customer, account, agent or supplier of, or consultant or independent contractor to,

the Company or others with whom the Company has had a business relationship (collectively, “Business Associates”) to discontinue or materially modify the status,
employment or relationship of such Business Associate with the Company, or to become employed in any activity similar to or competitive with the activities of the Company;

 
(iii)        cause or seek to persuade any prospective customer, account, supplier or other Business Associate of the Company (which at the date of

cessation of the Executive’s employment with the Company was then actively being solicited by the Company) to determine not to enter into a business relationship with the
Company or to materially modify its contemplated business relationship;
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(iv)        hire, retain or associate in a business relationship with, directly or indirectly, any director, officer or employee of the Company; or
 
(v)         solicit or cause or authorize to be solicited, for or on behalf of the Executive or any third party, any business from, or the entering into a

business relationship with, (a) others who are, or were within one (l) year prior to the cessation of the Executive’s employment with the Company, customers, accounts or other
Business Associates of the Company, or (b) any prospective customer, account or other Business Associate of the Company which at the date of such cessation was then
actively being solicited by the Company, to the extent that such business is related or similar to, or competitive with, directly or indirectly, the business of the Company.

 
The foregoing restrictions set forth in this Section 6 shall apply likewise during the Employment Period.

 
(b)          The Executive agrees that, while he is employed by the Company, he will offer or otherwise make known or available to the Company, as directed

by the Board and without additional compensation or consideration, any business prospects, contacts or other business opportunities that the Executive may discover, find,
develop or otherwise have available to the Executive in any field in which the Company is engaged, and further agrees that any such prospects, contacts or other business
opportunities shall be the property of the Company.

 
(c)          For purposes of this Section 6, the term “Company” shall mean and include the Company and any and all Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Company

in existence from time to time.
 
(d)          In connection with the Executive’s agreement to the restrictions set forth in this Section 6, the Executive acknowledges the benefits accorded to him

pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the agreement on the part of the Company to employ the Executive during the Employment Period
(subject to the terms and conditions hereof). The Executive also acknowledges and agrees that the covenants set forth in this Section 6 are reasonable and necessary in order to
protect and maintain the proprietary and other legitimate business interests of the Company and that the enforcement thereof would not prevent the Executive from earning a
livelihood.

 
(e)          In the event the Executive is entitled to receive a Cash Severance Amount, he shall be under no obligation to seek other employment to mitigate such

payment, and there shall be no offset against amounts, benefits or entitlements due the Executive by the Company pursuant to this Agreement on account of any remuneration
or benefits provided by any subsequent employment.

 
(f)                   The Executive’s obligations under Section 6(a) shall terminate in the event the Company materially defaults on its obligation to pay the Post-

Termination Amount to the Executive in accordance with the provisions hereof, and such default continues uncured for a period of forty-five (45) days following the date on
which the Company receives written notice of such default from the Executive.
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(g)          The provisions of the Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights Agreement, dated as the date hereof, between the Company and the Executive shall

continue in full force and effect notwithstanding the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
 

7.          Options. In the event that, during the Employment Period, the Board or the Compensation Committee determines, in its sole discretion, to grant one or more
stock options to the Executive pursuant to the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) or another stock option or equity plan of the Company, the stock option
agreement evidencing such stock option grant shall provide for the following:

 
(a)          a net exercise provision (as provided for in Section 13(b) of the Plan);
 
(b)          once the stock option vests, it shall remain exercisable until the expiration date of the option notwithstanding subsequent termination of employment

with the Company; and
 
(c)          any and all unvested stock options shall vest and become exercisable (i) in the event of a termination of employment Without Cause or for Good

Reason during the Employment Period (whether following a Change in Control or otherwise), or (ii) in the event that the Executive’s employment with the Company is not
terminated by the Company on or prior to the Expiration Date, and the Executive does not resign his employment on or prior to the Expiration Date, and, on or prior to the
Expiration Date, the Company and the Executive, for any reason, do not enter into an agreement to extend the term of this Agreement (whether on modified terms or otherwise)
or enter into a new employment agreement, and, within three (3) months following the Expiration Date, there is a termination of employment Without Cause or the Executive
resigns his employment for any reason.

 
8.          Deductions and Withholding. The Executive agrees that the Company shall withhold from any and all payments required to be made to the Executive pursuant

to this Agreement all federal, state, local and/or other taxes that are required to be withheld in accordance with applicable statutes and/or regulations from time to time in effect.
 
9.          Code Sections 409A, 280G and 4999.
 

(a)          The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (together with the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder, “Code Section 409A”), and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall
be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. To the extent that any provision hereof is modified in order to comply with Code Section 409A, such modification shall be made
in good faith and shall, to the maximum extent reasonably possible, maintain the original intent and economic benefit to the parties hereto of the applicable provision without
violating the provisions of Code Section 409A. In no event whatsoever shall the Company be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be imposed on the
Executive by Code Section 409A.
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(b)          A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of

any amounts or benefits constituting deferred compensation under Code Section 409A upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination of employment
is also a “separation from service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement, references to a termination of
employment or like terms shall mean “separation from service.” If the Executive is deemed on the date of termination to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that
term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is considered deferred compensation under Code Section 409A
payable on account of a “separation from service,” such payment or benefit shall be made or provided at the date which is the earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6) month
period measured from the date of such “separation from service” of the Executive, and (ii) the date of the Executive’s death (the “Delay Period”). Upon the expiration of the
Delay Period, all payments and benefits delayed pursuant to this Section 9(b) (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence
of such delay) shall be paid or reimbursed to the Executive in a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this Agreement shall be paid or provided in
accordance with the normal payment dates specified herein.

 
(c)          All expenses or other reimbursements under this Agreement shall be made on or prior to the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in

which such expenses were incurred by the Executive (provided that if any such reimbursements constitute taxable income to the Executive, such reimbursements shall be paid
no later than March 15th of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the expenses to be reimbursed were incurred), and no such reimbursement or expenses
eligible for reimbursement in any taxable year shall in any way affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other taxable year.

 
(d)          For purposes of Code Section 409A, the Executive’s right to receive any installment payments pursuant to this Agreement shall be treated as a right

to receive a series of separate and distinct payments. Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days (e.g., “payment
shall be made within sixty (60) days”), the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the Company.

 
(e)          In no event shall any payment under this Agreement that constitutes “deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A be offset by any

other payment pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise.
 
(f)          Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that any payments or benefits received or to be received by the

Executive in connection with the Executive’s employment with the Company (or termination thereof) would subject the Executive to the excise tax imposed under Section
280G or 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), and, if the net-after tax amount (taking into account all applicable taxes payable by the Executive, including any Excise Tax) that
the Executive would receive with respect to such payments or benefits does not exceed the net-after tax amount the Executive would receive if the amount of such payment and
benefits were reduced to the maximum amount which could otherwise be payable to the Executive without the imposition of the Excise Tax, then, to the extent necessary to
eliminate the imposition of the Excise Tax, (i) such cash payments and benefits shall first be reduced (if necessary, to zero) and (ii) all other non-cash payments and benefits
shall next be reduced. The determination of whether any reduction in such payments or benefits to be provided under this Agreement or otherwise is required pursuant to the
preceding sentence will be made at the expense of the Company by independent accountants or benefits consultants selected by the Company, and the Executive shall have the
right to review such determination.
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10.         Representations and Warranties. The Executive represents and warrants to the Company and its Subsidiaries that: (a) the Executive is not a party to or bound

by any employment, noncompete, nonsolicitation, or similar agreement with any other Person; (b) the Executive is not a party to or bound by any nondisclosure, confidentiality
or similar agreement with any other Person that would affect the Executive’s ability to perform his responsibilities on behalf of the Company; and (c) this Agreement constitutes
a valid and legally binding obligation of the Executive, enforceable against him in accordance with its terms. The Company represents that this Agreement constitutes a valid
and legally binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. All representations and warranties contained herein will survive the
execution and delivery of this Agreement.

 
11.                  Indemnification. The Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, indemnify and hold harmless the Executive from and against any

liability, damage, claim or expense incurred by him by reason of any act performed or omitted to be performed by the Executive in connection with the Executive’s
employment with, or services for, the Company, such indemnification to include, without limitation, the advance payment of attorneys fees and other expenses reasonably
incurred by the Executive in connection with defending, or otherwise resolving, any claim based on any such act or omission. Such advances shall be made within thirty (30)
days after the Executive’s presentation of an invoice for such expenses. The Executive shall also be covered under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies
maintained for officers or directors of the Company on no less favorable a basis than that applying to the Company’s officers and directors in general. The Executive’s coverage
under such policies shall continue during the Employment Period, and for not less than six (6) years thereafter, at the level then in effect for current officers and directors of the
Company and shall be provided by the Company at its expense.

 
12.         Certain Definitions. When used in this Agreement, the following terms will have the following meanings:
 
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more of its intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is

under common control with such Person.
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“Cause” means any one or more of the following: (i) in the reasonable judgment of the Board,  the Executive acts (including a failure to act) in a manner that

constitutes gross misconduct or gross negligence or that is otherwise materially injurious to the Company or its Subsidiaries; (ii) the Executive breaches any material term of
this Agreement; (iii) in the reasonable judgment of the Board, the Executive has committed an act of fraud or misappropriation, or other act of dishonesty or illegal business
practices relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, customers or suppliers; (iv) the Executive’s commission of any act which, if the Executive were convicted, would
constitute a felony, a crime of moral turpitude or a crime involving the illegal use of drugs, or the Executive’s entry of a plea of guilty or no contest thereto; (v) the Executive’s
willful failure or refusal to perform specific directives of the Board; (vi) any alcohol or other substance abuse on the part of the Executive; (vii) any excessive absence of the
Executive from his employment during normal working hours for reasons other than vacation or disability; (viii) the Executive’s breach of any other material obligation under
this Agreement; or (ix) any misrepresentation on the Employee’s part herein set forth. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any act or omission described in the above definition of
“Cause” is susceptible to cure (as determined in the reasonable discretion of the Board), the Executive shall have forty-five (45) days after notice from the Board to cure such
violation to the reasonable satisfaction of the Board; provided, however, that, once the Company has given the Executive a cure period with regard to any act or omission, the
Company shall not be required to give the Executive a cure period for any and all other acts or omissions. Any notice to the Executive of termination for “Cause” shall be in
writing and shall specify in reasonable detail the Executive’s acts or omissions that the Company considers to be “Cause.”

 
“Change in Control” means:
 

(a)          the consummation of a consolidation or merger of the Company, whether or not the Company is the continuing or surviving corporation, if, after
such merger or consolidation, the holders of the Common Stock of the Company immediately prior to the consolidation or merger hold less than 50% of the voting power of the
surviving entity (or the parent thereof); or

 
(b)          a sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company

(other than to one of its Subsidiaries);
 
(c)                    a change in the majority composition of the Board within a 24-month period unless the election or nomination for election by the Company’s

stockholders of each new director was approved by a vote of two-thirds of the directors then still in office who were in office at the beginning of the 24 month period;
 
(d)          any Person or group of Persons acting in concert and Affiliates thereof, acquires, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the outstanding shares of

voting stock of the Company; provided that this clause (d) shall not apply to an underwritten public offering of the Company’s securities.
 

“COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 as amended from time to time.
 
“Disability” has the meaning given to such term under the Company’s long-term disability insurance plan or, if no such plan exists, then “Disability” means that the

Executive is unable, due to illness, accident or other physical or mental incapacity, to perform substantially all of his duties and responsibilities (provided that, in any such case,
the Executive shall have satisfied such criteria for a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months).
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“Good Reason” means, without the Executive’s written consent, (i) the assignment to the Executive of duties inconsistent with the duties of a Chief Executive Officer,

except in the case of a Change in Control (provided that the Executive remains in a management position); (ii) a reduction in the Executive’s Salary, Bonus or other benefits,
except as part of a Company-wide reduction in compensation and/or benefits for employees (provided that the Executive’s reduction is consistent, on a proportional basis, with
the reductions imposed on all of the Company’s executive officers); (iii) the relocation of the Executive to an office more than fifty (50) miles from the Company Offices; (iv)
the Executive is removed or not appointed as a member of the Board; (v) the Company fails to acquire the assignment of this Agreement by acquiring Person in a Change in
Control transaction; or (vi) any other material breach by the Company of the provisions hereof.

 
“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, an association, a limited liability company, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an

unincorporated organization or any other entity (including any governmental entity or any department, agency or political subdivision thereof).
 
“Subsidiaries” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other business entity of which (i) if a

corporation, a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors thereof is at
the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one (1) or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof, or (ii) if a limited
liability company, partnership, association or other business entity, a majority of the partnership or other similar ownership interests thereof is at the time owned or controlled,
directly or indirectly, by any Person or one (1) or more Subsidiaries of such Person or entity or a combination thereof. For purposes hereof, a Person or Persons will be deemed
to have a majority ownership interest in a limited liability company, partnership, association or other business entity if such Person or Persons will be allocated a majority of
limited liability company, partnership, association or other business entity gains or losses or will be or control any managing director, managing member, or general partner of
such limited liability company, partnership, association or other business entity. Unless stated to the contrary, as used in this Agreement the term Subsidiary means a Subsidiary
of the Company.

 
“Termination Date” means the date on which the Employment Period ends pursuant to Section 5(a).
 
13.         Cooperation in Legal Matters. The Executive will cooperate with the Company and its Subsidiaries during the Employment Period and thereafter with respect

to any pending or threatened claim, action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (the “Claims”), by being reasonably available to testify
on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiaries, and to assist the Company and its Subsidiaries by providing information, meeting and consulting with the Company and its
Subsidiaries or their representatives or counsel, as reasonably requested. The Executive agrees not to disclose to or discuss with anyone who is not assisting the Company or
any Subsidiary with the Claims, other than the Executive’s personal attorney, the fact of or the subject matter of the Claims, except as required by law. The Executive further
agrees to maintain the confidences and privileges of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and acknowledges that any such confidences and privileges belong solely to the
Company and its Subsidiaries and can only be waived by the Company or any Subsidiary, not the Executive. In the event that the Executive is subpoenaed to testify, or
otherwise requested to provide information in any matter relating to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Executive agrees to promptly notify the Company after receipt of such
subpoena, summons or request for information, to reasonably cooperate with the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to such subpoena, summons or request for
information, and to not voluntarily provide any testimony or information unless required by law or permitted by the Company. The Company will reimburse the Executive for
all reasonable attorneys fees incurred in providing such testimony or information.
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14.         Miscellaneous.
 

(a)          Notices. All notices, demands or other communications to be given or delivered by reason of the provisions of this Agreement will be in writing and
will be deemed to have been given (i) on the date of personal delivery to the recipient or an officer of the recipient, (ii) when sent by telecopy or facsimile machine to the
number shown below on the date of such confirmed facsimile or telecopy transmission (provided that a confirming copy is sent via overnight mail), or (iii) when properly
deposited for delivery by a nationally recognized commercial overnight delivery service, prepaid, or by deposit in the United States mail, certified or registered mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested. Such notices, demands and other communications will be sent to each party at the address indicated for such party below:

 
if to the Executive, to:
 
9 Colgate Lane
Woodbury, New York 11797
 
if to the Company, to:
 
40 Marcus Drive, Suite One
Melville, New York 11747
Facsimile: (631) 760-8414
Attention: Vice President of Operations
 
with a copy, which will not constitute notice to the Company, to:
 
Certilman Balin Adler & Hyman, LLP
90 Merrick Avenue
East Meadow, New York 11554
Facsimile: (516) 296-7111
Attention: Fred Skolnik, Esq.
 

or to such other address or to the attention of such other person as the recipient party has specified by prior written notice to the sending party.
 

(b)          Consent to Amendments. No modification, amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be effective against any party hereto unless
such modification, amendment or waiver is approved in writing by such party. No other course of dealing among the Company, the Subsidiaries, and the Executive or any delay
in exercising any rights hereunder will operate as a waiver by any of the parties hereto of any rights hereunder.
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(c)          Assignability and Binding Effect. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Executive and his heirs, legal representatives,

executors, administrators or successors, and will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns. The Executive may not assign,
transfer, pledge, encumber, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of this Agreement, or any of his rights or obligations hereunder, and any such attempted assignment or disposition
shall be null and void and without effect.

 
(d)          Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable

law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision will be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or
invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of this Agreement.

 
(e)          Headings and Sections. The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and are in no way intended to describe, interpret, define, or

limit the scope, extent or intent of this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this Agreement to Sections,
Exhibits or Schedules will be deemed to mean and refer to Sections, Exhibits or Schedules of or to this Agreement.

 
(f)          Governing Law. All issues and questions concerning the application, construction, validity, interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement and any

exhibits and schedules to this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of law
or conflict of law rules or provisions that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.

 
(g)          Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY

RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF ACTION (I) ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR (II) IN ANY WAY
CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO IN RESPECT OF THIS AGREEMENT, IN EACH CASE
WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY, OR OTHERWISE. EACH PARTY TO THIS
AGREEMENT HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF ACTION WILL BE DECIDED BY COURT
TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY AND THAT THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT WITH
ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE PARTIES HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

 
(h)          Submission to Jurisdiction. ANY AND ALL SUITS, LEGAL ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE

BROUGHT IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK OR THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT IN THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND
EACH PARTY HEREBY SUBMITS TO AND ACCEPTS THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF SUCH SUITS, LEGAL
ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION
WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OR ANY SUCH SUIT, LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH COURT
AND HEREBY FURTHER WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT ANY SUIT, LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT
IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.
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(i)                    Service of Process. WITH RESPECT TO ANY AND ALL SUITS, LEGAL ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF THIS

AGREEMENT, EACH PARTY WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF ANY SUMMONS, COMPLAINT OR OTHER PROCESS AND AGREES THAT SERVICE THEREOF
MAY BE MADE BY ANY MEANS SPECIFIED FOR NOTICE PURSUANT TO SECTION 14(a).

 
(j)          Confidentiality. The parties agree that this Agreement and the Release (if and when executed) are confidential and each party agrees not to disclose

any information regarding the terms of this Agreement or the Release to any Person, except that the Company may disclose information regarding the terms of this Agreement
or the Release to its Affiliates and any lenders or as required by law or regulation or the rules of any stock exchange or market on which the Company’s securities are listed or
traded, and the Executive may disclose information regarding the terms of this Agreement or the Release to his immediate family. Each party may also disclose this information
to its tax, legal or other counsel. Each party shall instruct each of the foregoing not to disclose the same to anyone.

 
(k)          No Strict Construction. The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or

question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties hereto, and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring
or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

 
(l)          Entire Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, this Agreement and the other agreements referred to in this Agreement

embody the complete agreement and understanding among the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersede and preempt any
prior understandings, agreements, or representations by or among the parties or their predecessors, written or oral, that may have related to the subject matter of this Agreement
in any way, including the Employment Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2010, between the Company and the Executive, as amended. This Agreement will be deemed
effective on the date hereof upon the execution hereof.

 
(m)          Time. Whenever the last day for the exercise of any privilege or the discharge or any duty hereunder falls upon a day that is not a business day, the

party having such privilege or duty may exercise such privilege or discharge such duty on the next succeeding day that is a business day.
 
(n)          Certain Terms. The use of the word “including” herein means “including without limitation.” Any definitions used herein defined in the plural will

be deemed to include the singular as the context may require and any definitions used herein defined in the singular will be deemed to include the plural as the context may
require. References to “Dollars” or “$” are references to the lawful currency of the United States of America.

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Executive Employment Agreement as of the date first written above.
 

  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:      
  Name:  Mandy Clyde
  Title: Vice President of Operations
     
        
  Mark Weinreb

 

 



 

 
SCHEDULE A

 
Position:   President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
     
Per Annum Salary:   $400,000
     
Bonus:   2015: 50% of Per Annum Salary
     
    2016 and 2017: 50% of Per Annum Salary based upon the satisfaction of certain performance goals.   The performance

goals will be established during 2015 by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”)
based upon the level of achievement of the Company’s corporate goals and objectives for the calendar year with respect to
which the Bonus relates and the Executive’s individual performance (in each case, as reasonably determined by the
Compensation Committee).  The Compensation Committee will take into consideration the Executive’s input with respect
to the establishment of the Executive’s individual goals and objectives.    The Compensation Committee may, in its
discretion, award the Executive a Bonus in an amount greater than 50% of Per Annum Salary depending on the Executive’s
level of achievement of the performance targets.

     
Monthly Automobile    
Allowance:   $600
     
Annual Insurance    
Premium    
Reimbursement/Payment:   $30,000
     
Annual Vacation:   4 weeks
 

 



 

 
EXHIBIT A

 
GENERAL RELEASE

 
I, Mark Weinreb, in consideration of and subject to the performance by BioRestorative Therapies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), of its obligations

under the Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Company and myself, dated as of March 9, 2015 (as amended from time to time, the “Agreement”), do hereby
release and forever discharge as of the date hereof, (i) the Company and (ii) each of its subsidiaries, affiliates and predecessors (including, without limitation, and to the extent
that they could be liable in respect of their position with any of the foregoing, each of the present and former managers, directors, officers, direct or indirect equity holders,
agents, representatives, employees, subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors, successors, assigns, beneficiaries, heirs, executors, insurers, personal representatives, and attorneys of
the parties referenced in clauses (i) and (ii) above) (collectively, the “Released Parties”) to the extent provided below.

 
1.          I understand that any payments or benefits paid or granted to me under Section 5 of the Agreement represent, in part, consideration for signing this General

Release and are not salary, wages or benefits to which I was already entitled. I understand and agree that I will not receive the payments and benefits specified in Section 5(b)(i)
and (iii) or Section 5(c)(i) and (iii) of the Agreement, or the COBRA Reimbursement (as such term is defined in the Agreement), unless I execute this General Release and do
not revoke this General Release within the time period permitted hereafter or breach this General Release. I also acknowledge and represent that I have received all payments
and benefits the payment and provision of which were due to me, as of the date hereof, by virtue of any employment by the Company.

 
2.                   Except as provided in paragraph 4 below, I knowingly and voluntarily (for myself, my heirs, executors, administrators and assigns) release and forever

discharge the Released Parties from any and all claims, suits, controversies, actions, causes of action, cross-claims, counter-claims, demands, debts, compensatory damages,
liquidated damages, punitive or exemplary damages, other damages, claims for costs and attorneys’ fees, or liabilities of any nature whatsoever in law and in equity, both past
and present (through the date this General Release becomes effective and enforceable) and whether known or unknown, suspected, or claimed against any of the Released
Parties which I, my spouse, or any of my heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, may have, which arise out of or are connected with my employment with, or my separation
or termination from, the Company (including, but not limited to, any allegation, claim or violation, arising under: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; the
Civil Rights Act of 1991; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (including the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act); the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as
amended; the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990; the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993; the Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act; the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974; any applicable Executive Order Programs; the Fair Labor Standards Act; or their state or local counterparts; or under any other
federal, state or local civil or human rights law, or under any other federal, state or local law, regulation or ordinance; or under any public policy, contract or tort, or under
common law; or arising under any policies, practices or procedures of the Company or any of its affiliates; or any claim for wrongful discharge, breach of contract, infliction of
emotional distress or defamation; or any claim for costs, fees, or other expenses, including attorneys’ fees incurred in these matters) (all of the foregoing collectively referred to
herein as the “Claims”). Notwithstanding any other provision of this General Release to the contrary, this General Release does not encompass, and I do not release, waive or
discharge, the obligations of any of the Released Parties (a) to make the payments and provide the other benefits contemplated by the Agreement, (b) under any restricted stock
agreement, option agreement or other agreement pertaining to my equity ownership, or (c) under any indemnification or similar agreement with me.
 

 



 

 
3.          I represent that I have made no assignment or transfer of any right, claim, demand, cause of action, or other matter covered by paragraph 2 above.
 
4.          I agree that this General Release does not waive or release any rights or claims that I may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967

which arise after the date I execute this General Release. I acknowledge and agree that my separation from employment with the Company in compliance with the terms of the
Agreement shall not serve as the basis for any claim or action (including, without limitation, any claim under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967).

 
5.          In signing this General Release, I acknowledge and intend that it shall be effective as a bar to each and every one of the Claims hereinabove mentioned or

implied. I expressly consent that this General Release shall be given full force and effect according to each and all of its express terms and provisions, including those relating
to unknown and unsuspected Claims (notwithstanding any state statute that expressly limits the effectiveness of a general release of unknown, unsuspected and unanticipated
Claims), if any, as well as those relating to any other Claims hereinabove mentioned or implied. I acknowledge and agree that this waiver is an essential and material term of
this General Release and that without such waiver the Company would not have agreed to the terms of the Agreement. I further agree that in the event I should bring a Claim
seeking damages against any Released Party, or in the event I should seek to recover damages against any Released Party in any Claim brought by a governmental agency on
my behalf, this General Release shall serve as a complete defense to such Claims. I further agree that I have not filed and am not aware of any pending Claim as of the
execution of this General Release.

 
6.          I agree that neither this General Release, nor the furnishing of the consideration for this General Release, shall be deemed or construed at any time to be an

admission by the Company, any Released Party or myself of any improper or unlawful conduct.
 
7.          Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to preclude me from participating or cooperating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal

Employment Opportunity Commission or any other state or federal administrative agency. However, in the event that a charge or complaint is filed against the Released Parties,
or any of them, with any administrative agency or in the event of an authorized investigation, charge or lawsuit filed against the Released Parties, or any of them, by any
administrative agency, I expressly waive and shall not accept any award or damages therefrom.
 

 



 

 
8.          Notwithstanding anything in this General Release to the contrary, this General Release shall not relinquish, diminish, or in any way affect any of my rights or

claims arising out of any breach by the Company after the date hereof of the Agreement if and to the extent those rights, in each case by their specific terms, survive termination
of my employment with the Company.

 
9.          Whenever possible, each provision of this General Release shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any

provision of this General Release is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or any other jurisdiction, but this General Release shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. However, should paragraph 2 of this General Release be declared or determined by any tribunal,
administrative agency or court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or invalid, and should I thereupon seek to institute any claims that would have been within the scope of
paragraph 2, the Company shall be entitled to immediate repayment, and I shall immediately return, all of the severance payments that I have received, and the Company shall
not be obligated to make any further severance payments.

 
BY SIGNING THIS GENERAL RELEASE, I REPRESENT AND AGREE THAT:
 

10.         I HAVE READ IT CAREFULLY;
 
11.         I UNDERSTAND ALL OF ITS TERMS AND KNOW THAT I AM GIVING UP IMPORTANT RIGHTS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, RIGHTS

UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT OF 1967, AS AMENDED, TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964, AS AMENDED, THE
EQUAL PAY ACT OF 1963, THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990, AND THE EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS
AMENDED;

 
12.         I VOLUNTARILY CONSENT TO EVERYTHING IN IT;
 
13.         I HAVE BEEN ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY BEFORE EXECUTING IT AND I HAVE DONE SO OR, AFTER CAREFUL READING

AND CONSIDERATION I HAVE CHOSEN NOT TO DO SO OF MY OWN VOLITION;
 
14.         I HAVE BEEN ADVISED I HAVE TWENTY-ONE (21) CALENDAR DAYS TO REVIEW THIS GENERAL RELEASE;
 
15.         I AGREE THAT ANY MODIFICATIONS, MATERIAL OR OTHERWISE, MADE TO THIS GENERAL RELEASE DO NOT RESTART OR AFFECT IN

ANY MANNER THE ORIGINAL TWENTY-ONE (21) CALENDAR DAY CONSIDERATION PERIOD;
 
16.                  I UNDERSTAND THAT I HAVE SEVEN (7) DAYS AFTER THE EXECUTION OF THIS GENERAL RELEASE TO REVOKE IT AND THAT THIS

GENERAL RELEASE SHALL NOT BECOME EFFECTIVE OR ENFORCEABLE UNTIL THE REVOCATION PERIOD HAS EXPIRED;
 

 



 

 
17.         I HAVE SIGNED THIS GENERAL RELEASE KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY AND WITH THE ADVICE OF ANY COUNSEL RETAINED TO

ADVISE ME WITH RESPECT TO IT; AND
 
18.         I AGREE THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS GENERAL RELEASE MAY NOT BE AMENDED, WAIVED, CHANGED OR MODIFIED EXCEPT BY

AN INSTRUMENT IN WRITING SIGNED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE COMPANY AND BY ME.
 

DATE:    
     
     
Mark Weinreb  
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 10.20

 
BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.
40 Marcus Drive, Suite One
Melville, New York 11747

 
March 9, 2015

 
Mr. Francisco Silva
10 Flyers Lane
Tustin, California 92782
 
Dear Mr. Silva:
 

Reference is made to the Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2011, between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. (formerly
known as Stem Cell Assurance, Inc.) (the “Company”) and you (the “Employee”), as amended (the “Employment Agreement”).

 
The parties hereby agree that, effective as of January 1, 2015, (i) the “Per Annum Salary” in Schedule A of the Employment Agreement is amended to read as

follows: “Per Annum Salary: $250,000”; (ii) the Employee shall be entitled to receive an annual bonus of up to 20% of his Per Annum Salary based upon the satisfaction of
certain performance goals and that the performance goals for the year ended December 31, 2015, and the bonus amount payable with respect thereto, are as set forth on
Schedule A attached hereto; and (iii) the “Cash Severance Amount” in Schedule A of the Employment Agreement is amended to read as follows: “Cash Severance Amount:
Fifty percent (50%) of Per Annum Salary.”

 
Except as amended hereby, the Employment Agreement shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.

 
  Very truly yours,
     
  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:       
    Mark Weinreb, Chief Executive Officer
 
Agreed:
 
   
Francisco Silva  
 

 



 

 
SCHEDULE A

 
2015 Bonus Milestones:
 

· $7,500 in the event that, as a direct result of the Employee’s efforts, the Company has an article published by a peer-reviewed journal with regard to its brtxDISC™ or
ThermoStem® program (or any future Company program);

 
· $10,000 in the event, as a direct result of the Employee’s efforts, the Company enters into an agreement with an industrial strategic partner that, in the opinion of the

Company, considerably advances Company programs, it being understood that the Company may reject any and all proposed agreements with regard thereto for any
reason whatsoever;

 
· $7,500 in the event that, as a direct result of the Employee’s efforts, the Company enters into an agreement with respect to a collaborative relationship with an

academic or institute within the New York metropolitan area that, in the opinion of the Company, results in the advancement of the Company’s programs, it being
understood that the Company may reject any and all proposed agreements with regard thereto for any reason whatsoever;

 
· $25,000 in the event the Food and Drug Administration approves an IND application with regard to the commencement of a clinical trial for a Company program.
 

Any issue as to whether any of the foregoing conditions have been satisfied shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion.
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 10.58

 
BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.

40 Marcus Drive, Suite 1
Melville, New York 11747

 
February 11, 2015

 
Rohto Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd
1-8-1, Tatsumi-nishi, Ikuno-ku,
Osaka 544-8666, Japan
 
Gentlemen:

 
Reference is made to the Research and Development Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2014 (the “Agreement”), between BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.

(“BRT”) and Rohto Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Rohto”). All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Agreement.
 
The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Term of the Agreement currently expires on March 19, 2015 and that additional time is needed for BRT to deliver

the Final Report to Rohto.
 
Accordingly, the Parties hereby agree that Section 4.01 of the Agreement is amended to read as follows:
 
“4.01     Term.    This Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and, unless sooner terminated or extended as provided hereunder, shall end on June

19, 2015 (the "Term"). The Term and the scope of this Agreement may be extended and expanded by mutual written agreement.”
 
Except as amended hereby, the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.
 
This letter may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same

instrument.
 
This letter shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, excluding choice of law principles thereof.
 
Signatures hereon which are transmitted via facsimile or email shall be deemed original signatures.
 

  Very truly yours,
     
  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:  
    Mark Weinreb, Chief Executive Officer
 
Agreed:
 
ROHTO PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.
 
By:    
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 10.65

 
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT, made as of the 23rd day of October, 2014, between BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC., a Nevada corporation (the

“Company”), and MARK WEINREB (the “Optionee”).
 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Optionee serves as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of the Company; and

 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide to the Optionee an additional incentive to promote the success of the Company.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option to purchase shares of Common Stock of the

Company under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and upon and subject to the following terms and
conditions:

 
1.          GRANT OF OPTION. The Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option (the “Option”) to purchase up to Three Million (3,000,000) shares of

Common Stock of the Company (the “Option Shares”) during the following periods:
 

(a)          All or any part of One Million (1,000,000) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing at 12:01 A.M. on October 23,
2015 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on October 23, 2024 (the “Expiration Date”).

 
(b)          All or any part of One Million (1,000,000) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23,

2016 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 
(c)          All or any part of One Million (1,000,000) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23,

2017 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Optionee’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without “cause” (as such term is defined
in the Employment Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2010, between the Company and the Optionee, as amended (the “Employment Agreement”)) or by the Optionee for
“Good Reason” (as such term is defined in the Employment Agreement), or, in the event of a Change of Control (as such term is defined in the Employment Agreement), and,
on the date of termination of employment or any Change of Control, any portion of the Option is not exercisable, such unexercisable portion of the Option shall become
exercisable (an “Option Acceleration Event”).

 
2.          NATURE OF OPTION. The Option is not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, relating to

“incentive stock options”.
 

 



 

  
3.          EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price of each of the Option Shares shall be Thirty-Three Cents ($0.33) (the “Exercise Price”). The Company shall pay all

original issue or transfer taxes on the exercise of the Option.
 
4.          EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. (a) The Option shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. As soon as practicable after the receipt of notice

of exercise and payment of the Exercise Price as provided for in the Plan, the Company shall tender to the Optionee a certificate issued in the Optionee’s name evidencing the
number of Option Shares covered thereby.

 
(b)          The Company agrees that, as contemplated in Section 13(b) of the Plan, the Optionee may elect to have the Company reduce the number of Option

Shares otherwise issuable by a number of Option Shares having a Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) equal to the exercise price of the Option being exercised. In the
event of such election, the Company shall issue to the Optionee a number of Option Shares computed using the following formula:

 
            X = Y (A-B)

     A
     

Where X = the number of Option Shares to be issued to the Optionee
     

            Y = the number of Option Shares subject to this Option (or the portion thereof being cancelled)
     

            A = the Fair Market Value of one Option Share
     

            B = the Exercise Price
 
5.          TRANSFERABILITY. The Option shall not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and, during the Optionee’s lifetime,

shall not be exercisable by any person other than the Optionee.
 

6.                    TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. To the extent the Option becomes exercisable, the Option shall remain exercisable until the Expiration Date
notwithstanding any subsequent termination of employment with the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason whatsoever. In addition, in the event of an Option Acceleration
Event, the Option shall remain exercisable until the Expiration Date notwithstanding any termination of employment with the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason
whatsoever.

 
7.          INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. The terms and conditions of the Plan are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part hereof.
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8.          NOTICES. Any notice or other communication given hereunder shall be deemed sufficient if in writing and hand delivered or sent by registered or certified

mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Company, 555 Heritage Drive, Suite 132, Jupiter, Florida 33458, Attention: Vice President of Operations, and to the Optionee at
the address indicated below. Notices shall be deemed to have been given on the date of hand delivery or mailing, except notices of change of address, which shall be deemed to
have been given when received.

 
9.                    BINDING EFFECT. This Stock Option Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal

representatives, successors and assigns.
 

10.         ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Stock Option Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the
subject matter hereof and may be modified only by an instrument executed by the party sought to be charged.
 

11.                GOVERNING LAW. This Stock Option Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada, excluding
choice of law rules thereof.
 

12.         EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Stock Option Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but
both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 

13.         FACSIMILE SIGNATURES. Signatures hereon which are transmitted via facsimile, or other electronic image, shall be deemed original signatures.
 

14.         INTERPRETATION; HEADINGS. The provisions of this Stock Option Agreement shall be interpreted in a reasonable manner to give effect to the intent of
the parties hereto. The headings and captions under sections and paragraphs of this Stock Option Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not in any way
modify, interpret or construe the intent of the parties or affect any of the provisions of this Stock Option Agreement.

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Stock Option Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

 
  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:  
    Name: Mandy Clyde
    Title: Vice President of Operations
     
     
    Signature of Optionee
     
    Mark Weinreb
    Name of Optionee
     
     
    Address of Optionee
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Exhibit 10.66

 
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT, made as of the 23rd day of October, 2014, between BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC., a Nevada corporation (the

“Company”), and A. JEFFREY RADOV (the “Optionee”).
 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Optionee serves as a director of the Company; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide to the Optionee an additional incentive to promote the success of the Company.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option to purchase shares of Common Stock of the

Company under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and upon and subject to the following terms and
conditions:

 
1.          GRANT OF OPTION. The Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option (the “Option”) to purchase up to One Million (1,000,000) shares of

Common Stock of the Company (the “Option Shares”) during the following periods:
 

(a)          All or any part of Three Hundred Thirty-Three Thousand Three Hundred Thirty-Four (333,334) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during
the period commencing at 12:01 A.M. on October 23, 2015 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on October 23, 2024 (the “Expiration Date”).

 
(b)          All or any part of Three Hundred Thirty-Three Thousand Three Hundred Thirty-Three (333,333) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during

the period commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23, 2016 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 
(c)          All or any part of Three Hundred Thirty-Three Thousand Three Hundred Thirty-Three (333,333) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during

the period commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23, 2017 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 

2.          NATURE OF OPTION. The Option is not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, relating to
“incentive stock options”.

 
3.          EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price of each of the Option Shares shall be Thirty-Three Cents ($0.33) (the “Exercise Price”). The Company shall pay all

original issue or transfer taxes on the exercise of the Option.
 

 



 

 
4.          EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. (a) The Option shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. As soon as practicable after the receipt of notice

of exercise and payment of the Exercise Price as provided for in the Plan, the Company shall tender to the Optionee a certificate issued in the Optionee’s name evidencing the
number of Option Shares covered thereby.

 
(b)          The Company agrees that, as contemplated in Section 13(b) of the Plan, the Optionee may elect to have the Company reduce the number of Option

Shares otherwise issuable by a number of Option Shares having a Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) equal to the exercise price of the Option being exercised. In the
event of such election, the Company shall issue to the Optionee a number of Option Shares computed using the following formula:

 
X = Y (A-B)
     A
     

Where X = the number of Option Shares to be issued to the Optionee
     

Y = the number of Option Shares subject to this Option (or the portion thereof being cancelled)
     

A = the Fair Market Value of one Option Share
     

B = the Exercise Price
 
5.          TRANSFERABILITY. The Option shall not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and, during the Optionee’s lifetime,

shall not be exercisable by any person other than the Optionee.
 
6.                   TERMINATION OF DIRECTORSHIP. To the extent the Option becomes exercisable, the Option shall remain exercisable until twelve (12) months

following any subsequent termination of directorship with the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason whatsoever but in no event shall the Option be exercisable after the
Expiration Date.

 
7.          INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. The terms and conditions of the Plan are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part hereof.
 
8.          NOTICES. Any notice or other communication given hereunder shall be deemed sufficient if in writing and hand delivered or sent by registered or certified

mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Company, 555 Heritage Drive, Suite 132, Jupiter, Florida 33458, Attention: Chief Executive Officer, and to the Optionee at the
address indicated below. Notices shall be deemed to have been given on the date of hand delivery or mailing, except notices of change of address, which shall be deemed to
have been given when received.

 
9.                    BINDING EFFECT. This Stock Option Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal

representatives, successors and assigns.
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10.         ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Stock Option Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the

subject matter hereof and may be modified only by an instrument executed by the party sought to be charged.
 
11.                GOVERNING LAW. This Stock Option Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada, excluding

choice of law rules thereof.
 
12.         EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Stock Option Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but

both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
13.         FACSIMILE SIGNATURES. Signatures hereon which are transmitted via facsimile, or other electronic image, shall be deemed original signatures.
 
14.         INTERPRETATION; HEADINGS. The provisions of this Stock Option Agreement shall be interpreted in a reasonable manner to give effect to the intent of

the parties hereto. The headings and captions under sections and paragraphs of this Stock Option Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not in any way
modify, interpret or construe the intent of the parties or affect any of the provisions of this Stock Option Agreement.

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Stock Option Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
 

  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:      
    Name: Mark Weinreb
    Title: Chief Executive Officer
     
     
    Signature of Optionee
     
    A. Jeffrey Radov
    Name of Optionee
     
     
    Address of Optionee
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Exhibit 10.67

 
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT, made as of the 23rd day of October, 2014, between BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC., a Nevada corporation (the

“Company”), and FRANCISCO SILVA (the “Optionee”).
 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Optionee is an employee of the Company or a parent or subsidiary thereof; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide to the Optionee an additional incentive to promote the success of the Company.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option to purchase shares of Common Stock of the

Company under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and upon and subject to the following terms and
conditions:

 
1.          GRANT OF OPTION. The Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option (the “Option”) to purchase up to Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand

(750,000) shares of Common Stock of the Company (the “Option Shares”) during the following periods:
 

(a)          All or any part of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand (250,000) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing at 12:01 A.M.
on October 23, 2015 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on October 23, 2024 (the “Expiration Date”).

 
(b)          All or any part of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand (250,000) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing at 12:01 A.M

on October 23, 2016 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 
(c)          All or any part of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand (250,000) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing at 12:01 A.M

on October 23, 2017 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 

2.          NATURE OF OPTION. The Option is not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, relating to
“incentive stock options”.

 
3.          EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price of each of the Option Shares shall be Thirty-Three Cents ($0.33) (the “Exercise Price”). The Company shall pay all

original issue or transfer taxes on the exercise of the Option.
 
4.          EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. (a) The Option shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. As soon as practicable after the receipt of notice

of exercise and payment of the Exercise Price as provided for in the Plan, the Company shall tender to the Optionee a certificate issued in the Optionee’s name evidencing the
number of Option Shares covered thereby.
 

 



 

 
(b)          The Company agrees that, as contemplated in Section 13(b) of the Plan, the Optionee may elect to have the Company reduce the number of Option

Shares otherwise issuable by a number of Option Shares having a Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) equal to the exercise price of the Option being exercised. In the
event of such election, the Company shall issue to the Optionee a number of Option Shares computed using the following formula:

 
X = Y (A-B)
     A
     

Where X = the number of Option Shares to be issued to the Optionee
     

Y = the number of Option Shares subject to this Option (or the portion thereof being cancelled)
     

A = the Fair Market Value of one Option Share
     

B = the Exercise Price
 
5.          TRANSFERABILITY. The Option shall not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and, during the Optionee’s lifetime,

shall not be exercisable by any person other than the Optionee.
 
6.                    TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. To the extent the Option becomes exercisable, the Option shall remain exercisable until twelve (12) months

following any subsequent termination of employment with the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason whatsoever but in no event shall the Option be exercisable after the
Expiration Date.

 
7.          INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. The terms and conditions of the Plan are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part hereof.
 
8.          NOTICES. Any notice or other communication given hereunder shall be deemed sufficient if in writing and hand delivered or sent by registered or certified

mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Company, 555 Heritage Drive, Suite 132, Jupiter, Florida 33458, Attention: Chief Executive Officer, and to the Optionee at the
address indicated below. Notices shall be deemed to have been given on the date of hand delivery or mailing, except notices of change of address, which shall be deemed to
have been given when received.

 
9.                    BINDING EFFECT. This Stock Option Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal

representatives, successors and assigns.
 

2



 

 
10.         ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Stock Option Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the

subject matter hereof and may be modified only by an instrument executed by the party sought to be charged.
 
11.                GOVERNING LAW. This Stock Option Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada, excluding

choice of law rules thereof.
 
12.         EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Stock Option Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but

both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
13.         FACSIMILE SIGNATURES. Signatures hereon which are transmitted via facsimile, or other electronic image, shall be deemed original signatures.
 
14.         INTERPRETATION; HEADINGS. The provisions of this Stock Option Agreement shall be interpreted in a reasonable manner to give effect to the intent of

the parties hereto. The headings and captions under sections and paragraphs of this Stock Option Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not in any way
modify, interpret or construe the intent of the parties or affect any of the provisions of this Stock Option Agreement.

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]

 

3



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Stock Option Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

 
  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:   
    Name: Mark Weinreb
    Title: Chief Executive Officer
     
     
    Signature of Optionee
     
    Francisco Silva
    Name of Optionee
     
     
    Address of Optionee
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Exhibit 10.68

 
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT, made as of the 23rd day of October, 2014, between BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC., a Nevada corporation (the

“Company”), and MANDY D. CLYDE (the “Optionee”).
___________________

 
WHEREAS, the Optionee is an employee of the Company or a parent or subsidiary thereof; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide to the Optionee an additional incentive to promote the success of the Company.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option to purchase shares of Common Stock of the

Company under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and upon and subject to the following terms and
conditions:

 
1.          GRANT OF OPTION. The Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option (the “Option”) to purchase up to Two Hundred Thousand (200,000)

shares of Common Stock of the Company (the “Option Shares”) during the following periods:
 

(a)          All or any part of Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven (66,667) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing
at 12:01 A.M. on October 23, 2015 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on October 23, 2024 (the “Expiration Date”).

 
(b)          All or any part of Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven (66,667) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing

at 12:01 A.M on October 23, 2016 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 
(c)          All or any part of Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Six (66,666) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period commencing at

12:01 A.M on October 23, 2017 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 
2.          NATURE OF OPTION. The Option is not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, relating to

“incentive stock options”.
 
3.          EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price of each of the Option Shares shall be Thirty-Three Cents ($0.33) (the “Exercise Price”). The Company shall pay all

original issue or transfer taxes on the exercise of the Option.
 
4.          EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. (a) The Option shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. As soon as practicable after the receipt of notice

of exercise and payment of the Exercise Price as provided for in the Plan, the Company shall tender to the Optionee a certificate issued in the Optionee’s name evidencing the
number of Option Shares covered thereby.

 

 



 

  
(b)          The Company agrees that, as contemplated in Section 13(b) of the Plan, the Optionee may elect to have the Company reduce the number of Option

Shares otherwise issuable by a number of Option Shares having a Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) equal to the exercise price of the Option being exercised. In the
event of such election, the Company shall issue to the Optionee a number of Option Shares computed using the following formula:

 
X = Y (A-B)
     A
     

Where X = the number of Option Shares to be issued to the Optionee
     

Y = the number of Option Shares subject to this Option (or the portion thereof being cancelled)
     

A = the Fair Market Value of one Option Share
     

B = the Exercise Price
 
5.          TRANSFERABILITY. The Option shall not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and, during the Optionee’s lifetime,

shall not be exercisable by any person other than the Optionee.
 
6.                    TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. To the extent the Option becomes exercisable, the Option shall remain exercisable until twelve (12) months

following any subsequent termination of employment with the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason whatsoever but in no event shall the Option be exercisable after the
Expiration Date.

 
7.          INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. The terms and conditions of the Plan are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part hereof.

 
8.          NOTICES. Any notice or other communication given hereunder shall be deemed sufficient if in writing and hand delivered or sent by registered or certified

mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Company, 555 Heritage Drive, Suite 132, Jupiter, Florida 33458, Attention: Chief Executive Officer, and to the Optionee at the
address indicated below. Notices shall be deemed to have been given on the date of hand delivery or mailing, except notices of change of address, which shall be deemed to
have been given when received.

 
9.                    BINDING EFFECT. This Stock Option Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal

representatives, successors and assigns.
 

2



 

  
10.         ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Stock Option Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the

subject matter hereof and may be modified only by an instrument executed by the party sought to be charged.
 
11.                GOVERNING LAW. This Stock Option Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada, excluding

choice of law rules thereof.
 
12.         EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Stock Option Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but

both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
13.         FACSIMILE SIGNATURES. Signatures hereon which are transmitted via facsimile, or other electronic image, shall be deemed original signatures.
 
14.         INTERPRETATION; HEADINGS. The provisions of this Stock Option Agreement shall be interpreted in a reasonable manner to give effect to the intent of

the parties hereto. The headings and captions under sections and paragraphs of this Stock Option Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not in any way
modify, interpret or construe the intent of the parties or affect any of the provisions of this Stock Option Agreement.

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Stock Option Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

 
  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:   
    Name: Mark Weinreb
    Title: Chief Executive Officer
     
     
    Signature of Optionee
     
    Mandy D. Clyde
    Name of Optionee
     
     
    Address of Optionee
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Exhibit 10.69

 
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT, made as of the 23rd day of October, 2014, between BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC., a Nevada corporation (the

“Company”), and JOSEPH B. SWIADER (the “Optionee”).
 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Optionee serves as a director of the Company; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide to the Optionee an additional incentive to promote the success of the Company.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option to purchase shares of Common Stock of the

Company under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and upon and subject to the following terms and
conditions:

 
1.          GRANT OF OPTION. The Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option (the “Option”) to purchase up to Five Hundred Thousand (500,000)

shares of Common Stock of the Company (the “Option Shares”) during the following periods:
 

(a)          All or any part of One Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven (166,667) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the
period commencing at 12:01 A.M. on October 23, 2015 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on October 23, 2024 (the “Expiration Date”).

 
(b)          All or any part of One Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven (166,667) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the

period commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23, 2016 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 
(c)          All or any part of One Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Six (166,666) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period

commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23, 2017 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 

2.          NATURE OF OPTION. The Option is not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, relating to
“incentive stock options”.

 
3.          EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price of each of the Option Shares shall be Thirty-Three Cents ($0.33) (the “Exercise Price”). The Company shall pay all

original issue or transfer taxes on the exercise of the Option.
 
4.          EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. (a) The Option shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. As soon as practicable after the receipt of notice

of exercise and payment of the Exercise Price as provided for in the Plan, the Company shall tender to the Optionee a certificate issued in the Optionee’s name evidencing the
number of Option Shares covered thereby.
 

 



 

 
(b)          The Company agrees that, as contemplated in Section 13(b) of the Plan, the Optionee may elect to have the Company reduce the number of Option

Shares otherwise issuable by a number of Option Shares having a Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) equal to the exercise price of the Option being exercised. In the
event of such election, the Company shall issue to the Optionee a number of Option Shares computed using the following formula:

 
X = Y (A-B)
     A
     

Where X = the number of Option Shares to be issued to the Optionee
     

Y = the number of Option Shares subject to this Option (or the portion thereof being cancelled)
     

A = the Fair Market Value of one Option Share
     

B = the Exercise Price
 
5.          TRANSFERABILITY. The Option shall not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and, during the Optionee’s lifetime,

shall not be exercisable by any person other than the Optionee.
 
6.                   TERMINATION OF DIRECTORSHIP. To the extent the Option becomes exercisable, the Option shall remain exercisable until twelve (12) months

following any subsequent termination of directorship with the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason whatsoever but in no event shall the Option be exercisable after the
Expiration Date.

 
7.          INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. The terms and conditions of the Plan are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part hereof.
 
8.          NOTICES. Any notice or other communication given hereunder shall be deemed sufficient if in writing and hand delivered or sent by registered or certified

mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Company, 555 Heritage Drive, Suite 132, Jupiter, Florida 33458, Attention: Chief Executive Officer, and to the Optionee at the
address indicated below. Notices shall be deemed to have been given on the date of hand delivery or mailing, except notices of change of address, which shall be deemed to
have been given when received.

 
9.                    BINDING EFFECT. This Stock Option Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal

representatives, successors and assigns.
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10.         ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Stock Option Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the

subject matter hereof and may be modified only by an instrument executed by the party sought to be charged.
 
11.                GOVERNING LAW. This Stock Option Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada, excluding

choice of law rules thereof.
 
12.         EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Stock Option Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but

both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
13.         FACSIMILE SIGNATURES. Signatures hereon which are transmitted via facsimile, or other electronic image, shall be deemed original signatures.
 
14.         INTERPRETATION; HEADINGS. The provisions of this Stock Option Agreement shall be interpreted in a reasonable manner to give effect to the intent of

the parties hereto. The headings and captions under sections and paragraphs of this Stock Option Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not in any way
modify, interpret or construe the intent of the parties or affect any of the provisions of this Stock Option Agreement.

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Stock Option Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
 

  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:     
    Name: Mark Weinreb
    Title: Chief Executive Officer
     
     
    Signature of Optionee
     
    Joseph B. Swiader
    Name of Optionee
     
     
    Address of Optionee
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Exhibit 10.70

 
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT, made as of the 23rd day of October, 2014, between BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC., a Nevada corporation (the

“Company”), and PAUL JUDE TONNA (the “Optionee”).
 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Optionee serves as a director of the Company; and
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide to the Optionee an additional incentive to promote the success of the Company.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option to purchase shares of Common Stock of the

Company under and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2010 Equity Participation Plan (the “Plan”) and upon and subject to the following terms and
conditions:

 
1.          GRANT OF OPTION. The Company hereby grants to the Optionee the right and option (the “Option”) to purchase up to Five Hundred Thousand (500,000)

shares of Common Stock of the Company (the “Option Shares”) during the following periods:
 

(a)          All or any part of One Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven (166,667) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the
period commencing at 12:01 A.M. on October 23, 2015 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on October 23, 2024 (the “Expiration Date”).

 
(b)          All or any part of One Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven (166,667) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the

period commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23, 2016 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 
(c)          All or any part of One Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Six (166,666) shares of Common Stock may be purchased during the period

commencing at 12:01 A.M on October 23, 2017 and terminating at 5:00 P.M. on the Expiration Date.
 

2.          NATURE OF OPTION. The Option is not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, relating to
“incentive stock options”.

 
3.          EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price of each of the Option Shares shall be Thirty-Three Cents ($0.33) (the “Exercise Price”). The Company shall pay all

original issue or transfer taxes on the exercise of the Option.
 
4.          EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. (a) The Option shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. As soon as practicable after the receipt of notice

of exercise and payment of the Exercise Price as provided for in the Plan, the Company shall tender to the Optionee a certificate issued in the Optionee’s name evidencing the
number of Option Shares covered thereby.
 

 



 

 
(b)          The Company agrees that, as contemplated in Section 13(b) of the Plan, the Optionee may elect to have the Company reduce the number of Option

Shares otherwise issuable by a number of Option Shares having a Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) equal to the exercise price of the Option being exercised. In the
event of such election, the Company shall issue to the Optionee a number of Option Shares computed using the following formula:

 
X = Y (A-B)
     A
     

Where X = the number of Option Shares to be issued to the Optionee
     

Y = the number of Option Shares subject to this Option (or the portion thereof being cancelled)
     

A = the Fair Market Value of one Option Share
     

B = the Exercise Price
 
5.          TRANSFERABILITY. The Option shall not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and, during the Optionee’s lifetime,

shall not be exercisable by any person other than the Optionee.
 
6.                   TERMINATION OF DIRECTORSHIP. To the extent the Option becomes exercisable, the Option shall remain exercisable until twelve (12) months

following any subsequent termination of directorship with the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason whatsoever but in no event shall the Option be exercisable after the
Expiration Date.

 
7.          INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. The terms and conditions of the Plan are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part hereof.
 
8.          NOTICES. Any notice or other communication given hereunder shall be deemed sufficient if in writing and hand delivered or sent by registered or certified

mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Company, 555 Heritage Drive, Suite 132, Jupiter, Florida 33458, Attention: Chief Executive Officer, and to the Optionee at the
address indicated below. Notices shall be deemed to have been given on the date of hand delivery or mailing, except notices of change of address, which shall be deemed to
have been given when received.

 
9.                    BINDING EFFECT. This Stock Option Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal

representatives, successors and assigns.
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10.         ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Stock Option Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the

subject matter hereof and may be modified only by an instrument executed by the party sought to be charged.
 
11.                GOVERNING LAW. This Stock Option Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada, excluding

choice of law rules thereof.
 
12.         EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Stock Option Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but

both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
13.         FACSIMILE SIGNATURES. Signatures hereon which are transmitted via facsimile, or other electronic image, shall be deemed original signatures.
 
14.         INTERPRETATION; HEADINGS. The provisions of this Stock Option Agreement shall be interpreted in a reasonable manner to give effect to the intent of

the parties hereto. The headings and captions under sections and paragraphs of this Stock Option Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not in any way
modify, interpret or construe the intent of the parties or affect any of the provisions of this Stock Option Agreement.

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]

 

3



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Stock Option Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
 

  BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.
     
  By:  
    Name: Mark Weinreb
    Title: Chief Executive Officer
     
     
    Signature of Optionee
     
    Paul Jude Tonna
    Name of Optionee
     
     
    Address of Optionee
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Exhibit 10.71

 
December 31, 2014

 
Stem Cell Cayman Ltd.
c/o Campbells
4th Floor, Scotia Centre
Albert Panton Street
George Town, Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands
 
Gentlemen:
 

Reference is made to the Subscription Agreements, dated February 10, 2011, November 4, 2011, March 30, 2012 and March 26, 2013 (the “Agreements”), by
and among Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. (“Cayman”), BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. (formerly Stem Cell Assurance, Inc.) (“BioRestorative”) and Westbury (Bermuda) Ltd. (the
“Lender”) with respect to loans made by the Lender to Cayman in the amounts of $1,050,000, $1,000,000, $1,500,000 and $450,000, respectively (the “Principal Amounts”),
evidenced by Promissory Notes, dated February 10, 2011, November 4, 2011, March 30, 2012 and March 27, 2013, as amended, in the respective Principal Amounts (the
“Notes”), which provide, as amended, that the respective Principal Amounts are payable on December 31, 2014 (the “Maturity Date”).
 

The Lender agrees that Cayman and BioRestorative have performed all of their obligations under the Agreements and the Notes, and the Lender waives any
and all defaults by Cayman and BioRestorative thereunder.
 

The parties agree that the Notes are hereby amended such that the Maturity Date for the payment of the respective Principal Amounts shall be June 30, 2015.
No interest shall be payable on the Notes.

 
In consideration of the foregoing, BioRestorative hereby agrees to issue to the Lender four hundred fifty thousand (450,000) shares of common stock of

BioRestorative (the “BioRestorative Shares”). The Lender hereby confirms that the representations and warranties made by it in the Agreements shall apply with equal force
and effect to the BioRestorative Shares.

 
Each Note may only be amended further by a writing executed by Cayman and the Lender.
 
Except as modified herein, each Note shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.
 

  Very truly yours,
     
  WESTBURY (BERMUDA) LTD.
     
  By:          
  Name:    
  Title:    

 

 



 

 
Agreed:  
   
STEM CELL CAYMAN LTD.  
     
By:                       
Name:    
Title:    
     
BIORESTORATIVE THERAPIES, INC.  
     
By:    
Name:    
Title:    
 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 
Exhibit 21

 
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

 
Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incorporation/Organization
   
Stem Cell Cayman Ltd. Cayman Islands
Stem Pearls, LLC New York
  

 



 
Exhibit 23.1

 
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form S-8 (File No. 333-196299) of our report
dated March 31, 2015, which includes an explanatory   paragraph as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, with respect to our audits of the consolidated
financial statements of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the years then ended, which report is included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014.
 
/s/ Marcum llp

 
Marcum llp

New York, NY
March 31, 2015
 

 

 
 



 
Exhibit 31.1

 
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

 
I, Mark Weinreb, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 



 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 

Date: March 31, 2015 /s/ Mark Weinreb
  Mark Weinreb
  Principal Executive Officer
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

 
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

 
I, Mark Weinreb, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc.
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 



 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 

Date: March 31, 2015 /s/ Mark Weinreb
  Mark Weinreb
  Principal Financial Officer
 

 

 



  
Exhibit 32

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

 
AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

 
PURSUANT TO

 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of BioRestorative Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies that the Company’s Annual Report on Form

10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Dated:  March 31, 2015  

  /s/ Mark Weinreb
  Mark Weinreb
  Principal Executive Officer and
  Principal Financial Officer

 
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.
 

 

 


